

Vanguard Digital Advisor® and Vanguard Personal Advisor™ Important Information

Documents Included:

- 1. Vanguard Advisers, Inc. Client Relationship Summary (Form CRS) For retail account holders only
- 2. Vanguard Digital Advisor and Vanguard Personal Advisor Brochure & Supplement (Form ADV Parts 2A & 2B) For all eligible Digital Advisor and Personal Advisor account holders (retail brokerage and participants in certain employer-sponsored retirement plans)



Advisor Client Relationship Summary (Form CRS)

September 3, 2024

Vanguard Advisers, Inc. (VAI)

Registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) as an Investment Adviser.

The services provided by an investment advisor and other financial services providers, like a broker-dealer, will differ, as well as the fees charged by such providers. It's important to understand who can provide you with the level of financial services and investment support you need at a price reasonable to you. The SEC makes free and simple tools and educational materials available to research firms and financial professionals at investor.gov/CRS.

What investment services and advice can you provide me?

We offer several types of investment advisory services to retail investors: robo discretionary, hybrid discretionary, and hybrid non-discretionary. Each program is explained in more detail below and will vary in cost, account minimums, features, and access to financial advisors. All options will require your accounts to be with Vanguard. Our lead investment recommendations will generally only include Vanguard ETFs and mutual funds, and will generally not include purchases of individual securities or bonds, CDs, options, derivatives, annuities, third-party mutual funds, closed-end funds, partnerships, or other non-Vanguard securities.

In our robo discretionary offers we provide online financial planning tools designed to help you create a goal-based financial plan, and the service will create an investment strategy aligned with your personal inputs. We'll monitor your enrolled accounts frequently using an algorithm. We'll have full investment discretion in order to transact as necessary to align your account(s) with your goal(s).

Our hybrid discretionary offers include the same features as our robo discretionary offers, with the opportunity to consult with a financial advisor to refine your investment plan and goal(s).

Our hybrid non-discretionary offer provides ongoing advised account services. You'll work with a financial advisor, agree upon a financial plan and investment strategy, and grant us authority to trade your account(s) in accordance with that plan. We will not implement or change your plan without your approval. We will monitor your accounts and rebalance, as needed, on a quarterly basis.

Each program requires a minimum of investable cash or eligible securities in the advised portfolio in order to enroll. Minimums vary by program and can be found in the respective brochure in the link below.

Additional Information: For more information about the services, see the "Advisory business" and "Types of clients" sections of each program brochure, which can be found at <u>vanguard.com/adviceforms</u> under the Vanguard Advisers, Inc. heading.

Conversation Starters: Consider these questions before choosing a financial service. You can find more information on these conversation starters at **vanguard.com/adviceforms** or call us at the number provided below.



- Given my financial situation, should I choose an investment advisory service?
 Why or why not?
- How will you choose investments to recommend to me?
- What is your relevant experience, including your licenses, education, and other qualifications? What do these qualifications mean?

What fees will I pay?

Our discretionary offers each charge gross advisory fees and then credit any revenue Vanguard retains from the assets held in your accounts to arrive at a net advisory fee. The amount of this credit will vary by account and holdings.

For our non-discretionary offer, the annual advisory fee is charged on advised assets and the fee rate decreases on a tiered level as advised assets increase. In addition, where mutual funds are held in your account (including Vanguard), there are built-in fees known as "expense ratios." These are the costs for the fund company to run a fund and will vary by fund, so your combined fees for advice and investments will vary.

Advisory fees for all offers are calculated on a rolling 90-day period based on your average daily balance in the portfolio over the entire fee period. We do not charge advisory fees on the balance of money market funds or other cash equivalents held within your portfolio, except for recommended allocations to cash equivalents in the discretionary advice offer effective on or about October 21, 2023. As you invest more assets in the programs, the amount of fees we collect will increase; therefore, there could be incentive to encourage you to increase your assets.

You will pay fees and costs whether you make or lose money on your investments. Fees and costs will reduce any amount of money you make on your investments over time. Please make sure you understand what fees and costs you are paying.

Additional Information: There may be additional fees, including an Advice Platform Fee (non-discretionary offer) account service fees, and non-Vanguard fund fees, as discussed in more detail in the "Fees and compensation" section of each program's Form ADV Brochure.



Help me understand how these fees and costs might affect my investments. If I give you \$10,000 to invest, how much will go to fees and costs, and how much will be invested for me?

What are your legal obligations to me when acting as my investment advisor? How else does your firm make money and what conflicts of interest do you have?

When we act as your investment advisor, we have to act in your best interest and put your interests ahead of ours. At the same time, the way we make money creates some conflicts with your interests. You should understand and ask us about these conflicts because they can affect the investment advice we provide you. Here are some examples to help you understand what this means:

- Our lead advice will be to invest in Vanguard funds. You will pay the funds' expense ratios. The funds' expense ratios are received by The Vanguard Group, Inc., as revenue. The discretionary services reimburse any revenue received by Vanguard from the gross advisory fee.
- You may qualify for more than one of our advisory services—each with different levels of fees and benefits—that will advise you to invest your enrolled assets in substantially the same portfolio.
- We'll also require your advised assets to be in accounts held with our affiliates. Those accounts may be subject
 to additional fees, like account service fees, commissions, and other charges and processing fees. If you were
 to transact in non-Vanguard funds through a Vanguard Brokerage Account, our affiliate, Vanguard Marketing
 Corporation, may receive transaction fees, front-end and back-end loads, sales charges, 12b-1 fees, and revenuesharing payments from certain non-Vanguard funds.

Additional Information: See the "Fees and compensation" section of each program's Form ADV Brochure for more details on how we and our affiliates make money and the conflicts involved.



How might your conflicts of interest affect me, and how will you address them?

How do your financial professionals make money?

Our financial professionals include financial advisors who deliver advice and sales professionals who help you select the advisory service that best meets your needs. Our financial advisors are not compensated for, or on the basis of, any recommendation or sales of specific securities. Financial advisors and sales professionals are paid base compensation and are eligible for an annual payment from an enterprise-wide compensation plan. Certain financial advisors and sales professionals are also eligible to receive variable compensation that is measured using either discretionary or discretionary and non-discretionary factors. Our robo discretionary service does not employ advisors who directly advise client accounts. These variable compensation practices create conflicts of interest due to the incentives they create for both our financial professionals and VAI. Please see the "Advisor compensation" section of the respective service brochure (vanguard.com/adviceforms) for more details on compensation practices.

Do you or your financial professionals have legal or disciplinary history?

Yes. For more information related to legal or disciplinary history disclosure go to **investor.gov/CRS**. There, you will find a free and simple search tool to research us and our financial professionals.



As a financial professional, do you have any disciplinary history? For what type of conduct?

For more information regarding our advisory services, obtain a copy of Form ADV or Form CRS from adviserinfo.sec.gov, or contact us at 800-523-9447 to request a copy.



Who is my primary contact person? Is he or she a representative of an investment advisor or a broker-dealer? Who can I talk to if I have concerns about how this person is treating me?



Vanguard Digital Advisor and Vanguard Personal Advisor Brochure

September 3, 2024

Vanguard Advisers, Inc.

100 Vanguard Boulevard Malvern, PA 19355 877- 662-7447 vanguard.com

This brochure provides information about the qualifications and business practices of Vanguard Digital Advisor® and Vanguard Personal Advisor™, advisory services (each a "Service" and collectively the "Services") offered through Vanguard Advisers, Inc. ("VAI") (also referred to herein as "we," "us," and "our"). This brochure also describes how VAI is compensated for the service provided to you. You should carefully consider this information in your evaluation of each Service. If you have any questions about the contents of this brochure, please contact us at the phone number above. The information in this brochure hasn't been approved or verified by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") or by any state securities authority.

Additional information about VAI also is available on the SEC's website at adviserinfo.sec.gov.

VAI is a registered investment advisor with the SEC. Registration doesn't imply a certain level of skill or training.

Material Changes: Since Vanguard Digital Advisor and Vanguard Personal Advisor's Brochure ("Brochure") annual update on March 28, 2024, the following material changes are planned or have occurred:

Effective on or about September 9, 2024, we're lowering the account minimum to enroll a Vanguard Brokerage Account to \$100. Additional eligibility criteria remain in place for Personal Advisor.

For plan participant account clients with only a retirement goal, we are enhancing personalization of your investment strategy by expanding our analysis to include your employment income and other information, if available, on or about September 30, 2024. Additionally, we're planning to start a limited offering of an active/index investment strategy methodology within certain participant accounts in early October as well. See Methods of analysis, investment strategies, and risk of loss page 23 for more information.

Also, information was updated on how our advice service representatives are compensated. See Client referrals and other sales professional compensation page 49 for more information.

On or about August 20, 2024, the Services have started to enhance their brokerage practices to include fractional share trading practices (See "Brokerage practices – Fractional share trading on page 46).

Additionally, on July 9, 2024, to the ability to include goals less than eighteen months in your plan subject to certain limitations was added to the Services. See Methods of analysis, investment strategies, and risk of loss – Developing an asset allocation page 24 for more information.

In June 2024, several enhancements have been made to the Services to enable inclusion of a partner in your plan and investment strategy. Starting on or about the date of this brochure, the Services will further personalize your investment strategy if you included a partner in your plan. As a result, clients could experience rebalancing or a change in target asset allocation. See Methods of analysis, investment strategies, and risk of loss -- Developing an asset allocation on page 24. In addition, Clients as well as Personal Advisor prospects with brokerage accounts will have an option to create a unified investment strategy and share digital access with a partner. This new option will expand to new Digital Advisor brokerage clients later this year, subject to certain limitations. See Developing Your Investment Strategy – Enhanced Household Service on page 7 and Methods of analysis, investment strategies, and risk of loss on page 23. Also the Services have changed the risk assessment experience for new clients. See Methods of analysis, investment strategies, and risk of loss – Developing an asset allocation page 24 for more information.

This brochure update includes non-material changes regarding account and investment eligibility as well as certain policies in Digital Advisor and Personal Advisor.

Table of Contents

Advisory business	3
Fees and compensation	16
Performance-based fees and side-by-side management	22
Types of clients	22
Methods of analysis, investment strategies, and risk of loss	23
Disciplinary information	43
Other financial industry activities and affiliations	43
Code of ethics, participation or interest in client transactions, and personal trading	44
Brokerage practices	44
Review of accounts	47
Client referrals and other sales professional compensation	49
Custody	51
Investment discretion	51
Voting client securities	52
Financial information	52
Requirements for state-registered advisors	52
Investment risks	52

Advisory business

VAI is a Pennsylvania corporation that provides clients with a wide variety of investment advisory services, including the following:

- Stable Value: discretionary investment advisory services to separate accounts that are offered as investment options in state-sponsored education savings plans ("529 Plans");
- Vanguard ETF Strategic Model Portfolios: model portfolios comprised of Vanguard Funds and exchange traded funds (ETFs) (as defined below) as well as mutual funds and ETFs managed by third party asset managers that are accessed by third party intermediaries through third party platforms;
- Interactive Advice Tools: Personal Online Advisor ("POA") is a nondiscretionary advisory service
 previously offered to certain retail clients and currently to participants of eligible employersponsored retirement plans. POA is sub-advised by Edelman Financial Engines Advisors L.L.C.
 ("FEA"), an independent investment advisor unaffiliated with VAI;
- Vanguard Personal Advisor Select (formerly branded Vanguard Personal Advisor Services): ongoing advised account services for certain retail clients and point- in-time advice services for participants in eligible employer- sponsored retirement plans;
- Vanguard Personal Advisor: discretionary advisory service offered to retail clients and eligible participants of certain employer-sponsored retirement plans;
- Vanguard Digital Advisor: discretionary advisory service offered to retail clients and to eligible participants of certain employer- sponsored retirement plans;
- Vanguard Situational Advisor: point-in-time, nondiscretionary advice services and financial planning offered to participants in certain employer-sponsored retirement plans; and
- Vanguard Managed Account Program ("VMAP") and POA: VMAP is a discretionary advisory service offered to participants of eligible employer-sponsored retirement plans. POA is a nondiscretionary advisory service offered to participants of eligible employer-sponsored retirement plans. VMAP and POA are sub-advised by FEA.

VAI is a Pennsylvania corporation that provides clients with a wide variety of investment advisory services. This Brochure provides information about the Vanguard Digital Advisor ("Digital Advisor") and Vanguard Personal Advisor ("Personal Advisor") programs.

Information about the other investment advisory programs and services offered by VAI is available through the SEC's website at www.adviserinfo.sec.gov.

VAI was incorporated in and has been in business since 1995. VAI is 100% owned by Goliath, Inc., a Delaware corporation. Goliath is 100% owned by The Vanguard Group, Inc. ("Vanguard"). As such, VAI is an indirect, wholly owned subsidiary of Vanguard, the sponsor and manager of the family of mutual funds and ETFs (exchange-traded funds) comprising The Vanguard Group of Investment Companies ("Vanguard" Funds"), which VAI typically recommends as investments for its investment advisory services. Please see the section of this brochure entitled "Other financial industry activities and affiliations" for more information.

Vanguard Digital Advisor

Digital Advisor, launched by VAI in 2019, provides an automated investment advisory program that offers eligible clients access to discretionary investment advisory services through a website and digital interface (the "Site"). Digital Advisor also provides online financial planning tools designed to help clients create a personalized, goals-based financial plan.

Vanguard Personal Advisor

Personal Advisor, launched by VAI in June 2022, provides the same discretionary investment advisory and financial planning services as Digital Advisor through the Site while also offering financial planning consultations with a VAI investment adviser representative ("VAI Financial Advisor").

As an SEC-registered investment advisor, VAI has a fiduciary duty to act in its clients' best interests and to abide by the duties of care and loyalty under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 ("Advisers Act"). Additionally, when we provide investment advice to you regarding your Participant Account or IRA, we are fiduciaries within the meaning of Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act and/or the Internal Revenue Code, as applicable, which are laws governing retirement accounts. As fiduciaries, we act in your best interest and do not put our interest ahead of yours. At the same time, certain aspects of the Services create potential conflicts of interest, such as the way we make money inclusive of recommending the use of proprietary products and investment accounts. See "Fees and compensation" on page 16 for additional information.

Our client relationship begins when you enter into Your Service Agreement for Vanguard Discretionary Advice Services: Vanguard Digital Advisor, Vanguard Personal Advisor (the "Client Agreement") and the scope of our fiduciary relationship is defined in the Client Agreement.

Signatories of the Client Agreement are referred to as "Clients" for their respective Service. Goal forecasting and other financial planning tools that are available prior to signing the Client Agreement, are provided solely for your information and education, but your use of those tools prior to signing the Client Agreement does not constitute a fiduciary relationship between you and VAI under the Advisers Act.

Your participation in either Service requires internet access in order to enroll and to access program documents. You should not interact with either Service if you do not have consistent internet access or do not want to accept electronic delivery of documents and disclosures required to be delivered in connection with the Services. You are required to maintain an active email address with us in order to remain enrolled in a Services.

As the Site evolves over time, new content, capabilities, or features may be introduced at different times. As new capabilities are introduced they may initially be available to a small population of Clients. At any given time, not all Clients will have access to the same features and services.

Below is an overview of the Services, please refer to the sections of this Brochure that follow under the heading entitled "Methods of analysis, investment strategies, and risk of loss" for more detailed information.

Developing Your Investment Strategy

Our investment strategies are designed with a disciplined, long-term approach that focuses on managing risk through appropriate asset allocation and diversification. Our methodology uses a strategic and personalized approach by first focusing on the mix of asset classes (i.e., stocks, bonds, cash) that aligns with your willingness and ability to take risk and is appropriate to meet your financial goals over time. Each Service relies on information you provide through the Site.

Across all your goals, we will gather information about your risk/reward preferences or risk tolerance to determine your personalized investment strategy. This information helps us to provide an assessment of your risk attitude (Very Conservative, Conservative, Moderate, Aggressive and Very Aggressive) for you to consider.

You must set a retirement investment goal to enroll an account into either Service. Each Service captures inputs around your retirement investment goal including your expected retirement age as well as your anticipated spending needs, taxable income, and your savings depending on the onboarding journey that you choose. The risk attitude you select, your current age, marital/partner status, and the expected retirement age you provide are then used as inputs to our proprietary investment algorithm. Additionally, your employer may provide certain salary and other savings information on your behalf. Other inputs could also be considered as outlined in the detailed methodology descriptions below. Our proprietary algorithm uses this data to recommend a particular investing track and glide path that correspond to your retirement investment goal.

In order to obtain a recommended asset allocation through a Service, you will need to open a new account or enroll an eligible existing account that is either: (i) a Vanguard brokerage account ("Vanguard Brokerage Account") established with Vanguard Marketing Corporation ("VMC"), doing business as Vanguard Brokerage Services, or (ii) a participant account in an eligible employer- sponsored retirement plan ("Participant Account") for which Vanguard affiliates provide recordkeeping services. Vanguard Brokerage Accounts and Participant Accounts are referred to collectively in this brochure as "Enrolled Accounts." Once enrolled, we will recommend an asset allocation and specific investments that can be maintained in your Enrolled Accounts to meet your target asset allocation. The Enrolled Accounts that we manage on a discretionary basis through the Services are referred to as a "Portfolio."

If you are enrolling an eligible account, you will also take a style assessment, also known as an active risk assessment, to determine your investing patience and active risk tolerance. Based on the results of the style assessment, we will make an active/index investment option available in addition to an all-index option. Additionally, you will have an opportunity to elect an optional environmental, social, and governance ("ESG") all-index investment option for Vanguard Brokerage Accounts to further personalize your Portfolio investments based on your preferences. On or about October 1, 2024, we are planning to start a limited offering of an active/index investment strategy methodology within certain participant accounts. Depending on the onboarding track you select for the Site, these customization options could appear prior to or after enrollment.

We can manage additional lump sum or certain multi- year financial goals, subject to availability. Unlike traditional approaches, where an individual investment account is earmarked to a single goal, our multi- goal capability treats accounts as fungible assets and flexibly allocates those assets across goals based on the plan you set. We determine the appropriate goal-weighted asset allocation across all goals, dynamically managing assets and anticipated contributions within an integrated multi-goal framework. This approach is designed to help you balance your retirement investment goal with other major financial goals. It is important to understand that your target asset allocation and specific investments may change significantly upon the inclusion of financial goals if a sizable portion of your account

balances are required to fund financial goals on your target goal dates and will could result in decreasing your overall retirement savings.

You should carefully consider the tradeoffs against your retirement savings when setting your other financial goals, including reviewing the interactive forecasts and projected investment glidepaths displayed in the Site.

Goal Forecasting and Multiple Goals

In the Site, your inputs will enable you to use different interactive planning tools and visualizations (leveraging inflation and return on capital models developed by VAI and its affiliates) to help you set your financial goals. Additional data such as current contributions, tax filing status, various income sources (lump sum, periodic, etc.), expenses, preferred age range of retirement options, and expected Social Security benefits inform your retirement investment goal forecasting. You can also elect to include certain spouse or partner inputs for a more complete household projection. For basic and enhanced households (as defined below), the tax filing status and state of residence of the inviting or initiating partner who completed the enrollment flow will be used across the Portfolio. Subject to availability, if you have connected an account or manually entered information about an account that is not managed by us ("self-managed account" or "non-managed account"), you may plan additional financial goals that you anticipate funding with your self-managed accounts for purposes of hypothetical forecasting, including projected tradeoffs with your retirement savings goal.

Projections and forecasts regarding the likelihood of various investment outcomes are hypothetical in nature, do not reflect actual investment results, and are not guarantees of future results. Goal forecasts, including any suggestions to improve the likelihood of funding your goals, are based solely on your account types (e.g., individual, IRA, Roth IRA) and do not incorporate specific projections of investments that you hold at Vanguard or elsewhere. Any self-managed accounts included in your goal planning are assumed to have similar asset allocations as managed accounts. If you invest differently, the goals forecast and any related suggestions, may not be realistic to meet your goals.

Each Service also provides projections to help you understand the tradeoffs between different goals that influence the success of all your goals. Additionally, if you incorporate self-managed accounts into multiple goals, forecasting success probabilities and tradeoffs are limited by assumptions regarding those accounts.

The retirement investment goal setting experience is based on a long-term asset allocation strategy and will not suit your needs if you are seeking a comprehensive retirement income strategy. Adding additional financial goals is dependent the accounts you have linked or added to your plan. You can plan a financial goal with a single goal date that is at least eighteen months from the day you add the goal to your plan. On or about July 9, 2024, subject to limitations within the service, you will be able add goals less than eighteen months to your plan.

Each Service provides access to calculators and interactive tools to help educate Clients about how to save for emergencies, where to direct extra or idle cash and how to optimize debt repayment options. These interactive tools are not integrated with the discretionary investment advisory and related online financial planning services offered through the Services and do not impact your recommended investment strategy.

Personal Advisor -VAI Financial Advisor consultations

Prior to enrollment, if you have any questions, you'll have the option to speak with a VAI Financial Advisor. You will also be given the opportunity to preview projected investment recommendations to determine whether to enroll in Personal Advisor. You can also choose to forego scheduling an initial or follow-up VAI Financial Advisor consultation and instead enroll in Personal Advisor using an all-digital enrollment process. If you switch from Digital Advisor to Personal Advisor you must enroll in Personal Advisor prior to scheduling a call.

Clients enrolled in Personal Advisor will have the ability to call and schedule an appointment with a VAI Financial Advisor at any time. Employer-sponsored retirement plan participants ("Participants") with Portfolio securities less than \$500,000 and Vanguard Brokerage Account Clients are assigned to a team of VAI Financial Advisors. Clients assigned to a team of advisors can schedule an appointment with a VAI Financial Advisor by logging in to the Site and scheduling a convenient time for the VAI Financial Advisor to call them, or by calling us at 877-662-7447.

Participants with Portfolio securities equal to or more than \$500,000 receive an assigned VAI Financial Advisor. Participants with Portfolio securities of \$500,000 or more can contact their VAI Financial Advisor directly by phone or by scheduling an appointment through the Site.

VAI reserves the right, in its discretion, to alter its service models without notice or grant exceptions to the service models where it deems appropriate.

Building your profile

Your financial goals will be specific to the inputs you set. The Services are not intended to provide comprehensive tax advice or financial planning with respect to every aspect of your financial situation.

Our ability to optimize your Portfolio allocation is dependent on the information you enter into the Site, including your planned savings, projections of future spending needs and responses to visualizations of the potential financial goal planning options. We will also use the information you provide to us through the Site to generate goals-based forecasting and recommendations on how to better meet your investing goals. Any such goals-based forecasting and recommendations are a point-in-time assessment based on your situation and goals at the time you access the Site. We do not proactively update your forecasts, provide ongoing financial planning, or generally monitor your progress toward your financial goals on an ongoing basis. You must interact with the Site for updated forecasts and personalized messaging about your plan progress.

If you elect to include self-managed accounts in goal forecasts, including spouse's or partner's accounts, these account types and balances may be considered for purposes of goals forecasting, but will not influence or alter the investment recommendations provided by us for your Portfolio. We do not make specific recommendations or manage investments in self-managed accounts, including those held at an entity outside of Vanguard.

If you switch between Services (either from Digital Advisor to Personal Advisor or from Personal Advisor to Digital Advisor) then the information and elections that you provided to the prior Service will be used to manage your Portfolio in the new Service unless you make additional changes.

Enhanced Household Service

Clients with Vanguard Brokerage Accounts transitioning from Select will have an option to create a unified investment strategy and share digital access with a partner by electing the enhanced household service ("Enhanced Household Service" or "Enhanced Household"). This option is expected to expand to new Digital Advisor clients with Vanguard Brokerage Accounts around the end of the year, subject to certain limitations

and requirements. In order to elect the Enhanced Household Service, you and your partner must agree to specific terms including separately consenting to the Vanguard Discretionary Advice Enhanced Household Supplement to the Client Agreement Agreement on the Site https://personal.vanguard.com/pdf/vanguard-discretionary-advice-household-agreement.pdf. If you and a partner elect to enroll in the Enhanced Household Service then certain parts of the service are limited as disclosed on the Site. For example, currently Participant Accounts are not eligible for the Enhanced Household Service. For purposes of the descriptions contained in this Brochure, "you" refers to you and your partner if you have elected the Enhanced Household Service.

You should not elect the Enhanced Household Service if you have different investment goals, risk attitudes, or investment preferences from your partner. Additionally, you should not make this election if you are not comfortable with your partner having joint access to the Site, which includes seeing your detailed account information and having limited agency ability to initiate money movement in your accounts. If you wish to add information about a partner to your plan, but not share Site access or create a unified investment strategy then you could opt to create a "Basic Household" profile.

Personal Advisor Transition Services

Personal Advisor offers additional transition services if you are unenrolling from Vanguard Personal Advisor Select ("Select") and enrolling into Vanguard Personal Advisor. If you are transitioning you will not be required to enroll the aggregate account balance required for new clients. In this experience, you can simultaneously confirm your unenrollment from Select and enrollment in Personal Advisor. If you previously elected tax loss harvesting services in Select, your election will carry over to Personal Advisor.

Processing unenrollment, including any final Select fee assessments, will typically take VAI 4-6 business days after which you will gain access to the Site and your Portfolio will be rebalanced in accordance with your Personal Advisor settings, if required under the Service's methodology. Certain account settings may result in a longer transition period, inclusive of additional VAI outreach to confirm Client preferences. In the interim, Clients can schedule appointments with VAI Financial Advisors and request transactions by calling 877-662-7447.

Vanguard Brokerage Account Clients

Enrollments in Vanguard Digital Advisor require at least a \$100 balance in each eligible Vanguard Brokerage Account effective on or about September 9, 2024. Prior to the minimum reduction each Vanguard Brokerage Account was required to have a \$3,000 balance. Enrollments in Personal Advisor require an aggregate \$50,000 balance or greater in eligible Vanguard Brokerage Accounts. Plan participants may also enroll Vanguard Brokerage Accounts in Personal Advisor subject to the eligibility criteria described under "Participant Account Clients" below.

Eligible Vanguard Brokerage Account types include taxable accounts (e.g., individual, or joint accounts with rights of survivorship) as well as certain tax-advantaged accounts (e.g., traditional, Roth, SEP (subject to availability on the Site), or rollover IRAs). Inherited traditional or Roth IRAs are also eligible. For each brokerage account you wish to enroll, the entire balance must be in certain investment types (based on eligibility screening by a Service at the time of enrollment) and/or the brokerage account's settlement fund. The settlement fund includes both money market fund and bank sweep products designated by Vanguard Brokerage Services. If your brokerage account holds investments that are not accommodated by a Service's breakeven analysis or trading capabilities, then such account will be ineligible for enrollment.

If an account is enrolled in a Service with pending trades, we reserve the right to cancel those trades as needed to allocate assets to the recommended portfolio.

We recognize that you may experience costs and tax consequences associated with selling your existing securities positions to implement our lead advice recommendations. As such, subject to eligibility screening at enrollment, we'll weigh the costs of transitioning the securities you hold before enrolling in a Service using a breakeven cost analysis (unless you've elected an ESG investment setting). We consider your costs by estimating the capital gains tax impacts compared to the expense ratio benefits from selling securities that are inconsistent with our lead recommendation. The breakeven analysis does not account for any fee offsets. If the securities you held before enrolling in a Service pass our breakeven cost analysis, we'll recommend that you continue to hold all or a portion of such securities, subject to our portfolio construction guidelines. If they fail the breakeven cost analysis, we'll recommend that you sell those positions and implement our lead advice recommendations. The breakeven analysis does not screen for investing style so your Portfolio could hold investments for an extended period of time that are inconsistent with your selected investment setting (e.g., retention of an actively managed fund with a total market all-index investment setting.)

Read the section below titled "Customizations" for additional information about imposing restrictions on our investment strategy. Retention of existing securities in your portfolio to minimize tax consequences will result in variance to the calculation of your advisory fees. For example, if a non-Vanguard security is retained under the break-even analysis, you will incur any investment costs (e.g., expense ratios) that are not revenues to Vanguard in addition to the advisory fees you pay to VAI. See "Fees and Compensation" below for more information on fees. Even in situations where your Portfolio continues to hold securities you purchased before enrolling in a Service, we'll recommend that any additional purchases in your Portfolio be made into Vanguard Funds, as applicable for your investment setting.

For enrolled Vanguard Brokerage accounts, our lead investment recommendations will normally be limited to allocations in certain Vanguard Funds, based on cost, diversification and their ability to help facilitate investment strategies, such as total market, active, or tax loss harvesting, in Portfolios. Our investment recommendations for assets held in Vanguard Brokerage Accounts will not include recommendations to purchase individual securities or bonds, CDs, options, derivatives, annuities, thirdparty mutual funds, closed-end funds, unit investment trusts, partnerships, or other non- Vanguard securities. In particular, we will typically recommend varying combinations of Vanguard Total Stock Market ETF, Vanguard Total International Stock Market ETF, Vanguard Total Bond Market ETF, and Vanguard Total International Bond ETF (collectively referred to as the "Four Totals") within Vanguard Brokerage Accounts for passive index exposure, such as the total market all-index investment option. Other investment options also include combinations of other Vanguard mutual funds, including certain Vanguard Funds exclusively available to advisory clients, and other Vanguard ETFs. If you hold mutual fund share classes of a Vanguard ETF within your Vanguard Brokerage Accounts when you enroll, we may complete your target asset allocation around those existing mutual fund share class positions if those holdings provide appropriate asset allocation exposure. New investments will be allocated to the ETF share classes. See "Fees and compensation" below, Clients do not collectively pay more to Vanguard and its affiliates if their advised investments are held in mutual funds vs. ETFs due to the revenue offset.

Under certain circumstances (e.g., a Portfolio with Participant Accounts and Vanguard Brokerage Accounts), we will recommend other Vanguard ETFs and funds other than the Four Totals to complete your target asset allocations: including but not limited to Vanguard FTSE Developed Markets ETF, Vanguard FTSE Emerging Markets ETF, Vanguard S&P 500 ETF, Vanguard Extended Market ETF, Vanguard Growth ETF, Vanguard Value ETF, Vanguard Short-Term Bond ETF, Vanguard Intermediate-Term Bond ETF, Vanguard Intermediate Term Tax Exempt Fund, Vanguard Limited Term Tax Exempt Fund, Vanguard Long-Term Bond ETF, Vanguard Long Term Tax-Exempt Fund, and Vanguard Tax-

Exempt Bond ETF. In certain circumstances, based on your Portfolio's composition relative to your target asset allocation as well as consideration of potential tax consequences of selling to achieve your target asset allocation, we will recommend other ETFs such as Vanguard S&P 500 ETF or Vanguard Extended Market ETF to better satisfy the sub-asset class targets to achieve a diversified portfolio. Additionally, you may elect into another investment option that uses other Vanguard ETFs or funds. More information can be found under the heading entitled "Methods of analysis, investment strategies, and risk of loss" below.

Vanguard offers a range of different solutions to help you meet your financial goals, including selfdirected brokerage services, single fund investments (such as Vanguard's Target Retirement Funds), and different investment advisory programs. If you are considering investing through a total market index investment setting, you should understand that each of the Four Totals is a share class of the mutual funds that are used (or are substantially similar to the mutual funds used) in Vanguard's Target Retirement Funds. In certain circumstances, a total market investment setting portfolio will contain identical allocations to the four Total Funds that are available in a Vanguard Target Retirement Fund, which is generally available at a lower cost than the Services. You should consider the advisory fees and Vanguard ETFs expense ratios you will incur upon enrollment as well as the personalized features and additional services that are available through each Service in comparison to the lower costs and absence of personalized services of Vanguard single fund solutions when considering the managed offer. When considering whether to enroll in a Service, you should consider that you will pay both the advisory fees and investment fees (e.g., Vanguard Fund or ETF expense ratios) upon enrollment in exchange for receiving access to a Service's personalized features and services offered to Clients. In comparison, an investor who decides to not enroll would have access to many of the same Vanguard Funds without the payment of advisory fees but would also not have access to each Service's personalized features and services offered to Clients.

Participant Account Clients

You may enroll your Participant Accounts, specifically a 401(k), Roth 401(k), 401 (a), or 403 (b) U.S. tax qualified retirement plan account, in each Service only if the Service has been made available by your plan fiduciary.

To enroll in Personal Advisor, Participants must have a minimum of \$250,000 in their Participant Account. If Participants elect to enroll Vanguard Brokerage Accounts, those balances will also satisfy this minimum. Alternatively, Participants can also enroll their Participant Account at any asset level if they elect to enroll Vanguard Brokerage Accounts that total \$50,000 or more.

There is a \$5 minimum Participant Account balance required to enroll an eligible Participant Account in Digital Advisor. In some cases, your plan fiduciary may have enrolled your plan account in Digital Advisor and provided certain information on your behalf that was necessary to create your Portfolio, such as risk attitude, retirement age, length of retirement, retirement contributions, and retirement spending. You are encouraged to access your account to personalize your risk attitude and complete your profile, which will trigger Digital Advisor to reassess your asset allocation. Personalizing your enrollment will also give you access to plan additional goals and use digital tools like the debt payoff calculator. If your plan fiduciary enrolls your account and you do not take action to un-enroll from Digital Advisor, your decision to remain enrolled in the service will constitute your approval of the inputs provided by your plan sponsor and the investment strategy selected for your Portfolio. Enrolled Accounts with no assets will automatically be unenrolled from Digital Advisor.

Our investment recommendations for Participant Accounts will normally be limited to allocations in certain Vanguard and non-Vanguard: mutual funds, collective investment trusts, or stable value funds. We will not include recommendations to purchase individual securities (except for reasonable accommodations

for company stock) or bonds, CDs, options, derivatives, annuities, closed-end funds, unit investment trusts, or partnerships. Plans and Participants will have the opportunity to provide a Service with additional information about their desired allocation to company stock investments if the Participant's Account is invested in, or eligible to invest in (in the event a company match is available), such assets. Additionally, if your Participant Accounts have multiple tax types or funding sources (i.e. pre-tax or after-tax), then we will also seek to allocate future contributions to optimize tax efficiency. This contribution allocation can automatically change when changes to your employee or employer contributions become effective subject to your employer plan contributions and limits, as well as other plan design considerations, if sufficient information is available to the Services. Typically, your employer must authorize the Services to be offered to your Participant Account in order to receive automated updates. Generally, 403(b) and 401(a) plan types are assumed to be substantially similar to 401(k)s within the methodology. Depending on your employer plan, you may be able to manually enter contributions to update your future contribution allocation.

For Participants in eligible employer-sponsored retirement plans, we will recommend an asset allocation based on the investment options selected by the plan fiduciary as the plan lineup and will typically recommend a combination of specific Vanguard Funds or affiliated collective investment trusts as well as investments that are unaffiliated with Vanguard and selected in order to invest based on your financial goals. We will select Participant Account investments based on their asset allocation alignment with the methodology outlined in "Methods of analysis, investment strategies, and risk of loss" below. Our lead portfolio recommendations seek to be globally diversified across equity and fixed income asset classes. However, if your plan fiduciary does not offer a currency-hedged international fixed income index fund, we will use a US aggregate bond index fund for fixed income asset allocation exposure. By enrolling a Participant Account, you will be directing us to apply our asset allocation methodology to invest in funds offered in your plan's lineup as it exists today and as that lineup may be changed by your plan fiduciary in the future. Additionally, Participants in certain employer-sponsored retirement plans may not be eligible to enroll or remain enrolled if the plan lineup only includes company stock or third-party investments that lack the asset allocation exposure required by our investment strategy.

Investments (e.g., mutual funds or collective investment trusts) that are not affiliated with Vanguard may be included in your Portfolio to meet your allocation, if they are made available as part of your plan lineup of investment choices and including them is necessary to meet our recommended investment strategy and asset allocation for your Portfolio. Clients may be un-enrolled from a Service if their plan fiduciary changes the plan lineup and there are insufficient investment options to complete the recommended investment strategy and asset allocation. Alternatively, the Service could modify your investment strategy options due to changes in your plan lineup. If a plan fiduciary elects to change recordkeeping service providers, your Participant Account will be un-enrolled as part of the transition. Additionally, Participants with self- directed brokerage accounts in their Participant Accounts will be ineligible to enroll or stay enrolled in a Service.

All Clients

You will be given the opportunity to preview our initial recommended asset allocation and specific fund recommendations to determine whether to enroll in the Services (except if your plan fiduciary has enrolled your Participant Account in Digital Advisor). These recommendations are based on a point-in-time assessment of our projected investment strategy for your selected investment settings as applicable, to manage towards your financial goal. In the event you choose to implement these recommendations without enrolling, we will not be held responsible for any losses resulting from any delays or mistakes in such implementation caused by you.

Once you've agreed to enroll your Portfolio, we will provide discretionary management based on the

financial goals and investment settings you set in the Site. Enrollment starts on the day you electronically execute the Client Agreement on the Site unless you accept the Agreement as part of a transfer of assets then your enrollment will start on the date your Enrolled Account is funded with the applicable minimum amount of assets ("Enrollment Date"). For example, rolling over assets from an employer-sponsored plan to open a new Vanguard Brokerage Account.

It is extremely important that you immediately notify us through the Site of material changes to your willingness and ability to tolerate risk, financial situation, financial goals, and investment objectives. The foregoing does not apply if your plan fiduciary enrolls your plan account in Digital Advisor and provides certain information on your behalf that was necessary to create your Portfolio. You should also compare the different fees and services that are offered through Digital Advisor and Personal Advisor when deciding which Service is more appropriate for you. You can invest in Digital Advisor and receive access to the same online financial planning tools and discretionary investment advice offered through Personal Advisor at a lower fee. However, you will not have access to VAI Financial Advisor consultations.

By enrolling in a Service, you're granting us discretionary investment authority to purchase and sell securities on your behalf. Accordingly, we will assess Portfolios using an algorithm (typically on each business day that markets are open for trading, however, we may in our discretion for technical or market infrastructure reasons forgo an assessment on a given day) to determine whether a rebalancing opportunity exists consistent with our investment strategy.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, we will not attempt to engage in market timing trading practices. We may evolve our investment strategy described below under the heading "Methods of analysis, investment strategies, and risk of loss" from time to time.

Each Service's Site includes content based on your goals and provides personalized reporting. Once you are enrolled, the Site is accessed by logging on to your account at vanguard.com.

For Clients enrolled in a Service, we will contact you, at least annually via the Site to validate your financial goal(s) chosen for the Portfolio for the purposes of determining whether there have been any changes in your financial situation, risk tolerance, tax situation, investment time horizon, investment objectives, or desired customizations. Again, it is critical that you interact with us during these attempts to validate your financial goals, needs, and the strategy chosen for the Portfolio, or whenever you believe that you may have experienced material changes to your financial situation, investment objectives, restrictions, and willingness and ability to tolerate risk, in order to ensure that our investment strategy is appropriately tailored to your financial goals. If you fail to validate your current investor profile or respond to our attempts to confirm your information, we'll assume that there have been no changes, and we'll continue in accordance with the financial goals you set on the Site. VAI reserves the right to un-enroll your Portfolio from management if you fail to respond or interact with the Site.

Before enrolling in a Service, Clients should consider paying off high-interest debt. If potential returns on your investments are lower than your debt's interest rate, it may be best to prioritize debt payments first. See "Methods of analysis, investment strategies, and risk of loss- Goals forecasting" for the investment returns we assume for the asset classes in each Service's portfolios.

Enrolled Account Restrictions and Defaults

When you enroll, you will no longer be able to independently purchase or sell securities in your Portfolio, and you will be restricted from such activity until you terminate a Service.

Transactions performed in a Portfolio enrolled in a Service without prior notice to us may be reversed or unwound by us to maintain the recommended allocation for your Portfolio (including any investment setting elections). If you enroll while trades are pending, we reserve the right to cancel those trades or otherwise take the actions necessary to invest your Enrolled Accounts into the target asset allocation. Ineligible trades or transfers placed in a taxable Vanguard Brokerage Account may result in taxable consequences. Other account transactions or services, like automatic trading services (such as automatic investment into specific investments/withdrawal from multiple accounts), will be restricted or unavailable through your traditional self-directed account web experience. Subject to limitations in the Site, you will be able to schedule automatic withdrawals for a single Vanguard Brokerage Account. This capability is expected to expand over time. Specific Enrolled Account restrictions and default account requirements for enrolled Vanguard Brokerage Accounts and enrolled Participant Accounts are summarized below.

Enrolled Vanguard Brokerage Accounts

In connection with enrollment in a Service, you'll retain the right to: (i) withdraw securities and take sales proceeds as cash from the Portfolio; (ii) vote on shareholder proposals of beneficially owned securities or delegate the authority to vote on such proposals to another person; (iii) be provided, in a timely manner, with a confirmation or other notification of each securities transaction in the Portfolio and all other documents required by law to be provided to security holders; and (iv) proceed directly as a security holder against the issuer of any security in the Portfolio and not be obligated to join any person involved in the operation of the service, or any other Client of the service, as a condition precedent to initiating such proceeding.

If you enroll a brokerage account that is currently approved for margin, your approval to invest on margin will be revoked. If you have any outstanding margin debt, that debt will need to be satisfied. We will undertake to trade to satisfy any outstanding margin debt, however, additional collection may be required if your assets are insufficient to do so. Due to certain limited functionality, Clients may need to unenroll accounts from the service in order to perform certain functions as disclosed in the Site or call Vanguard.

MinTax cost basis method default for enrolled Vanguard Brokerage Accounts

When you enroll, we'll use the minimum tax ("MinTax") cost basis method in performing the necessary transactions to manage your Portfolio on an ongoing basis for all securities held in your taxable accounts in the Portfolio. While we will consider the tax impact (because of the account type) of potential Portfolio changes, transitioning the Portfolio based on our portfolio construction guidelines could result in realized taxable gains or losses, or the generation of taxable dividend income or tax-preference items that are taxable under the alternative minimum tax. Neither VAI nor any affiliated entity shall have any responsibility to pay these taxes.

The MinTax cost basis method is generally designed to minimize tax impact and lower an individual's tax burden by identifying selective units or quantities, also referred to as lots, of securities to sell in any sale transaction (including rebalancing) based on specific ordering rules. In many cases, the MinTax cost basis method will minimize the tax impact to you of a transaction, but it may not do so in every case. For example, if the taxable accounts within your Portfolio hold a position with a small short-term capital loss and a large long-term capital loss, the MinTax cost basis method will choose to sell the position held at a small short-term capital loss first. The method's effectiveness at minimizing your taxes will vary depending on your individual circumstances. You should consult with your tax advisor to discuss whether the MinTax cost basis method is appropriate for you given your individual circumstances.

We don't provide tax advice, nor does a Service's use of the MinTax cost basis method constitute tax advice. We strongly urge you to consult with your tax advisor to discuss any tax concerns related to the

Services, including the appropriate cost basis method for you before enrollment.

Cashin/Cash out for enrolled Vanguard Brokerage Accounts

While enrolled in a Service, you may transfer cash to and from the Portfolio at any time, and you may add or un-enroll eligible accounts at any time via the Site. You will be able to transfer funds from any bank that you have linked to your Vanguard Brokerage Account. Additionally, you are able to transfer funds between settlement funds in different Vanguard Brokerage Accounts.

We reserve the right to un- enroll Clients that maintain a balance below \$100 in Vanguard Brokerage Accounts. We will un-enroll your Vanguard Brokerage Account if the balance is \$50 or less.

Clients seeking to withdraw an amount from their Vanguard Brokerage Account that would cause the account balance to be less than \$100 will be instructed to un-enroll the account rather than use the "Get Cash" functionality after the reduced minimum goes into effect in September 2024. Enrolled Accounts with no assets will automatically be un-enrolled from a Service.

Transfers of funds into your Enrolled Accounts typically are invested after two business days although the specific circumstances of your transfer could result in longer processing times. Any amounts transferred into an Enrolled Account will be allocated to the appropriate investments based on our rebalancing methodology. To invest assets in Enrolled Accounts as quickly as possible, we will place trades based on the availability of pending transfers of cash in your Vanguard Brokerage Account. If you set up multiple financial goals, it will typically take one to two additional business days to invest your contribution to recognize your contribution relative to your planned savings.

Also, transfers of funds using methods outside of ACH transfers, wire transfers, check, or incoming rollover transactions will not be automatically allocated as planned savings for purposes of calculating your target asset allocation. In accordance with your VMC Custodial Account Agreement governing your Vanguard Brokerage Account, your ability to use recently added funds may be restricted until they are collected. In addition, if funds are unpaid, recalled, or otherwise not honored, then VMC may debit your Vanguard Brokerage Account (including executing transactions) and/or charge your Vanguard Brokerage Account a fee. When cash is transferred to the Portfolio as a result of automated account services (such as an automatic investment plan) or investment earnings (such as interest or dividend payments), the cash will be allocated in accordance with our investment strategy upon your next rebalancing opportunity.

Rebalancing occurs periodically in your Portfolio based on a systematic review on whether particular guardrails relative to your target recommended asset allocation are triggered. Upon enrollment, Enrolled Accounts will be defaulted to receiving dividend and capital gain distributions in cash to optimize rebalancing opportunities. Subject to the use of fractional share trading practices described below, the Services are currently only able to purchase whole shares of ETFs in your Vanguard Brokerage Accounts. We will monitor the assets in your settlement fund(s) in these accounts and will look for opportunities to put them to work in accordance with our investment strategy. Balances may remain in your settlement fund, generally less than \$50 across your Portfolio. The lower your account balance the more likely that cash equivalent balances may remain in your settlement fund due to ETF share prices and consequently your settlement fund will represent a disproportionately higher percentage of your Portfolio.

You will be able to request a sale of assets in your enrolled Vanguard Brokerage Accounts and to have the proceeds sent as cash to your authenticated and authorized linked bank account(s) via an electronic bank transfer.

Transfers of cash out of your enrolled Vanguard Brokerage Account typically take two to four business days to occur (subject to the settlement of securities and other transactions in your managed account). Market closures will delay the settlement of transactions, which will, in turn, delay the transfer of cash out of your account. Additionally, due to market fluctuations it is possible that your withdrawal may require multiple trading days to generate your requested amount. One time withdrawals cannot be scheduled to occur at the same time as a scheduled withdrawal.

Taking out cash will have an impact on your financial goal progress. Unplanned withdrawals do not automatically update your target goal amount when you take such a withdrawal, and you will also need to separately update your plan to ensure that your needed goal amount remains accurate. If you do not update your target goal amount when you take an unplanned withdrawal to meet a goal, then your investments will not be efficiently invested for your needs, because we will assume you still need to fund the full goal amount. If the balance of your settlement fund is sufficient to cover the withdrawal request, shares of the settlement fund will be sold to cover the withdrawal rather than selling assets in your enrolled Vanguard Brokerage Account otherwise your Portfolio will be reallocated within our methodology guardrails to raise cash sufficient to satisfy your withdrawal request. More information regarding the methodology used on the Site is provided in the sections of this Brochure that follow under the heading entitled "Methods of analysis, investment strategies, and risk of loss" below.

Purchase and sale of securities in a Portfolio for enrolled Vanguard Brokerage Accounts

While enrolled in the Services, you are restricted from purchasing or selling securities in your Portfolio until you terminate the Services. Ineligible transactions performed in a Portfolio enrolled in the Services may be reversed or unwound by us in order to maintain the recommended allocation for your Portfolio. Each Service currently does not accept the transfer of securities into enrolled Vanguard Brokerage Accounts. When externally initiating transfers into your enrolled Vanguard Brokerage Account, all transferred assets should be in cash, unless transferred through certain VMC transfer of assets processes. If you transfer securities into an enrolled Vanguard Brokerage Account they will be sold as soon as reasonably practicable, which will result in the realization of investment gains and losses and may result in a taxable event in taxable accounts. Any charges or fees associated with the sale, such as contingent deferred sales charges, that are not revenue to Vanguard remain your sole responsibly. If we are unable to liquidate transferred investments, we will contact you to discuss your options.

Enrolled Participant Accounts

Any default investment, distribution, withdrawal, or loan transactions will continue to be subject to the terms of your plan. While enrolled, you are prohibited from initiating investment exchanges and directing the investment of new contributions in your plan account unless you terminate the service. In certain situations, de minimis investments may be added to your account in accordance with plan terms (for example, as a result of dividends or rebates from investments held in your account prior to the date of enrollment). In addition, certain investments may be contributed to your Participant Account by your employer in accordance with plan rules (e.g., upon auto- enrollment in the plan). Such investments generally will be re- balanced from your account.

All Account Types

The Services may not be appropriate for all investors. Clients interested in other types of investment advice services regarding assets held in the Portfolio may contact VAI to discuss alternative arrangements or services. You may not receive third-party discretionary advice on assets held in the Portfolio. If you wish to receive third-party discretionary advice regarding certain securities in the Portfolio, you should terminate the Services. You may separately arrange for the provision of advice by another provider that has no material affiliation with, and receives no compensation in connection with,

the securities held in your account(s).

Enrolled Accounts with no assets will automatically be un-enrolled. For Digital Advisor, you may terminate the service at any time via the Site, however, in its discretion the Service may test alternative methods to terminate including requiring you to contact Vanguard from time to time. You can unenroll individual accounts from Personal Advisor on the Site, but final account termination must be completed by contacting Vanguard. If you terminate your Portfolio will remain invested in the investment options selected by us until you take further action. Upon requesting termination, your account will remain restricted from trading for up to four business days to remove the managed status from your account if there are pending transactions.

Restrictions will typically be lifted within one business day. Depending on the timing of your termination relative to each Service's automated trade process, additional trades could process prior to the removal of the managed status from your account.

As of June 28, 2024, Vanguard Advisers, Inc. ("VAI"), had a total of \$99,710,700,000 in discretionary client assets under management and \$188,610,900,000 in non-discretionary client assets under management.

Fees and compensation

Clients are subject to a gross advisory fee but pay to VAI a net advisory fee. As detailed and computed below, the fee is designed to mitigate conflicts of interest for any revenues that Vanguard receives on assets held in the underlying investments (for example, revenues from Vanguard Funds). Each Service will reduce your gross advisory fee by the amount of revenue that Vanguard (or a Vanguard affiliate) collects on your Portfolio in order to calculate the net advisory fee. Net advisory fee is approximately 0.15% or 0.30% across your Portfolio for a total market all- index investment option for Digital Advisor and Personal Advisor, respectively, although actual expenses will vary based on the specific holdings and investment settings in each Enrolled Account. Your net advisory fee can also vary by Enrolled Account type. The combined annual costs of enrolling in a Service and investing in Vanguard Funds or collective investment trusts will vary for Participants within a particular plan. As described in more detail below, the gross advisory fees do not include investment expense ratios—such as fees paid to the funds' third-party managers, which aren't credited because they are not Vanguard revenues.

Gross Advisory fee

The gross advisory fee compensates us for the ongoing discretionary management of the Enrolled Accounts and is inclusive of the services described in this brochure. The gross advisory fee will be calculated across all securities in your Enrolled Accounts, except for money market fund securities (or other cash equivalent assets like assets held in a bank sweep settlement account) held in the settlement fund within your Enrolled Accounts.

The gross advisory fee does not include the expenses that you incur to invest in the underlying funds, collective investment trusts, or ETFs in your Enrolled Accounts. You will be responsible for paying underlying fund, collective investment trust, or ETF expenses charged at the individual holding levels within your Enrolled Accounts. These underlying funds, collective investment trust, or ETF expenses vary by fund and share class, and are expenses that all fund and ETF shareholders and collective investment trust holder's pay. Details of fund and ETF expenses can be found in each fund's or ETF's prospectus. These expenses are not itemized or billed separately. The gross advisory fee is rounded to the nearest whole penny using standard rounding for the purpose of calculating the net fee amount to be charged.

Enrolled Vanguard Brokerage Accounts

Your enrolled Vanguard Brokerage Accounts will be subject to an annual gross advisory fee based on your average daily balance of Vanguard Funds held in your account.

Digital Advisor's annual gross advisory fee for each Vanguard Brokerage Accounts is 0.20% for its all-index investment options or 0.25% for an active/index mix. Personal Advisor's annual gross advisory fee for Vanguard Brokerage Accounts is 0.35% for its all-index investment options and 0.40% for an active/index mix.

Enrolled Participant Accounts

Your enrolled Participant Accounts will be subject to an annual gross advisory fee based on your average daily balance of funds and collective investment trusts held in your account. Digital Advisor's and Personal Advisor's annual gross advisory fees for your Participant Account varies by plan, investment setting, and Service. Please see your plan fee disclosure notices for the applicable annual gross advisory fees that apply to your plan assets.

Net Advisory Fee (Credit Amount)

The annual gross advisory fee applied to each Enrolled Account is reduced by a credit of the actual revenue Vanguard (or a Vanguard affiliate) accrues and retains from expense ratios of Vanguard Funds or other Vanguard revenues received from Portfolio investments (e.g., 12b-1 or revenue sharing fees) in each Enrolled Account. Revenue sharing fees are credited manually and are not automated.

We will not credit de minimis amounts of revenue sharing less than \$1.00 that we receive in the event you erroneously transfer securities into a managed account, or, for Participant Accounts, securities added to the account in relation to investments held prior to management of the account. Assets held in a Vanguard Brokerage Account's settlement fund (either money market or bank sweep) are not strategic allocations. Net advisory fees will not be a negative amount.

Your resulting net advisory fee calculated for each account will be the actual fee collected. These actual amounts will vary based on your unique asset allocation and fund investments within the Portfolio and the holdings in each Enrolled Account. The credit amount will be rounded to the nearest whole penny using standard rounding for the purpose of calculating the net advisory fee.

Account specific credit information

Enrolled Vanguard Brokerage Accounts

Enrolled Vanguard Brokerage Accounts will be primarily composed of ETF shares and Vanguard mutual funds that trade commission-free through VMC, doing business as Vanguard Brokerage Services, * a registered broker-dealer that's a wholly owned subsidiary of Vanguard and an affiliate of VAI. Expected net advisory fees will vary based on your selected investment setting. A total market all-index investment setting comprised of the Four Totals ETFs will be credited approximately 0.05% as of the date of this brochure resulting in a net advisory fee of 0.15% for Digital Advisor and 0.30% for Personal Advisor. For the ESG all-index investment setting, approximate net advisory fees are expected to range from 0.10% to 0.12% in Digital Advisor and approximately 0.25% to 0.27% in Personal Advisor. This is due to the varied and higher-cost of investments resulting in a higher credit amount due to the associated Vanguard revenues.

If you select an active/index mix, the net advisory fee you pay will vary based on the specific funds included in your portfolio. That's because the expenses for these funds are varied and fees

paid to some active funds' third-party managers aren't credited because they are not Vanguard revenues. As of the date of this brochure, net advisory fees collected in Digital Advisor are estimated to range from about 0.11% to 0.20% and in Personal Advisor are estimated to range from about 0.26% to 0.35% for clients that elect an active/index investment setting.

In addition to investment setting elections, there are some other reasons that your net advisory fees could vary. For example, if you hold mutual fund share classes of the Four Totals within IRA accounts when you enroll, each Service will complete your target asset allocation around those existing holdings resulting in a higher credit amount due to the associated Vanguard revenues. If you enroll taxable Vanguard Brokerage Accounts with existing investments that are retained under the breakeven analysis described above the credit amount will vary based on the Vanguard revenues, if any, generated from the retained investments. Vanguard does not collect revenue from the advisory fees paid to nonaffiliated external managers of Vanguard actively managed mutual funds and unless there are revenue sharing payments Vanguard typically will not collect revenue from non- Vanguard investments. As a result, any investment fees and expenses associated with those investments are not offset and Clients are responsible for those expenses in addition to the advisory fees.

Additionally, accounts eligible for enrollment are required to elect e- delivery of statements and other account documents, which results in a waiver of account service fees. You are required to maintain e-delivery elections in order to remain enrolled in the service. To the extent that you incur account service fees, commission charges, other account charges and processing fees in connection with establishing accounts with VAI affiliates, you should review the terms of your account opening documents for details regarding fees that are assessed in connection with these accounts. If Vanguard or a Vanguard affiliate receives revenue from these charges because of discretionary management of the account, they will be included in the credit amount deducted from your gross advisory fee. Due to manual processing, the timing of the credit of these other charges will differ from the automated process to credit revenues from Portfolio holdings and certain credits and could take the form of a check reimbursement.

Certain types of trade processing fees assessed by Vanguard or a Vanguard affiliate, and any related interest income will not be included in the credit amount. For example, fees charged to recoup transaction fees paid by VMC to an exchange or other self- regulatory organization (collectively, "SROs") in connection with the sale of certain securities such as equities, options, and other covered securities. The amount of this fee varies and is determined periodically by the assessing SRO in accordance with Section 31 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Section 31 requires SROs to pay transaction fees to the SEC based on the volume of securities sold on their markets. SROs, in turn, have adopted rules charging their broker-dealer members the applicable amount of the fee charged to the SROs by the SEC. Broker- dealers are not required to charge their clients these fees. These fees are intended to cover the costs incurred by the government, including the SEC, for supervising the securities markets. The rate is subject to adjustments that result in differences between the assessed amounts and the actual amount applicable to your transaction. VMC retains any excess. Additionally, due to payment timing, VMC may also receive interest income on these fees. To the extent that a Vanguard Brokerage Account has margin interest accrued from positions bought prior to enrollment that interest accrual is not credited. Additionally, if you hold American Depositary Receipts (ADRs) that you direct us to sell down as part of your enrollment, fees associated with holding such ADRs will not be included in the credit amount. Banks that custody ADRs are permitted to charge ADR holders certain fees, as detailed in the ADR prospectuses. "Pass through" ADR fees are collected from Vanguard Brokerage Services by the Depository Trust Company (DTC).

If you hold deposits in a bank sweep service in your Vanguard Brokerage Account, VMC will receive a fee from program banks that accept bank sweep deposits that (I) is set by VMC, (ii) may vary from program bank to program bank, (iii) may be changed by VMC at any time, and (iv) will affect the yield clients receive from the bank sweep service. Clients enrolled in the bank sweep settlement fund option receive a lower yield on deposits under the bank sweep than if VMC had not earned this fee, because program banks reduce the amount of interest they are willing to pay depositors by the amount of the fee they pay to VMC. These VMC revenues are not included in the credit amount.

Enrolled Participant Accounts

Participants in employer-sponsored retirement plans may also directly or indirectly bear the fees assessed by Vanguard for recordkeeping services provided by Vanguard to the retirement plan. In connection with its services, Vanguard receives fees that are separate from, and in addition to, any advisory fees assessed by each Service. These fees for recordkeeping services are not included in the credit amount. Thus, retirement plan Participants who receive advice from us may directly or indirectly bear the fees assessed by Vanguard in connection with its services to the plan, in addition to any advisory fees assessed by a Service. Participants in employer-sponsored retirement plans for which Vanguard provides recordkeeping or investment services may be permitted to invest in collective trusts, company stock funds, or certain customized investment options for which Vanguard Fiduciary Trust Company ("VFTC"), an affiliate of VAI, provides services and receives compensation. Because advice provided by us may include recommendations to hold or purchase these investment options, acting in accordance with such advice may result in the payment of fees to VFTC. Revenues generated from these fees will be included in the credit amount. No fees will be charged with respect to certain de minimis or fractional shares on investments held in Participant Accounts due to plan rules or in relation to investments held prior to management. In addition, no fees shall be charged with respect to less than 1/1000th of a share of a security.

Participants in employer-sponsored retirement plans for which Vanguard provides recordkeeping services are often permitted to invest in non-Vanguard mutual funds. Because the advice provided by us may include recommendations to transact in non-Vanguard mutual funds, acting in accordance with such advice may result in payments to Vanguard or one of its affiliates or subsidiaries as compensation for participant-level recordkeeping and administrative services provided by Vanguard for such funds. This payment may be made by the fund company sponsoring the non-Vanguard mutual fund or an affiliate, by your employer or plan sponsor, by the Participants investing in the non-Vanguard mutual fund, or some combination thereof.

Payments to Vanguard or Vanguard affiliates for recordkeeping services will not be included in the credit amount, but revenues received and retained as compensation (i.e., revenue sharing not otherwise allocated to the sponsor to offset plan expenses or directly to Participant Accounts) related to transactions in non-Vanguard mutual funds will be included in the fee credit. Fee credits will also vary among Participants of the same plan if investment options selected by the plan fiduciary as the plan lineup generate different levels of revenue depending on the recommended asset allocation.

Billing

Fees will be assessed quarterly (approximately every 90 days) and based on your average daily balance in each holding of each Enrolled Account across the entire fee period after the completion of a fee period and will generally be deducted within 30 days of assessment. Your fee period will start on the same day

as your first account enrollment. If you switch between Digital Advisor and Personal Advisor your billing periods and frequency will not change (i.e. the date of your first account enrollment in either Service will continue to be used to calculate your billing periods. For example, if you upgrade to Personal Advisor on day 90 of your Digital Advisor billing period, then as of day 90 you will be assessed fees for 89 days at the Digital Advisor fee rate and 1 day at the Personal Advisor fee rate.

VAI reserves the right to provide periodic fee waivers where it deems appropriate. VAI in its discretion, can waive or reduce the gross advisory fee for any Client or group of Clients, including in connection with promotional efforts. The gross advisory fee is waived or discounted for certain accounts of employees of Vanguard or its affiliates.

We reserve the right to increase the annual gross advisory fee upon 30 days' written notice to you. We may offer periodic fee waivers where VAI deems appropriate and has negotiated custom fee waiver periods with certain plan sponsors for the Services. As a result of fee waivers, similarly situated Clients pay different fees.

We will continue to monitor your Portfolio and goals to help keep you on track to meet your financial goals and will therefore continue to charge all applicable fees, including periods of time when rebalancing isn't needed because the Portfolio is appropriately allocated.

Fee Collection

Accrued fees will not be collected for the portion of the gross advisory fee equal to the net advisory fee for the period from the last quarterly fee collection upon termination of an account's enrollment. Accounts that switch between Digital Advisor and Personal Advisor are not considered terminated for fee collection purposes. Accrued fees will be collected for the prior Service on a pro rata basis.

Vanguard Brokerage Accounts

Each Service will systematically determine which securities to sell in order to raise proceeds sufficient to cover the fee and reassess each Enrolled Account for alignment with the target asset allocation. See **Methods of analysis, investment strategies, and risk of loss -- Portfolio Rebalancing**. In addition, when collecting fees from an Enrolled Account with a money market fund, bank sweep account, or other cash equivalent asset balance, we'll prioritize those assets first.

Enrolled Participant Accounts

For Participant Accounts, fees will be deducted proportionally from the balance invested in each investment in the enrolled Participant Account, excluding active loans. Please note that during times of a plan-initiated event, such as a plan termination or conversion to an alternate service provider, fee handling will vary and will be communicated.

Introductory waiver for new Clients

This introductory 90-day net advisory fee waiver is available for new Digital Advisor Clients. Participant Accounts enrolled by a plan fiduciary in Digital Advisor are not eligible for this introductory fee waiver. The 90-day advisory fee-waiver period (the "fee-waiver period") will start when your first account is enrolled (i.e. first Enrollment Date) in Digital Advisor (of either a Vanguard Brokerage Account or Participant Account) and ends after the close of the first billing period (generally 90 days), which is specific to each Client. Additional Accounts enrolled at a later date can still take advantage of any remaining fee-waiver period. However, each additional account enrolled will not trigger new fee- waiver periods and any remaining fee-waiver period will be calculated based on the enrollment date of your first Enrolled Account. If you unenroll before your fee-waiver period has ended, you'll owe no net advisory fees. But if you choose to re-enroll in Digital Advisor during or after your fee-waiver period, you will not be eligible for a second fee waiver

period.

This first-time fee waiver does not apply to Personal Advisor. If you previously enrolled accounts in other VAI proprietary retail offers you will not be eligible for the introductory fee waiver. Other VAI proprietary retail offers are defined as: Vanguard Personal Advisor Select; Vanguard Personal Advisor; and Vanguard Digital Advisor. Additionally, you will not be eligible if you switch to Vanguard Digital Advisor from Vanguard Personal Advisor.

This introductory advisory fee waiver is conditioned on your consent (or, for Participant Accounts, your plan fiduciary) to the funds available for purchase in your account during the fee waiver period including changes in fund fees and expenses. For Participant Accounts, if a plan sponsor does not provide consent the waiver may be terminated.

VAI reserves the right to change the waiver terms or terminate the waiver at any time without notice. VAI also reserves the right to terminate this waiver at any time and to refuse a waiver or portion of waiver if we determine that you obtained it under wrongful or fraudulent circumstances, that you provided inaccurate or incomplete information in enrolling the account, that any rules or regulations would be violated, or that you violated any terms of your Client Agreement.

Vanguard Fund and Collective Investment Trust fees

The advice provided by the Services will include recommendations to sell, hold, or purchase Vanguard Funds and VFTC managed collective investment trusts. Where we transact to manage your Portfolio and invest in Vanguard Funds, it will result in the payment of fees to the Vanguard Funds and to Vanguard, an affiliate of VAI (see Net Advisory Fee (Credit Amount) above).

A purchase or sale of Vanguard Fund shares isn't subject to a load, sales charge, or commission. However, each Vanguard Fund incurs advisory and administrative fees as well as custodial fees and other fees and expenses that it pays out of its own assets. Certain funds also pay advisory fees to third party managers that are not affiliated with Vanguard. These advisory, administrative, custodial, and other costs make up the Vanguard Funds' expense ratios. Also, some Vanguard Funds impose purchase and redemption fees. Vanguard collective investment trusts also charge expense ratios and may assess purchase or redemption fees, which results in the payment of fees to the Vanguard collective investment trusts and to VFTC, an affiliate of VAI. (Collective investment trusts are investment options only within Participant Accounts.) Clients who invest in Vanguard Funds and Vanguard collective investment trusts are subject to the applicable expense ratios and to any purchase and redemption fees. Please consult the prospectus or collective investment trust document for information about the specific expense ratio and any fees assessed by a Portfolio investment.

VAI does not consider the Digital Advisor or Personal Advisor programs to be wrap programs. As a leader in reducing costs for all investors, VMC does not charge commissions to any investors for buying or selling ETFs, and therefore there are no fees to be a wrap-fee program. The net advisory fee charged by each Service is solely for the advice provided.

Advisor compensation practices

The advice provided by our VAI Financial Advisors does not vary based on whether Vanguard or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries will receive fees from any recommendations to purchase, hold, or sell Vanguard Funds or non-Vanguard investments. VAI Financial Advisors are not compensated for, or on the basis of, any recommendation or sales of specific securities. We reserve the right, at our discretion and without prior notice, to change the methods by which we compensate our advisors.

VAI Financial Advisors who deliver advice to clients of the Service are paid base compensation (hourly/non-exempt wages) and are eligible for an annual payment from an enterprise-wide compensation plan. This plan is made available to qualifying employees of Vanguard, not just to VAI Financial Advisors. Payments from the plan are determined based on an employee's level in with the organization as well as the overall investment performance of Vanguard funds and overall company performance of Vanguard during the prior three years. Accordingly, payments from the plan do not create a conflict of interest between you and the Service or VAI's Financial Advisors.

In assessing the performance of a VAI Financial Advisor, Vanguard considers discretionary and nondiscretionary factors including, but not limited to: (i) client satisfaction (client surveys, complaints), (ii) risk measures (such as adherence to supervisory, security and privacy procedures, compliance with regulatory standards and avoidance of trading errors), (iii) implementation of key business initiatives, (iv) various subjective criteria, such as corporate citizenship, subject matter proficiency and expertise, and contributions to the advisor's team and Vanguard, (v) the advisor's overall utilization (productivity) rate, (vi) number and rate of transitions from Personal Advisor Select to Personal Advisor, (vii) the number of consultations with prospective clients and consultations with Clients, (viii) number and rate of enrollments in Personal Advisor resulting from prospective client consultations, (ix) the percentage of Clients retained in any VAI proprietary advisory service, (x) measured frequency at which the advisor discussed financial planning strategies to improve client utilization of asset allocation, tax efficiency, and other features, and (xi) rate at which consultations utilize video technology. Additionally, VAI Financial Advisors who are both exempt and non-exempt employees are eligible for annual merit increases to their base compensation based, in part, on the same factors listed above.

Some of these factors create conflicts of interest due to the incentives they create for both the VAI Financial Advisor and VAI. Specifically, factors (vi) through (ix) in the paragraph above give a VAI Financial Advisor and VAI an incentive to recommend advisory programs over other services offered by Vanguard. In addition, VAI and its affiliates benefit through receipt of additional compensation when clients enroll or remain enrolled in the Service.

VAI addresses these conflicts of interest by maintaining policies and procedures requiring that our VAI Financial Advisors act in your best interest, reasonably supervising their activities, providing advisors with training and disclosing these conflicts so that you can make informed decisions.

Additionally, VAI Financial Advisors are provided with qualified leads to prospects who have previously expressed an interest in learning more about the service before scheduling an appointment with the advisor to consider enrollment. Finally, the performance measures are designed to mitigate the conflicts of interest caused by the program, including requirements for VAI Financial Advisors to identify and elevate client complaints and feedback on the service and abide by risk measures (such as adherence to supervisory, security and privacy procedures, compliance with regulatory standards and avoidance of trading errors). The enterprise-wide compensation plan payments to advisors do not increase the advisory fees paid by clients.

Performance-based fees and side-by-side management

VAI doesn't receive any fees for advisory services provided to you that are based on a share of capital gains on or capital appreciation of your investments.

Types of clients

Certain officers, directors, and substantial shareholders, including any employees subject to Rule 144 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

are not eligible for either Service (including both Participant Accounts and Vanguard Brokerage Accounts). Additionally, clients of certain other VAI retail advisory service (e.g., Select,) are not eligible to enroll. Clients may not be enrolled in both Digital Advisor and Personal Advisor at the same time. Clients are required to maintain permanent residence in the 50 United States, the District of Columbia, and the US Virgin Islands or have an APO/FPO/DPO mailing address in order to enroll and stay enrolled in a Service.

Vanguard Brokerage Accounts

Digital Advisor is made available to retail clients with a minimum of \$100 in each eligible Vanguard Brokerage Account they seek to enroll effective on or about September 9, 2024. Prior to the reduction enrollment required a \$3,000 balance. Enrollments in Personal Advisor require an aggregate \$50,000 balance or greater in eligible Vanguard Brokerage Accounts. For each brokerage account you seek to enroll, all assets in the brokerage account's settlement fund or in certain investment types (based on eligibility screening by a Service at the time of enrollment) and/or the brokerage account's settlement fund are eligible to enroll.

Eligible clients include those with individual accounts (including IRAs) and joint accounts with rights of survivorship. Other account types may be considered for purposes of goals forecasting, but we won't invest or reallocate assets in those ineligible accounts.

Participant Accounts

Participants enrolled in eligible 401(k), or Roth 401(k), 401 (a), or 403 (b) employer-sponsored retirement plans, whose employers have approved Digital Advisor or Personal Advisor, are eligible to use that Service. Other account types may be considered for purposes of goals forecasting, but the Service won't invest or reallocate assets in those other employer-sponsored accounts.

A Participant may enroll their account(s) in Personal Advisor if their eligible Participant Account meets the \$250,000 minimum. For Participants, eligible account types include 401(k), or Roth 401(k), 401 (a), or 403 (b).

Alternatively, a Participant may enroll Vanguard Brokerage Accounts and Participant Accounts if (in all circumstances Participants must enroll their Participant Account):

- They elect to enroll Vanguard Brokerage Accounts that total \$50,000 or more then they may also enroll their Participant Account at any asset level; or
- Their eligible Vanguard Brokerage Accounts combined with an eligible Participant Account satisfy the \$250,000 minimum.

Methods of analysis, investment strategies, and risk of loss

VAI's investment methodology incorporates our own investment philosophies and beliefs, such as the benefits of having clear and appropriate investment goals, developing a suitable asset allocation using broadly diversified funds (in other words, balance), minimizing costs, and maintaining perspective and long-term discipline. Our methodology, which is approved and periodically reviewed by VAI's Advice Policy Committee, is based on Vanguard's own fundamental research, as well as research obtained from a wide variety of external sources, both public and private. Our methodology is driven by long-term financial goals, not by market timing or short-term investment performance. Rather than attempting to predict which investments will provide superior performance at any given time, VAI believes that it can provide the best opportunity for success by maintaining a broadly diversified Portfolio— including investments from a variety of market sectors and asset classes. Additionally, we believe dependent on your appetite for financial risk, an asset mix that balances a chance for higher returns from actively managed concentrated funds with the broad diversification of index fund could be appropriate.

We periodically review our investment methodology which may result in modifications that impact your Portfolio's asset allocation, security selection, or other aspects. Each Service supports the goal of investing for retirement savings and additional financial goals. The objective of the retirement goal is to build sufficient wealth to cover expected income needs through retirement. You may also setup multiple financial goals after enrollment. This multi-goal capability helps you balance your retirement goal with other financial goals. We apply an overall long- term investment philosophy to the multi-goal capability that allocates investable assets to near- term goals first to ensure the funds needed to cover expenses when goals reach maturity.

We also treat accounts as fungible assets and allocates assets in those accounts across goals based on the financial goal- based plan you set.

Investment strategy for the Portfolio

Our investment strategies are designed with a disciplined, long-term approach that focuses on managing risk through appropriate asset allocation and diversification. Our methodology uses a strategic approach by first focusing on the mix of asset classes (i.e., stocks, bonds, cash) that aligns with your willingness and ability to take risk and is appropriate to meet your financial goals over time regardless of your investment setting. Subject to availability, you may be able to further customize your Portfolio through certain elections. Regardless of the customization, we require that your Portfolio remains diversified by asset class and within each asset class to ensure that no single security or class of securities will impose an unreasonable level of risk.

As digital advisory experiences, each Service relies on information provided by you and on certain assumptions based on our analysis about future financial factors, such as rates of return on certain types of investments, inflation rates, your rate of savings, percentage of income needed in retirement, portfolio withdrawals, tax rates, taxable capital gains and losses, and market returns, in order to develop an investment strategy for you. All assumptions are estimates based on historical data and proprietary forecasts that, in our opinion, serve as a useful and reasonable foundation on which to develop financial strategies. As a Personal Advisor client, you will also have the opportunity to speak with a VAI Financial Advisor about your financial situation.

If you have elected the Enhanced Household Service, a unified investment strategy will be created for you and your partner across all Enrolled Accounts regardless of account registration. Pursuant to the Enhanced Household Agreement, the inviting or initiating partner initially defines a household or portfolio-level objective including risk attitude, loss aversion, goals, elections (e.g. tax-loss harvesting) and investment settings as well as complete any related assessments for all enrolling accounts regardless of account registration. You or your partner can unilaterally make or approve changes to the Service after the inviting partner executes the Client Agreement. All Enrolled Accounts that the Service manages collectively for the partners through the Enhanced Household Service are considered the "Portfolio" as defined previously.

Developing an asset allocation - Retirement Investment Strategy

First, we will gather information about your attitude towards risk. Risk tolerance is derived from your selections within an assessment tool on the Site that uses your investment goal and leverages Vanguard Capital Markets Model to create a personalized assessment of your risk aversion and loss aversion. The risk tolerance measurement maps to the recommended risk attitudes (Very Conservative/Very Low, Conservative/Low, Moderate/Medium, Aggressive/High and Very Aggressive/Very High) for you to consider.

You may choose to deviate from the result of the assessment based on your personal judgement of your willingness and ability to tolerate risk by selecting a different risk attitude up to two steps away to make

your selected risk more conservative or aggressive, as applicable. If you wish to deviate more than two steps you will have an option to retake the assessment. Changes to your risk attitude will impact your recommended investment strategy.

Additionally, the assessment will seek to assess if you are very sensitive, somewhat sensitive, or less sensitive to short-term losses. Very sensitive means that you prefer to make changes to your portfolio during market downturns or periods of market uncertainty. You may not choose to deviate the assessed loss aversion. If the assessment results are inconsistent, then you will not be attributed with a low or high loss aversion. If you have previously completed this or an equivalent risk assessment for another Vanguard advisory service (i.e. Digital Advisor or Personal Advisor) then you will not be prompted to retake the assessment when onboarding in another offer. We will rely on your final risk attitude selection in providing our guidance and recommendations for our investment strategy.

Next, you may select the accounts that you want included for retirement planning. You will also-provide inputs around your expectations and goal planning for retirement. Investment strategies are derived based on your current age and expected retirement age, and additional data such as current contributions, tax filing status, various income sources (lump sum, periodic, etc.), expenses, preferred age range of retirement options, and expected Social Security to inform your retirement investment goal forecasting. See Goals Forecasting below.

Your selected risk attitude and the retirement planning inputs are then used as inputs to our proprietary investment algorithm. Our proprietary algorithm uses this data to recommend a suitable glide path that embodies the risk tolerance, asset allocation, and time horizon for your retirement investment goal. Glide paths are generated using the personalized glide path ("PGP") service developed in partnership between Vanguard's Investment Strategy Group and Vanguard Enterprise Advice Group. Glide paths for retirement PGPs were created using the Vanguard Life- Cycle Model ("VLCM") and map a client to the optimal asset allocation from over 1,000 possible glide path options. With the evolution of our proprietary algorithm to include personalized glide path recommendations, your retirement investment asset allocation will be selected based upon your stated retirement age, the risk attitude you selected, your assessed loss aversion (if any), partner status/planning horizon, if your portfolio has low or high single stock exposure, retirement savings rate, and expected retirement income (collectively, "Personal Characteristics"). Your current age will determine your starting point on the glide path.

Retirement PGPs are designed to balance the risks of seeking wealth with your tolerance for portfolio volatility. Customizing your glide path based on your Personal Characteristics will impact the amount of equity exposure in your Portfolio. Very aggressive and aggressive risk attitudes will result in higher equity exposure than a more conservative risk attitude. If we assess that you have a high loss aversion, then we will reduce the equity exposure in your Portfolio relative to a client with low or no assessed loss aversion (all other Personal Characteristics being equal). Additionally, PGPs will adjust your glide path if you have elected to have a concentrated equity position in your Portfolio.

Your stated retirement age is a key factor determining the slope (or rate at which equity exposure is reduced) in your Portfolio. We group potential retirement ages into five-year age brackets between 50 and 75. If you add a partner either by creating a basic household or an enhanced household then you will be able to select the partner whose retirement age represents when your household plans to start withdrawing from your investment accounts to cover your investment expenses. Your partner's current age will be utilized to construct your glide path if you select their retirement age. PGPs also factor in partner status and planning horizon for clients planning for their retirement savings to cover themselves and a partner based on an assumption that a joint household leads to a longer period of retirement consumption, given the chance that at least one person in the household may live longer. The later of you or your partner's planning

horizons will determine the planning horizon used for the household. If you do not elect a basic or enhanced household, however, you disclose that you file your taxes married filing jointly or married filed separately then the PGPs will factor in that you are planning for joint life expectancy.

Effective on or about September 30, 2024, retirement PGPs will also adjust the glide path based on assessing your retirement savings rate as either low or normal, subject to availability. We will calculate your retirement savings rate by dividing your annual savings contribution to your Plan Participant Accounts by your employment income. A lower savings rate will result in a higher equity exposure (all other Personal Characteristics being equal) prior to your retirement age in most circumstances.

Also effective on or about September 30, 2024, retirement PGPs will also adjust your glide path based on assessing your expected retirement income relative to your expected employment income at retirement into one of three categories low, medium, or high, subject to availability. Final year of employment income is based on a forward projection of your current employment income utilizing the Vanguard Life-Cycle Investing Model . Retirement income includes social security and pension income. Social security is estimated using your provided retirement age unless you edit your profile with a different amount. Pension Income includes both traditional pension income and the annuitization of available cash balance pension plan information. A low anticipated retirement income (all other Personal Characteristics being equal) will result in a lower equity allocation compared to an estimated retirement income that is considered medium or high.

Personalization based on retirement income and retirement savings is only available to Plan Participants we determine that we sufficient data to assess. Additionally, personalization of these Personal Characteristics will be removed if you add additional financial goals, enroll Vanguard Brokerage Accounts, disclose your tax filing status is married filing jointly or married filing single, or we have insufficient data. For Vanguard Brokerage Account clients or Plan Participants where personalization is not available then we will use defaults of normal and medium for retirement savings and retirement income, respectively.

Developing an asset allocation-Multiple Goal Strategy

After you enroll with a retirement goal, you can add additional financial goals, subject to the limitations described below. For each financial goal, you will need to provide a target date (when you want to reach your goal and withdraw funds for your goal) and the lump sum amount you need on that target date, to determine where a goal's asset allocation will be on your PGP. You can also add a multi-year education savings goal that allocates lump sum distributions over multiple goal target dates in a one-to-four-year period. For example, if you add a target goal amount of \$100,000 for an education savings goal over four years then your glidepath will be set for \$25,000 goal amounts over four goal target dates.

A financial goal PGP is created by leveraging VLCM, your goal amount, the goal's target date, your selected risk attitude, loss aversion, and spending duration. As a result, we generate additional financial goal PGPs. Currently, we assume that you plan to fund your managed financial goals completely from your Enrolled Accounts to set the financial goal PGPs.

Once you confirm the addition of a financial goal to your plan then we will determine a collective goal-weighted asset allocation across all goals (retirement and financial goals) based on each goal's individual PGP. Your taxable and IRA Enrolled Account balances as well as your planned future savings in those accounts are used to determine your target asset allocation and investment strategy across your Portfolio (referred to as weighted asset allocation glide path). As result of this logic any excess current balance is allocated toward longer term goals, like a retirement investment goal, which will allocate more assets to equities, in line with your risk attitude and Personal Characteristics. In contrast, if we project a shortfall based on your current balance and planned contributions then your balance will be allocated

conservatively (e.g., in bonds and short-term reserves) relative to your next goal target date unless your planned savings will offset for the shortfall.

As your life changes, each Service will allow you to update your retirement planning inputs, financial goal inputs, Personal Characteristics, and your risk attitude. When you enroll multiple accounts to support your goals, our collective portfolio-weighted asset allocation will be based on your managed balances and planned savings. We will rely on the information you provide in formulating our investment strategy for your overall Portfolio. Any inaccuracies in that information could affect our recommendations and our discretionary management of your Portfolio. When recommending, setting, and managing your asset allocation, we weigh "shortfall risk"— the possibility that a Portfolio will fail to meet longer-term financial goals— against "market risk," or the chance that your Portfolio's value will fluctuate based on the market's ups and downs.

An investment strategy that's too conservative raises the risk that inflation will erode the purchasing power of a long-term portfolio. Investment strategies for different goals may reflect different trade-offs between shortfall and market risk. Our investment strategy is currently designed for Clients that are seeking to invest their retirement savings and pool their assets to invest towards other financial goals. Appropriate asset allocations for retirement investment goals may range from 100% stock to 72% bonds. Appropriate asset allocations for financial goals may range from 100% stock to 100% cash. The objective of the retirement investment goal strategy is to build sufficient wealth to cover expected spending needs through retirement. This retirement investment strategy in isolation is not suitable for Clients seeking comprehensive retirement income advice. The objective of financial goals is to accumulate sufficient wealth to cover a Client's desired sum on their financial goal target date.

Diversifying the Portfolio asset allocation across a variety of sub-asset classes

We seek to provide adequate diversification within each asset class for all glide paths as deemed appropriate for the goal target date. We recommend investing across different market segments to ensure sub-asset class diversification. Addition, removal, or adjustment of sub- asset class exposures could occur based on continuing portfolio construction research performed by Vanguard or based on changes to your financial situation or investment objectives. Diversification does not ensure a profit or protect against a loss. See the "Securities recommendations and risk," "Risks associated with usage of an algorithm," and "Investment risks" sections of this brochure below for further discussion of risks.

Our equity methodology seeks to diversify across different market segments (e.g., domestic and international; large-, mid-, and small-capitalization; and growth and value as well as passive and active). While investing in equity securities can help grow your wealth over the long term, stock markets are also volatile, and you may lose money in a sharp downturn that can occur without warning. Our investment strategy will generally diversify the domestic and international stock positions across market capitalizations within those segments in similar proportion to their long- term market weight. In addition, we seek to balance growth and value investment styles when constructing a Portfolio and, if appropriate, active investment style. We examine the industry segments represented in the Portfolio to ensure the Portfolio isn't too heavily concentrated in one or more industry sectors, countries, or market segments.

Our bond methodology emphasizes broad diversification across the bond market, both domestic and international, and maintains an interest rate risk exposure in line with the broad bond market. Investments in bonds are subject to multiple risks, including interest rate, credit, and inflation risk. Diversification across the domestic and global bond markets, as well as across market segments, issuers, and the yield curve, helps mitigate these risks. Our investment strategy seeks to diversify across short-, intermediate-, and long-maturity bond funds and seeks to maintain an intermediate- term duration. An intermediate-term duration

generally means that your Portfolio stays in the middle of the spectrum when measuring its sensitivity to interest rate changes while maintaining exposure to all areas of the maturity range. We also recommend a broad exposure to investment- grade bond funds (both corporate and Treasury bonds). We seek to build a high-credit-quality Portfolio of bond funds, including funds that hold corporate, Treasury, agency, and mortgage- backed bonds. Bond portfolios may incorporate a mix of domestic and foreign bond funds. As with equities, we examine bond sector exposure to ensure a Portfolio isn't concentrated in a single segment, which could expose the Portfolio to a higher level of risk. Financial goal glide paths may include a strategic allocation to short- term reserves or cash equivalents relative to your goal target date, risk attitude, and loss aversion.

Regardless your risk attitude and other inputs, the glide path for a financial goal could be allocated to approximately 100% short-term reserves within 12 months of a goal target date. Depending on your tax bracket, we may use tax-exempt bond and money market funds for your taxable account(s). At the Portfolio level, rounding the collective goal-weighted asset allocation to the nearest whole percentage across all of your goal glide paths could result in a mix of bond and short-term investments available to meet financial goals in your taxable account. Additionally, if your target goal amount is materially smaller relative to the assets for other goals, it could result in 0% short-term reserve investments as you approach your goal target date. The consequences of holding cash equivalents over extended time periods include extremely high capital stability; very low volatility and expected nominal returns; and low real returns (with the possibility that cash may underperform inflation to create a negative nominal return). Thus, inflation can be a significant risk to an investor's Portfolio and ability to achieve their long-term goals. Retirement investment goals will not have strategic allocations to cash equivalents as part of their glide path.

Diverse investments, primarily consisting of low-cost Vanguard ETFs and Funds

After determining the overall asset mix and your stock, bond, and short-term reserves sub- allocations, our algorithm will recommend appropriate investments for your Portfolio. We approach fund selection with a long-term, buy-and-hold approach and discourage switching strategies based solely on recent performance. As you update your information on the Site, we will adjust your investment strategy and your glide path based on the new information. While updates like salary changes may not trigger immediate rebalancing of your portfolio, it is important to take this information into account in planning your long-term investment trajectory. On the other hand, updating your savings plan, changing your risk attitude or other key information would likely trigger an immediate rebalancing the next time we assess your account.

If you are enrolling an eligible account, you will also take a style assessment, also known as an active risk assessment, to determine your investing patience and active risk tolerance. For Enhanced Households, the results of the most recent active risk assessment, completed by either partner, will be deemed to represent the household's active risk preference. This investment setting will determine the specific investments used to achieve the target allocation determined by your PGP. Additionally, you should consider a willingness to pay higher advisory and investment fees before selecting the active/index investment option. Clients who enrolled Vanguard Brokerage Accounts prior to February 2023 are able to access the style assessment through the Profile and Settings section of the Site. Based on the results of your style assessment, we will make available an active/index or all-index investment options as appropriate. Additionally, we're planning to start a limited offering of an active/index investment strategy methodology within certain participant accounts on or about September 30, 2024. For the active/index portfolio, we use the proprietary Vanguard Asset Allocation Model ("VAAM") and the style assessment to map your preferences to an appropriate balance of actively managed and passive index investments. VAAM is a utility-based model that assesses risk and return trade-offs to arrive at optimal solutions relative to a client's risk tolerance. The style assessment informs a client's active risk tolerance by assessing their degree of

comfort with the additional volatility and the potential for over performance or underperformance that can come with actively managed products.

You should be aware that for retirement investment goals total market all-index investment settings, we implement an investment strategy founded in the same asset allocation that serves as the core of Vanguard's Target Retirement single mutual fund solutions; however, each Service will enable you to provide personalized inputs that align our investment strategy to your needs.

To attain the lead target allocations for index exposure within Vanguard Brokerage Accounts, we typically allocate the equity portion of the Portfolio to Vanguard Total Stock Market ETF and Vanguard Total International Stock Market ETF. The Vanguard Total Bond Market ETF and Vanguard Total International Bond ETF typically will be core index holdings within Vanguard Brokerage Account fixed income allocations and maintain an intermediate-term duration. When short-term reserves/cash is recommended as part of the strategic asset allocation target for financial goals, the Vanguard Cash Reserves Federal Money Market Fund will be used, subject to determination of your tax bracket. The Vanguard Federal Money Market Fund or a VMC provided bank sweep service serve as the settlement fund options for Vanguard Brokerage Accounts regardless of your tax bracket.

To attain the lead target allocations for the active/index mix within Vanguard Brokerage Accounts, investments selected combine the broad diversification of the index investments with six Vanguard actively managed equity and fixed income funds that each seek to outperform their respective market benchmarks. These active investments present additional manager selection, concentration and non-diversification risks detailed in the Investment Risks section below.

The investments used to attain your target allocations are subject to any permitted elections, customizations, or preferences. Different Vanguard funds than the standard funds listed above could be used to achieve your target asset allocation depending on the specific accounts you enroll and any existing investments in order optimize your Portfolio for tax efficiency. To attain the lead target allocations for Participant Accounts, we will recommend an allocation between investments available in the applicable plan lineup that align with our investment strategy. However, for all Clients we may reallocate holdings among different Vanguard Funds and collective investment trusts and other investments as we periodically reassess the most appropriate investments to achieve the targeted asset allocation and sub-allocations.

Investment recommendations generated for Participants in eligible employer-sponsored retirement plans will recommend an allocation based on the investment options selected by the plan fiduciary as the plan lineup and will typically recommend a combination of specific Vanguard Funds or affiliated collective investment trusts based on their low cost and broad diversification for all-index investment strategies, if available in the eligible employer-sponsored retirement plan. For active/index investment strategies within Plan Participant Accounts, active funds in the fund lineup are analyzed using quantitative (e.g. expense ratio or portfolio turnover) and qualitative (e.g. investment firm stability) assessment. We then utilize VAAM to optimize allocations between active and passive funds within asset and sub-asset classes in order to determine appropriate investment recommendations for a plan participant's target asset allocation and the results of the investment style assessment.

While our lead portfolio recommendation is to be globally diversified across equity and fixed income asset classes, if your plan fiduciary does not offer a currency-hedged international fixed income index fund or comprehensive international equity exposure, we will use a US aggregate bond index fund for fixed income asset allocation exposure or developed equity investments, and we will construct your Portfolio using a US aggregate bond index fund or developed equity investments, respectively. By enrolling a Participant Account, you will be directing us to apply our asset allocation methodology to invest in funds

offered in your plan's lineup as it exists today and as that lineup may be changed by your plan fiduciary in the future. Availability of investment strategy options within your plan will be dependent on the plan lineup composition.

Although our lead recommendation is to invest in a diversified Portfolio, certain plan fiduciaries may elect to accommodate company stock holdings (a single stock or single stock fund) already held in Participant Accounts up to a limited amount. This limitation may not exceed 10% of the total equity exposure in company stock in a Portfolio unless a company match is available in an all-index investment setting. If your company stock holdings exceed the accommodation limit, then your company stock holdings will need to be sold down subject to plan rules. You will need to choose to sell down your company stock holdings to your desired amount. The proportion of company stock relative to your total equity exposure that you request to hold will fluctuate over time due to market movements. We will not buy additional company stock to maintain a particular percentage, nor will we sell company stock to maintain a particular percentage (unless exceeding the accommodation limitation). Company stock may represent more than 10% of the total equity exposure in your Portfolio due to market movements if your Portfolio is not otherwise outside of our guardrails. In an active/index plan participant account, Company stock remains constrained to 10% of the equity target allocation but could deviate based on a risk assessment of the company stock attributes. Additionally, the existence of company stock will not impact the optimized balance of active exposure in your portfolio, however, the passive mix of stocks and bonds will be adjusted within +/- 5% of your target allocation.

Currently active/index investment settings are not available if you enroll both Vanguard Brokerage Accounts and Plan Participant Accounts in the Service. You should carefully weigh your preference for an investment strategy that seeks outperformance compared to the value of enrolling additional accounts.

When analyzing the asset and sub-asset allocation of securities that may be held in a Portfolio (including any securities held as a result of a customizations), we'll rely on Vanguard's asset classification assessments based partially on information received from third-party data providers to categorize these investments. In its discretion, VAI may vary the methodologies used to assess and set the asset classifications of securities based on data availability and to ensure that portfolios are constructed in accordance with our investment philosophy.

Considering tax efficiency in allocating assets

For Portfolios containing both taxable and tax-advantaged accounts, our investment strategy will aim to optimize the tax efficiency of the Portfolio by recommending or allocating investments strategically among taxable and tax-advantaged accounts. Additionally, if your Participant Accounts have multiple tax types or funding sources (i.e. pre-tax, after-tax, or Roth), then we will also seek to allocate future contributions to optimize tax efficiency. Certain employer-plan contribution hierarchy rules prevent optimizing future contributions for certain participants. The objective of this "asset location" approach is to hold relatively tax-efficient investments, such as broad-market stock index products, in taxable accounts while keeping relatively tax-inefficient investments, such as taxable bonds and active equity funds, in tax-advantaged accounts.

We will attempt to construct your Portfolio to fulfill your fixed income allocation in tax-advantaged accounts. This methodology does not preclude the purchase of taxable bonds outside of tax-advantaged accounts, but rather favors the placement of such investments into tax-advantaged accounts when possible. If it becomes necessary to hold bonds in a taxable account, tax-exempt municipal bond funds may be used depending on your tax bracket. For active/index investment settings, active equity funds allocations in your tax-advantaged accounts are subject to remaining capacity after

your Portfolio's target bond allocation has been fulfilled in those accounts. For Enhanced Households, asset location will be applied collectively at the Portfolio level without regard to account registration and marital status.

If your financial goal target date is seven years or less, then we will likely recommend holding bond or cash asset allocations within a taxable account or tax deferred account, depending on your goal target date, to minimize the impact of market volatility on an upcoming funding need for your financial goals. When you are ready to withdrawal for your financial goal, generally we recommend spending from taxable accounts prior to IRAs to limit tax impact.

The Services will attempt to be more tax efficient and reduce the number of wash sales you could experience in your Portfolio of recommended Vanguard Funds in certain scenarios. You can consult Appendix A to the Client Agreement between you and VAI for the complete list of funds that may be purchased. A wash sale occurs when a taxpayer sells a security at a loss and has purchased or purchases the same security, or a substantially similar security, over a 61- calendar day period (the 30 days before the sale and the 30 days after sale). Trades that occur in your accounts (or a spouse's) not managed by the Services could also result in a wash sale. For Enhanced Households, wash sale logic will be applied to both partners as if those partners are married spouses and jointly subject to the wash sale rule, regardless of actual marital status.

The effects of a purchase in a taxable account that leads to a wash sale may only be temporary, as you are permitted to add the loss from the sale to the cost basis of the security purchased, and the holding period of the security sold will also be added to the holding period of the purchased security. A purchase in a tax-advantaged account leading to a wash sale, though, will cause you to permanently lose the ability to claim the original loss. If a wash sale occurs, the IRS may disallow or defer the loss for current tax reporting purposes. For more information on the wash sale rule, consult the IRS website or your tax advisor.

Where you previously sold a Vanguard Fund at a loss (that would otherwise be recommended for purchase by the Service) in an Enrolled taxable Vanguard Brokerage Account in the Portfolio within the prior 30 days, we will, where necessary and appropriate, recommend the purchase of an alternate Vanguard Fund (a "surrogate Vanguard fund") if such purchase is planned to take place in an Enrolled taxable or IRA Vanguard Brokerage Account in the Portfolio and if the Service would have otherwise recommended a repurchase of the same Vanguard Fund that was originally sold at a loss. By recommending the purchase of a surrogate Vanguard Fund, we are attempting to mitigate the circumstances when you will experience a wash sale in your Portfolio.

If you previously purchased a Vanguard fund in an Enrolled taxable or IRA Vanguard Brokerage Account in the Portfolio and we recommend the sale of a security within the same asset or sub- asset class within 30 days of such purchase, we will, where necessary and appropriate, attempt to sell another holding in lieu of selling the recently purchased Vanguard Fund if such sale is planned to take place in an advised taxable account and would result in a loss. By attempting to avoid the sale of the recently purchased Vanguard Funds, we are attempting to mitigate the circumstances when you will experience a wash sale in your Portfolio.

There are several limitations on our ability to perform Vanguard fund transactions in a Portfolio in a manner that attempts to reduce the number of wash sales:

• If you have enrolled Participant Accounts in addition to Vanguard Brokerage Accounts, we will not attempt to reduce the number of wash sales due to limitations on our ability to monitor described in more detail below.

- We will only monitor for wash sale compliance in Enrolled taxable or IRA Vanguard
 Brokerage Accounts that are part of a Portfolio governed by the same Service
 Agreement. Any accounts you include on the Site solely for forecasting or modelling will
 not be monitored.
- If your spouse or partner is separately enrolled in a Service we are not able to monitor those accounts collectively with yours.
- We are not currently able to monitor the transaction history in any employer-sponsored retirement plan accounts, including enrolled Participant Accounts. This means that we will not look at any recent activity performed in an Enrolled Participant Account in determining whether to sell a Vanguard Fund in an advised taxable account at a loss. Further, we will not recommend the purchase of a surrogate Vanguard Fund in your enrolled Participant Account where you recently sold a Vanguard Fund in an Enrolled Vanguard Brokerage Account at a loss.
- We will not seek to avoid wash sales in situations where you previously instructed us to sell
 a particular Vanguard Fund in order to customize your Portfolio for your investment
 setting.
- We will not seek to avoid wash sales when we are attempting to locate investments in account types that are appropriate for that security type (see the section entitled "Portfolio Rebalancing" for more information).
- We will not seek to avoid wash sales in situations where the only alternative to a wash sale is to sell another holding at a taxable gain.
- We will not seek to avoid wash sales in situations where we are required to transact to maintain your target asset allocation and the only Vanguard Fund available for sale will cause a wash sale.

While the avoidance of wash sales provides tax benefits for you, some of the surrogate Vanguard Funds have higher expense ratios than the lead Vanguard funds we normally recommend. Further, the underlying securities owned by the surrogate Vanguard funds are different from the holdings of the typically recommended Vanguard Funds for your investment setting, which introduces some tracking error into your Portfolio. We will modify our approach to tax-efficient investing based on continuing portfolio construction research performed by the Vanguard Investment Strategy Group and Vanguard Enterprise Advice Group or relevant changes in tax laws.

Multi-goal Limitations

You can plan and used Enrolled Account assets to invest towards a financial goal with a single goal target date or certain multi-year target date goals (i.e. education goals) that is at least eighteen months from the day you add the goal to your plan. Additionally, on or about July 9, 2024, you will be able to include goals less than eighteen months in your plan subject to certain limitations. Goals are presumed to be managed unless you set a target goal date prior to 59 ½ and do not have any Enrolled taxable Accounts or you link a self-directed education savings account to an education goal.

You can plan and manage towards financial goals using individual retirement account ("IRA") assets. Once you turn 59 ½, you can withdraw from your retirement accounts (IRA, 401[k], 403[b], etc.) without tax penalties. Because of this, investors over 59 ½ may benefit from using money from these accounts to fund goals other than retirement. However, at this time, we only consider your IRA assets to help fund financial goals other than retirement after this age. Other employer sponsored retirement accounts (e.g. 401[k] or 403 [b]) are currently only included in retirement savings projections and glidepaths. Given certain simplifying assumptions for inherited IRAs, these accounts could be invested more aggressively than a taxable account would for the same target date and bonds or cash equivalents could be allocated

to other accounts with withdrawal penalty on your goal date.

You should keep in mind that using your IRA assets to fund new financial goals will impact your likelihood of successfully saving for your retirement, including how those savings are invested. This means the financial goal target dates you set after 59 ½ will result in the corresponding goal amounts being invested in accordance with a financial goal PGP rather than the retirement savings PGP. Additionally, if your goal is flexible or aspirational, or you don't want to commit cash or invest your tax advantaged investment accounts more conservatively than your retirement PGP, you may want to consider the goal as an expense as part of planning rather than a financial goal to avoid impacting your longer-term goals like retirement savings. Also, if you are thinking about a goal amount that is relativity small compared to your total portfolio that could also be better suited as an expense.

Inherited traditional and Roth IRA accounts have contribution limitations and withdrawal requirements that will impact the investment and availability of funds towards your goals. As described below, certain simplifying assumptions are made regarding these requirements. You should consult a tax advisor if you have questions regarding your specific account.

Portfolio Rebalancing

On each day that the markets are open for trading, we will typically look to assess Portfolios for whether a rebalancing opportunity exists consistent with our investment strategy and the following criteria ("Rebalance"). Under normal circumstances, if any asset class (stocks, bonds, or cash) is off the target asset allocation by more than 5%, the Portfolio will be rebalanced to its target allocations (asset and sub-asset) or, in the future, within allowable guardrails pending embedded tax cost.

Additionally, we will check to see if the target asset allocation has changed as prescribed by our investment strategy, as applicable. For Participant Accounts, your future contribution allocation will be rebalanced to your target asset allocation. For cash equivalent positions in the Portfolio, rebalancing for Vanguard Brokerage Accounts will only occur if there are sufficient funds to purchase whole shares of the required ETFs, subject to the implementation of fractional share trading described below. If your plan includes multiple goals then we will calculate and use an overall weighted asset allocation to rebalance the Portfolio, if needed, based on whether the current asset allocation is off from the weighted target asset allocation for all of your goals collectively by +/-5%. Additionally, if your plan includes financial goal target dates prior to age 59 ½ and your taxable account asset allocation is off its target asset allocation by +/-5%, a rebalance will occur.

As a result of additional rebalancing checks for Portfolios with multiple goals, it is likely that rebalancing will be more frequent. However, controls have been put into place to limit Rebalances by rounding bond and short-term reserve allocations based on your collective goal- weighted asset allocation. Bond allocations at the Portfolio level will be rounded up and short-term reserve allocations will be rounded down. Each Service will monitor the assets in your settlement fund(s) in these accounts and will look for opportunities to put them to work in accordance with our investment strategy. Balances may remain in your settlement fund in Vanguard Brokerage Accounts for an extended period of time, generally less than \$50. An additional rebalance trigger is in place to monitor for balances in excess of \$300 in the settlement fund. VAI will start to implement new brokerage trading practices in August 2024 that are expected to lower these balances over time when rebalances are triggered.

In certain situations, additional amounts may be added to Participant Accounts in accordance with plan rules (for example, as a result of dividends or rebates from investments held in your account prior to enrollment). We will sell down these investments and rebalance to the target allocation, as described above as soon as administratively feasible, with the exception of situations where the quantity is less

than one full share.

VAI reserves the right to abstain from assessments on a given day for technical or market infrastructure reasons. For example, if your Vanguard Brokerage Account is on hold or in a restricted status, for any reason, including waiting for confirmation of an address change or other client identification information then we will not be able to assess your Portfolio. In the event that your Vanguard Brokerage Account(s) remains on hold or restricted for longer than 45 days then those accounts will be un-enrolled, unless you have responded to communications that you are taking action to remove the restriction. If your ability to bear risk, your investment time horizon, your financial situation, or your overall investment objectives change, you should update your information on the Site so that we can take these considerations into account when reviewing your asset allocation target. We won't change the recommended asset allocation based on current or prevailing market conditions, but changes to your Personal Characteristics and goal inputs may warrant a change in our recommended asset allocation in order to align with your financial goals if your resulting PGP shifts beyond guardrails.

Investing Risk

Although our investment strategy is designed to be prudent and diversified, please remember that all investments, including mutual funds, ETFs, and collective investment trusts involve some risk, including possible loss of principal. Be aware that fluctuations in the financial markets and other factors may cause declines in the value of your account(s). There's no guarantee that any particular asset allocation or mix of funds will meet your investment objectives or provide you with a given level of income. We make investment recommendations using historical information. There's no guarantee that an investment strategy based upon historical information will meet your investment objectives, provide you with a given level of income, or protect against loss, particularly when future market conditions are drastically different from the information used to create your strategy. Diversification doesn't ensure a profit or protect against a loss. There's no assurance that you'll achieve positive investment results by using our service. We can't guarantee the future performance of your investments. Please consult a fund's prospectus or plan disclosures for more information about fund or investment specific risks. You should carefully consider all of your options before enrolling or acting upon any advice you receive.

Customizations

Depending on the account types that you enroll, you may have the option to customize or personalize the management of your Portfolio. Regardless of the customization, we require that your Portfolio remain diversified by asset class and within each asset class to ensure that no single security or class of securities will impose an unreasonable level of risk. If we believe that the customizations are inappropriate for you, we reserve the right to modify the customization accordingly. When requesting that we manage your Enrolled Accounts, you'll have the ability to impose these reasonable customizations to the management of your Portfolio by personalizing the inputs into your retirement investment goal beyond standardized defaults to create your Personalized Glide Path.

Smart Sell down (tax efficient rebalancing)

Subject to eligibility screening at the time of enrollment as well as an ongoing breakeven analysis, you will be permitted to retain investments purchased prior to enrollment that differ from our lead advice recommendation. In particular for assets held in taxable brokerage accounts, if you hold securities at enrollment that provide a portion of the target asset allocation then you will be permitted to retain those securities subject to a breakeven analysis. Although these securities are only retained if they meet a target asset allocation, their investment strategies may present different risks, diversification, liquidity, and performance than our lead advice recommendations. For example, a large-cap value active fund could be retained to satisfy that portion of your target asset allocation subject to the breakeven analysis even if you selected a total market all-index portfolio option. To the

extent a non-Vanguard investment is retained in your Portfolio after enrollment it will reduce the typical net advisory fee credit described above.

Specialized Portfolio ESG Investment Setting

For Enrolled Brokerage Accounts, you may elect to an investment setting (also referred to as "specialized portfolio") that substitutes ETF investments whose investments strategy is to apply prescreened ESG criteria based on your personal preference ("ESG investment option") to meet the U.S and international equity as well as the U.S. domestic bond exposure for your target asset allocation. In order to maintain diversified asset allocation, electing an ESG investment option includes non-ESG ETF investments. Vanguard Total International Bond ETF will remain the recommended international bond exposure in your portfolio as an adequate ESG ETF equivalent for this asset class that meets VAI's investment strategy criteria has not yet been determined as available. Additionally, we may also use other non-ESG treasury funds to mirror the duration of our lead total market portfolio construction methodology (i.e., Vanguard Short-Term Treasury ETF (VSGH) and Vanguard Intermediate-Term Treasury ETF (VGIT)). These non-ESG investments are referred to as completion holdings.

Finally, depending on your goals and how close you are to your goal target dates, your ESG Portfolio may also include a money market fund to help minimize investment risk. If you elect the ESG investment option then the Service will substitute certain Vanguard ESG (environmental, social, and governance) ETFs: ESG U.S. Stock ETF (ESGV), ESG International Stock ETF (VSGX), and ESG U.S. Corporate Bond ETF (VCEB) to help achieve your target asset allocation within enrolled Vanguard Brokerage Accounts. Each of these ETFs track indices that are pre-screened to exclude certain companies based on specific environmental, social, and governance criteria. The exclusionary screening methodology is determined by each ETF's third- party index provider. There is the chance that the stocks or bonds screened by the index provider for ESG criteria generally will underperform the market as a whole or, in the aggregate, will trail returns of other funds screened for ESG criteria. The index provider's assessment of a company, based on the company's level of involvement in a particular industry or the index provider's own ESG criteria, may differ from that of other funds or of the advisor's or an investor's assessment of such company. As a result, the companies deemed eligible each ESG ETF's index provider may not reflect the beliefs and values of any particular investor and may not exhibit positive or favorable ESG characteristics. VAI does not have an ability to influence the proxy voting or corporate engagement for ETFs within the ESG investment option.

The ESG investment option will apply to the Vanguard Brokerage Accounts. The investment options available through your Participant Account will be determined by your employer and typically don't offer access to the Vanguard ESG ETFs used in the ESG investment option.

Once you elect the ESG investment option, we will seek to promptly rebalance your investments by selling non-ESG holdings and buying the corresponding ESG funds (and any related non-ESG completion holdings listed above) to invest towards your target asset allocation. We will not apply the smart sell down methodology described above and prioritize your election over tax efficiency. This could result in realization of capital gains or losses.

If you elect to revert to a standard portfolio after electing an ESG investment option, then we will seek to utilize smart sell down methodology to rebalance your Portfolio. As result you may continue to hold ESG funds subject to the break-even analysis described above.

Company Stock

Participants may, if the option is permitted by your plan fiduciary, request to hold company stock in a Participant Account (a single stock) if it was obtained prior to enrollment.

Restrictions on company stock holdings are subject to the policies outlined under the subheading "Diverse investments, primarily consisting of low-cost Vanguard ETFs and Funds". Additionally, a plan fiduciary may request asset allocation modifications to require a minimum fixed income allocation as a reasonable restriction for Participants enrolled by the plan fiduciary. These restrictions do not apply once a Participant enrolls directly into a Service.

Automated tax loss harvesting

The Services offer a tax loss harvesting service ("TLH Service") election for taxable individual and joint brokerage accounts. TLH involves selling a security at a loss and purchasing another security to maintain your asset allocation. Depending on your personal circumstances, a TLH strategy can add value in the form of reduced taxes when harvested losses are used to lower your tax bill and potentially grow your savings if you are able to reinvest those tax savings. For Enhanced Households the TLH Service applies to all eligible Enrolled Accounts in the Portfolio.

However, before electing the TLH Service, you should consult with your tax advisor to discuss any concerns related to your participation in the TLH Service or consult your tax preparation software in light of your particular circumstances and their impact on your individual tax return. In order to elect the TLH Service you must consent to the Tax Loss Harvesting Addendum to the Agreement ("Addendum") on the Site at https://personal.vanguard.com/pdf/vanguard-discretionary-advice-Tax-loss-harvesting- addendum.pdf. You should carefully consider the TLH Service description on the Site and in the related disclosures in the Addendum including the TLH Service's risks and limitations prior to electing the TLH Service.

Certain investments that you may request such as holding individual stocks may not offer the same degree of diversification, liquidity, or performance consistency that may be available with the Vanguard Funds we normally recommend.

Risks associated with usage of an algorithm

Our proprietary algorithms are based on Vanguard's market assumptions and analysis. The algorithms don't consider prevailing market conditions when making recommendations to you. While we have standards governing the development, testing, and monitoring of our algorithms, there is a risk that the algorithms and associated software may not perform as intended for various reasons, including unintended consequences due to modifying the algorithms or underlying software code.

The United States Securities and Exchange Commission has provided further information for investors to consider when engaging digital advice services. The guidance can be found at investor.gov/additional-resources/news-alerts/alerts-bulletins/investor- bulletin- robo- advisers.

Goals forecasting – Retirement Investment inputs

We will also provide projections to help you assess your ability to achieve your personalized financial goals. In assisting you with projecting your potential success of accumulating a sufficient amount of savings in order to meet your projected expenses in retirement, each Service will ask you about 1) your annual contribution amounts, 2) your projected retirement income or spending needs, and 3) an age range when you plan to retire ("Retirement Investment Inputs"). In order to help you to explore combinations of the Retirement Investment Inputs, the Site will allow you to explore forecasts that leverage different combinations of the Retirement Investment Inputs. You will have an option to vary any of the Retirement Investment Inputs to see different forecasts using a projection visualization in the Site. Additionally, both taxable and taxadvantaged accounts are projected to pool towards funding retirement savings subject to setting any other financial goals.

Goals forecasting – financial goal inputs

When you start planning a new financial goal, each Service will ask you when you want to reach your goal and how much money you need for your goal. Pooling of a particular accounts funds towards a particular goal will depend on the goal target date. Goals prior to age 59 ½ are projected only using taxable accounts. Additionally, currently only IRA accounts will be considered as fungible for projecting financial goals (other than retirement savings) after 59 ½. The foregoing does not apply to inherited IRA accounts.

If you plan financial goals using self-managed accounts as the funding source those goals are incorporated for purposes of forecasting only (subject to the limitations detailed below) and that information will not impact your investments. Using the self-managed accounts, you connected as well as managed accounts to project your retirement goal, you can use the interactive forecast to model how increasing your savings in your taxable accounts could impact the likelihood of success of achieving your financial goal as well as project potential impact on your retirement goal. Each Service's multiple goal projection forecast seeks to visualize tradeoffs and interdependency of goal choices. Goals are projected to be funded based on the order in which they are due, and funding should be available within a year of the goal target date to conservatively provide early liquidity and minimizing volatility as a goal approaches distribution. For financial goals, managed and self-managed accounts will be included as available assets to fund goals and provide goal projections for goal success rates based on pooling all accounts.

Assumptions about non-Portfolio accounts in goals forecasting

For prospective Clients without an existing Enrolled Account, we will make a default assumption that the amount you enter for your retirement savings is taxable for purposes of providing you an initial goal forecast if we are unable to determine the account type associated with the contributions and balances you input to avoid overstating financial projections until we learn more about you and your accounts.

You will also have the option to add balances of accounts held outside of the Portfolio (including other Vanguard accounts) into goals forecasting, but not enroll those accounts. If you wish you can obtain a more holistic projection of your potential goal success by including these self- managed assets, however, there will be additional assumptions, see below, made about self- managed accounts that limit the quality of the hypothetical forecasts. In particular, all taxable (managed and self-managed) accounts aligned with your retirement goal will be assumed to be available for custom goals for purposes of goal projections. All taxable savings and balances will be treated as fungible assets that can be applied toward custom goals. However, our investment strategy assumes financial goals are 100% funded using only your Enrolled Accounts. As a result, your funding status could be overstated if your projections include self-managed and managed accounts. However, if you link self-managed education account to an education financial goal or plan financial goals prior to age 59 ½ without enrolling a taxable account then these goals are assumed to be self-managed (not impacting your recommended investment strategy).

We will use the same index returns noted in the section below entitled "Goals forecasting – projected success rates" for the forecasting model to project your likelihood of success based on both outside accounts and accounts held in the Portfolio (or projected to be held in the Portfolio as part of the goal forecasting). If your accounts held outside the Portfolio (either at Vanguard or at another financial institution) aren't invested in a similar manner as the Portfolio, your actual investment results may vary significantly from our likelihood of success projections. A variance in the actual asset allocation of your accounts held outside of the Portfolio could significantly impact your likelihood of reaching a goal within the indicated time frame and with the exception of the account balance, such a variance would not be reflected in the projections. As with any other self- managed account included in your goal plan, we assume your education savings has the same asset allocation and glidepath as the accounts that the

Service manages. As a result, the projections could be more aggressive compared to the actual investments within your education savings account.

If your goals are forecasted using accounts held outside of the Portfolio (including other Vanguard accounts), the projections are calculated based solely on the information that you provide us with respect to the dollar amount of securities held in those accounts and your rate of contributions to those accounts. You may provide us with such information manually or through the usage of certain third-party financial data aggregation services. We will continue to rely upon the information you provide for as long as your goals are supported by such accounts. We will not independently verify or update this information. You are responsible for the accuracy of the information you provide whether manually or through third-party services. You may update the dollar amount of securities in accounts held outside of the Portfolio and your rate of contributions within the Site or by authorizing a third-party financial data aggregation service to refresh the data. The Services do not take this information about non- Portfolio accounts into account to manage your asset allocation and recommend investments for your Portfolio.

Limitations to incorporate spousal or partner information into projections

Subject to availability, you will be able to incorporate a spouse or partner's retirement age, investment accounts, savings amounts, and planning horizon into goal projections for a more complete household forecast. Any spouse or partner accounts you tell us about are not able to be managed by Vanguard as part of your enrollment unless you elect the Enhanced Household Service.

If your projections do not include spousal or partner information, a few key limitations to the projections could occur. In particular, the projections account for the spending needs using a single life expectancy (assumed life expectancy is 100 unless you chose to modify it) as a result your retirement goal and any related spending projections and recommendations could be overstated if your spouse or partner has a materially longer life expectancy. Also, if you are not able to include your partner's individual investment accounts that could be available to fund your goals, your projections will not include those household assets. As a result, the goal projections, including retirement spending recommendations, will likely understate the likelihood of meeting your goals if your full household expenses or household goal amounts are input, but the projections are missing assets or income that could help fund those goals.

Special assumptions for education savings accounts

The projections assume that all education savings accounts are 529 plans subject to a 10% penalty on earnings if used for something other than qualified higher-education expenses. Other account types, such as Coverdell Education Savings Accounts, have differing tax structures not accounted for in the projections. Additionally, the projections do not account for contribution limitations or state specific education savings account limitations or advantages.

If an education savings account is linked to a specific education goal, any savings you enter for that account are assumed to start on the date entered and end at the education goal date (for multiduration goals savings are assumed to end the first year of your target goal end dates) or your retirement date, whichever is earlier. Any adjustments to your linked education goal target date will modify the savings assumptions for your education savings account.

If an education savings account is included in your plan, but not linked to an education savings goal then future contributions are assumed to start on the date entered and end at your retirement date (similar to the assumptions made for other accounts).

As with any other self-managed account included in your goal planning, we assume your education savings has the same asset allocation and glidepath as the accounts that the Service manages. As a result, the projections could be more aggressive compared to the actual investments within your education savings account.

Goals Forecasting – projected success rates

To cover a broad range of outcomes, the Services' forecasts will generate 10,000 scenarios to measure your likelihood of success of reaching your goals. Projections use forecasted index returns for equities, bonds, and cash, which are used to represent the hypothetical returns of the asset classes in your Portfolio (or potential portfolio for Clients who have not yet enrolled).

These forecasted index returns as well as inflation rates are provided through the Vanguard Capital Markets Model® ("VCMM"), developed by the Vanguard Investment Strategy Group, which is discussed in more detail later. Projections are based upon the account types and the balances of those accounts that you include in your goal planning. You may elect, in your discretion, whether to use the interactive tools to model only Enrolled Accounts or also accounts held outside of your enrolled Portfolio which could introduce additional imprecision into the model. This election is made by selecting the accounts that are connected to all of your goals and cannot be modified at the individual goal level. Our goals forecasting model uses the same index returns to represent estimated returns of the asset classes in all of your accounts supporting your goals in your Portfolio.

For Digital Advisor, index returns for fixed income and equity products are reduced by 0.30% annually, and index returns for money market/cash/short-term reserves are reduced by 0.26% annually to account for hypothetical expenses and advisory fees. For Personal Advisor, index returns for fixed income and equity products are reduced by 0.45% annually, and index returns for money market/cash/short-term reserves are reduced by 0.41% annually to account for hypothetical expenses and advisory fees.

Because our forecasting model uses index returns it does not use actual returns of specific investments held within your accounts. The forecasting model is based on your projected target asset allocation, which does not differ if you elect a specialized portfolio. We do not calculate the tax consequences of rebalancing the accounts each year to maintain the target asset allocation. For clients with taxable accounts, we apply asset location logic when modeling returns. Inflation is modeled based on historical data (Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U) from 1960 through the most recent yearend and simulated going forward.

The likelihood of success projections for your goals do not attempt to predict or portray the future performance of any securities held in accounts supporting your goals rather they are market projections aligned with your expected asset allocations. The forecasts are hypothetical projections based on statistical modeling of current and historical data. They aren't a guarantee of future results or a guarantee of the success rate of the simulated outcomes. Although we believe that the forecasts may reasonably project your likelihood of reaching your goals as supported by accounts invested in a diversified portfolio of Vanguard Funds or collective investment trusts, such projections may not correlate well to other assets held by you in any accounts that are not invested in accordance with our lead advice methodology. Accordingly, your actual investment results may vary significantly from our projections.

We also project your lifetime cash flows—inflows from investment income and other sources and outflows from spending—to assess whether your investments can adequately support your retirement income needs over your lifetime as well as your financial goals, as applicable. We evaluate many factors in assessing

your current and future cash flows and make certain corresponding assumptions, including:

- Projected and known expenses, including annual living expenses and other periodic expenses identified by you.
- The impact of adjusting your annual living expenses based on inflation projections as forecasted by our internal Vanguard Capital Markets Model (VCMM).
- Projected income, including employment, Social Security, pension, and income from investments.
- Funding financial goals required by the beginning of the year of the goal target date.
- Current contributions are assumed to continue until retirement. When you confirm your retirement, your pre-retirement spending and income information is removed, and your projections are updated accordingly. If your circumstances change and you go back to work, you can only return to pre-retired status by unenrolling and reenrolling your accounts.
- Contributions to your retirement accounts will end at retirement while those to taxable accounts will continue unless you tell us otherwise. If that's not the case, projections of success toward reaching your goals could be overstated.
- Projected savings are for an entire year, and any contributions already made during the year will be adjusted against the projected savings amount. Your projections update when changes to your employee or employer contributions become effective subject to managed employer plan contributions and limits, as well as other plan design considerations, when that information is available to the Services.
- The impact of variables, such as inflation and income taxes.
- The impact of different market scenarios on the rates of return used to project the likelihood of success of reaching your retirement goal.
- If you indicate that you are taking a partial withdraw related to a specific financial goal, the goal target amount will be reduced. For multi-year education goals, as those withdrawals are taken, the annual "goal target" is decremented with any remaining amount rolling over into the subsequent year's goal target amount. Any excess withdrawal amounts in the current year beyond the goal target are assumed to not impact the planned future years "goal target" amounts.
- For both traditional and ROTH inherited IRAs we assume an RMD drawdown schedule
 of 10% the projected balance each year. Note: your actual RMD requirements will differ
 from our assumptions and we will not take into account withdrawal deadlines beyond
 this 10% withdrawal rate.

Depending on the onboarding track you select for the Site, certain default assumptions (i.e., Social Security income estimates) are included as a starting point for your projections. For example in Digital Advisor, unless you've selected a different option, we will estimate your Social Security benefit assuming you begin receiving benefits at the initial retirement age you selected. You can adjust this by using the Social Security tools available when you edit the estimate. Partners included as a part of a basic or enhanced household do not have access to the social security estimation tools. Additional details about the assumptions used in the projections can be found in the "Learn more about your projections -- Your Goal Outlook" section of the Site, including additional limitations of the projections.

We simulate your expected inflows and outflows each year through your expected planning horizon, and using each individual scenario's unique forecasted return and inflation assumptions, we project your likelihood of reaching your retirement goal as well as your non-retirement investment goals, as applicable. As part of your projected outflows, the Services forecast your annual expenses based on our inflation projections and does not factor in market appreciation or depreciation. Additionally, after your planned retirement age, any projected spending shortfall is assumed to be taken from your non-retirement assets to

make up the difference. Additionally, any surplus is assumed to be consumed in the year it occurs rather than reinvested. For Clients that identify as retired, each Service will provide details of your income and spending projections for the next five years based on these assumptions. In projecting the asset allocation for multiple goals, the forecast allocates funding to goals in the order in which they are due. If two goals are planned for the same goal target date, then funding is projected to be allocated to the goal with the lowest dollar amount. Multi-goal projections also assume funding should be available at the beginning of the year of your goal target date to conservatively provide early liquidity and minimizing volatility as a goal approaches distribution.

The overall likelihood of success measure for your retirement goal represents the percentage of the 10,000 hypothetical scenarios in which your balance in your accounts is above zero at the end of the planning horizon you select as part of the goal planning. For the retirement goal, we assume a time horizon for retirement (time in retirement) of age 100 unless you input a different age. In other words, our projections represent the percentage of hypothetical scenarios in which the accounts supporting your retirement goal have at least a \$1 balance remaining as of your 100th birthday. The overall likelihood of success measure for your financial goal represents the percentage of the 10,000 hypothetical scenarios in which the balance in your accounts available to fund the goal more than or equal to the target goal amount you indicated.

Index Benchmarks used in the projections

The returns used in the projections for your goals are based on the following historical index data:

- We use historical index data for U.S. bond market returns to forecast future bond market returns correlated with your expected bond allocation. For U.S. bond market returns, we use the Barclays U.S. Aggregate Bond Index. For municipal bond returns, a 20% haircut is applied to index returns.
- We use historical index data for U.S. short-term reserve returns to forecast future short-term reserve market returns correlated with your expected short-term reserve allocation. We calculate U.S. short-term reserves returns on the basis of 3-month constant-maturity yields dating back to 1960, also provided in the Federal Reserve's Statistical Release H.15.

We use historical index data for U.S. stock market returns to forecast future equity market returns correlated with your expected equity allocation. For U.S. stock market returns, we use the MSCI US Broad Market Index. For international stock market returns, we use the MSCI All Country World ex USA Index. While we recommend that you invest a portion of your equity and bond allocations in securities with international exposure as part of our lead investment recommendation, the projections do not use historical index data for international bond market returns when forecasting your goal(s) because of the lack of long-term international benchmark data. Additionally, if your Portfolio contains investments that deviate from an investment allocation that does not seek to track the market (see Customizations above) or you elect to include accounts held outside of the Portfolio (including other Vanguard accounts) the historical index data we use to forecast the stock and bond markets and the expected asset allocations will differ from your actual investment exposure. As a result, to the extent your investments deviate from diversified market exposure (including more concentrated exposure or a specialized investment setting) your actual experience will be less correlated with the market forecasts in the goal projections.

Vanguard Capital Markets Model ("VCMM")

VCMM is a proprietary, state-of-the-art, financial simulation tool developed and maintained by the Vanguard Investment Strategy Group. The VCMM uses a statistical analysis of historical data for interest rates, inflation, and other risk factors for global equities, fixed income, and commodity markets to generate forward-looking distributions of expected long-term returns. The asset return distributions used in the goals forecasting models are drawn from 10,000 VCMM simulations based on market data from

1926 for the equity markets and from 1960 for the fixed income markets through the most recent yearend. The forecasts provided by the VCMM are updated annually to incorporate the most recent market data, though we may update the data more frequently in cases of major market events.

The VCMM is grounded on the empirical view that the returns of various asset classes reflect the compensation investors receive for bearing different types of systematic risk, a measure of the volatility of a security or a portfolio relative to a benchmark, also known as beta. Using a long span of historical monthly data, the VCMM estimates a dynamic statistical relationship among global risk factors and asset returns. Based on these calculations, the model uses regression-based Monte Carlo simulation methods to project relationships in the future. A regression-based Monte Carlo framework incorporates the uncertainty of any asset class that's produced by basic Monte Carlo simulation and also captures the dynamic relationships among certain assets and risk factors. By incorporating a variety of macroeconomic and financial risk factors into the return- generating process, a regression-based Monte Carlo framework generates financial simulations that are responsive to changes in the economy. By explicitly accounting for important initial market conditions when generating its return distributions, the VCMM framework departs fundamentally from more basic Monte Carlo simulation techniques.

Limitations of the quantitative analysis

Projections generated by the VCMM are based both on estimated historical relationships and on assumptions about the risk characteristics of various asset classes. As a result, the accuracy of VCMM forecasts depends on the relevance of the historical sample in simulating future events. The projections are hypothetical in nature, don't reflect actual investment results, and aren't guarantees of future results.

Goals forecasting optimization

The Services offer goal optimization tools that help you explore different scenarios for contributions, retirement age, retirement spending, or other financial goals ("Goal Inputs") to optimize your plans. Additionally, the tools enable you to model variations of your current income and expenses and the resulting impact on your projections. Our models will assess whether there are alternative Goal Inputs that result in projections in at least 85% of our market forecasts that your planned investments will cover your estimated expenses in retirement and fund the amounts needed for other financial goals. (See "Goals forecasting – projected success rates") We will prioritize suggesting different combinations of the Goal Inputs that result in projecting you will be on track that are close to your original Goal Inputs.

The optimizer tools and corresponding suggestions illustrate the tradeoffs you may need to make to achieve different goal combinations. For example, you can model different retirement ages (increased contributions and/or decreased monthly income at retirement), lower monthly contributions and/or changing the dates or amounts of financial goals. Additionally, the modeling tool can provide suggestions for modifying different levels of contributions by account type, either: taxable or retirement taxadvantaged account types. The contribution suggestions while based on an assumption that assets will be managed as a Service will, however, are not account specific suggestions. These suggestions will not be realistic for self-managed accounts that you invest differently than the Services' investment strategies. Additionally, goal optimizer suggestions assume savings in your education savings accounts will stop a year prior to the final education goal target. In contrast, the goal projections will assume you continue to save until the first goal target date. For example, if you plan a four-year education savings goal the Service provides savings suggestions that end in year three of the goal, but the projections chart will reflect saving through year 1.

Implementing any changes to your financial goal plan after using the goal optimization tools are your responsibility (e.g., increase your investment account contributions or confirm all of your modeled goal amount or date changes have been modified as you wish). You are solely responsible for the success of any

goals not managed by a Service.

Emergency savings and next dollar guidance:

The Services provide guidance on how to set emergency savings goals, as well as a tool that helps define target thresholds for cash or cash equivalent holdings that could be liquidated at no cost, such as assets at a loss in a taxable account or where basis equals market value to address potential spending shocks. Furthermore, the Services also provide guidance on how to balance competing financial objectives, such as wanting to contribute more money to your retirement accounts, pay down debt, or save for an emergency.

Disciplinary information

VAI has no material legal or disciplinary information to disclose.

Other financial industry activities and affiliations

The Vanguard Group, Inc.

VAI is 100% owned by Goliath, Inc., a Delaware corporation, which is wholly owned by Vanguard. Vanguard, also a registered investment advisor, provides a range of investment advisory and administrative services to the Vanguard Funds.

When giving advice to Clients, we will recommend the purchase of Vanguard Funds serviced by our corporate parent, Vanguard. We address the competing interests that arise between us and our Clients as a result of recommending proprietary funds by relying on our time-tested investment philosophies and beliefs, such as the benefits of low costs, diversification, and indexing, when formulating target allocations for Clients. We disclose to prospective Clients that we recommend Vanguard Funds prior to, or at the establishment of, the advisory relationship. Acting in accordance with our advice to purchase Vanguard's proprietary funds will result in the payment of fees to the Vanguard Funds that are separate from, and in addition to, any advisory fees assessed by us.

Vanguard Marketing Corporation

Shares of the Vanguard Funds are marketed and distributed by VMC. VMC's marketing and distribution services are conducted in accordance with the terms and conditions of a 1981 exemptive order from the SEC, which permits Vanguard Funds to internalize and jointly finance such activities. Each Vanguard Fund (other than a fund of funds) or each share class of a fund (in the case of a fund with multiple share classes) pays its allocated share of VMC's marketing costs. VMC doesn't receive transaction-based compensation in connection with the distribution of the Vanguard Funds.

When giving advice to Clients, we will recommend the purchase of Vanguard Funds distributed by our affiliate, VMC. Since VMC doesn't receive transaction-based compensation in connection with the distribution of the Vanguard Funds, the competing interests that arise from our affiliation with VMC in its role as distributor of the Vanguard Funds are mitigated. However, to the extent that you maintain a retail brokerage account with VMC as part of the Portfolio, VMC may receive compensation from you that's separate from, and in addition to, the advisory fees payable to us.

Please see the section of this brochure entitled "Brokerage practices" for more information about brokerage charges and other fees and expenses you may experience as a result of enrolling your Vanguard Brokerage Account in our service. The Services will not use information that you provide solely VMC (e.g., purpose of account opening) as the basis for the management of your Portfolio.

Certain members of our management and our advisors are registered representatives of, or are affiliated with, VMC. Please refer to the Supplement to the Vanguard Digital Advisor and Vanguard Personal Advisor Brochure for further information.

Vanguard Fiduciary Trust Company

We are also affiliated with VFTC, a limited-purpose trust company incorporated under the banking laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and a wholly owned subsidiary of Vanguard. VFTC serves as trustee and investment advisor for certain collective investment trusts offered by Vanguard as eligible investment options by some retirement plans. We may recommend the purchase of Vanguard collective investment trusts serviced by VFTC. Additionally, VFTC serves as directed trustee for certain employer-sponsored retirement plans covering participants. VFTC also serves as custodian for traditional IRAs, SEP-IRAs, and Roth IRAs (collectively referred to as "Vanguard IRAs"). VFTC may charge reasonable custodial fees with respect to the establishment and maintenance of your Vanguard IRAs at any time during the calendar year. You should consult the Disclosure Statement and Custodial Account Agreement governing your Vanguard IRAs, or your Annual Plan Fee Disclosure Notice, for more information relating to VFTC's fees and services provided.

Vanguard National Trust Company

Vanguard National Trust Company ("VNTC") is a federally chartered, limited-purpose trust company regulated by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, which serves as corporate trustee and provides investment advisory services to certain high net worth clients of Vanguard's Personal Investor Group under Vanguard Personal Advisor Services. VNTC was chartered in 2001, but its business has been in operation since 1996. VNTC is a wholly owned subsidiary of Vanguard.

Code of ethics, participation or interest in client transactions, and personal trading

VAI operates under a code of ethics that complies with Rule 17j-1 of the Investment Company Act of 1940 and Rule 204A-1 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940. The code sets forth fiduciary standards that apply to all employees, incorporates Vanguard's insider trading policy, and governs outside employment and receipt of gifts. Additionally, the code imposes restrictions on the personal securities trading of Vanguard employees, as well as reporting requirements. The trading restrictions and reporting requirements are more involved for employees that have access to information about Vanguard Fund trading activity or Vanguard client trading activity and are designed to ensure that Vanguard employees don't misuse fund or client information for their own benefit.

Vanguard will provide a copy of its code of ethics to any Client upon request at no charge.

Please see the previous section of this brochure above entitled "Other financial industry activities and affiliations" for a discussion of VAI's affiliations with other Vanguard entities and how those affiliations may impact clients of VAI.

Brokerage practices

Enrolled Vanguard Brokerage Accounts

This section regarding Brokerage practices applies to Clients with enrolled Vanguard Brokerage Accounts. You will be required to establish or use an existing Vanguard Brokerage Account held through our affiliated broker-dealer, VMC, for those securities, and you'll agree in your Client Agreement to execute all Portfolio brokerage transactions through VMC. Transactions executed in a Vanguard Brokerage Account will be subject to VMC's usual and customary fees, markups, commissions, and charges, as well as bid-ask spreads, separate and apart from the gross advisory fees assessed by us. (However, if these fees are assessed and retained for purposes of generating revenue, they are included in the fee credit described above if they are incurred because of discretionary management of the account).

The Services typically start sending trade orders for execution to our trading venues, at or near 10:00 a.m. each day, and, depending on trading volumes and appropriateness, may trade throughout the day. It is important to note that, you give investment discretion to us to manage and make trades in your account(s), and, as such, we will initiate or pause trading at our discretion at any time and for any reason, including pausing trading when we believe that continuing trading may pose undue risk of harm to your Portfolio. If we suspend or delay trading, requests to withdraw and transfer cash from Enrolled Accounts continue to be honored. However, there may be a delay in our ability to liquidate securities to cover requests for withdrawals in excess of the cash in Enrolled Accounts, or to invest existing or new cash balances.

To limit adverse price effects that you could experience if VAI submitted brokerage trades in bulk to the secondary markets at a single point in time, we've designed a fair and equitable system for handling automated brokerage trades that doesn't systematically disadvantage any Client. We aggregate trades of Vanguard ETFs among Clients and other retail advisory service clients (i.e., PAS) for the purpose of minimizing transaction costs while seeking best execution on behalf of our clients. When VAI aggregates trades, they may be aggregated along with trades recommended for clients of VNTC, an affiliate of VAI. This means trades of certain VAI and VNTC clients may be combined for execution in the secondary market.

Except as provided below, where we aggregate trades in Vanguard ETFs, we first seek to reduce transaction costs by employing cross trading among the advised accounts of VAI and VNTC clients who are buying or selling a particular Vanguard ETF capable of being cross traded on that business day. To do so, we determine the net amount of our clients' buys and sells that can be aggregated for a particular Vanguard ETF on that business day and match up the trades of as many of those buyers and sellers as possible on a pro rata basis across all the clients participating in the aggregate trade. With this practice, individual advised clients are selling their Vanguard ETFs to other advised clients and thereby avoiding having those trades sent to the secondary markets for execution. We'll price all crossed trades at the then prevailing market price as determined by the midpoint between the national best bid and offer. Any portion of the aggregate trade unable to be executed through cross trading will be submitted as a residual aggregate trade to the secondary markets in an attempt to complete any unfilled orders for that Vanguard ETF.

Where VAI aggregates trades, VAI will calculate an average price for all of the Vanguard ETFs bought or sold together, and Clients who participated in the aggregated trade will receive that average price for the Vanguard ETFs traded for them. The average price we assign to individual trades that were aggregated may be greater or less than the price an individual Client's order would've received if not traded using aggregation and cross trading.

Further, if we're unable to completely fill the residual aggregate trade, we'll distribute the Vanguard ETFs purchased or the proceeds received from such aggregate transaction to the Clients who participated in the residual aggregate trade on a pro rata basis. We'll initiate or pause automated trading at our discretion at any time and for any reason, including pausing trading when we believe that continuing trading may pose undue risk of harm to your Portfolio.

Aggregation and cross trading are not available to all account types, security types, or order types. You'll only be able to participate in aggregation and cross trading in certain automated trades of Vanguard ETFs submitted on your behalf from your Vanguard Brokerage Account. Accounts that are governed by ERISA generally are not permitted to engage in cross trading. Clients who are not permitted to participate

in aggregation and cross trading might receive a different, possibly worse, price for the securities bought and sold on their behalf.

Additionally, you won't participate in aggregation and cross trading where:

- Trades are submitted manually instead of through our automated brokerage trading systems (typically triggered as part of error correction processes)
- Trades submitted for Vanguard ETF trades are submitted for an individual client along with an
 order to transact in securities that are ineligible for aggregation and cross trading.

Fractional share trading

Starting in August 2024, the Service will seek to utilize fractional share trading for automated trading in Vanguard ETFs. Clients may also hold fractional shares in Vanguard Brokerage Accounts as a result of self-directed dollar-based transactions prior to enrolling their brokerage account in the Service. The potential benefits of fractional share trading include, but are not limited to, allowing for greater portfolio diversification by enabling Vanguard Brokerage Accounts to be allocated more closely to their target asset allocation; participating in fractional dividend distribution; and the opportunity to reduce cash holdings. Fractional shares typically do not trade directly in the market. When trading in fractional shares, VAI will "trade along" with Client's fractional shares in order to facilitate the trading (alternatively, fractional share recommendations may be offset through the aggregation and cross trading practices described above). This means that VAI will complete a fractional order from VAI's facilitation account inventory by adding the proportional shares or dollars needed to make a whole share market order. In this case, the order will be routed for execution in an agency capacity, and VAI will not be trading these orders as principal. Orders will be prioritized to fill Client orders and VAI will absorb any residual shares or proceeds from the sale of residual shares in its facilitation account. It is not the intent of VAI to profit while trading along with its Clients; however, VAI might realize a profit or loss in connection with trading fractional shares.

VAI's facilitation account will be held with VMC, its affiliated broker-dealer. VMC will receive no commissions or other compensation in connection with the trading of fractional shares.

In the event trades are processed manually, if VAI is directing the sale of your entire position in stocks or ETFs and the position includes fractional shares, then fractional shares liquidate automatically on the settlement date at no additional cost to you. In this case, VMC will purchase the fractional shares from you on a principal basis at the same price at which the whole shares executed without obtaining your positive consent prior to automatic liquidation. In the event of an operational contingency during which the trade along process above is unavailable, your consent may be required for this type of manual trade and rebalancing your account or withdrawals could be delayed or paused until consent is obtained.

Fractional shares cannot be transferred to another brokerage firm. In situations where a fractional share cannot be transferred, it would need to be sold and a taxable gain or loss incurred if such sale occurs in a taxable account. Clients are entitled to receive any dividends paid on their fractional share positions. The dividends payable in respect of their fractional share position will be an amount proportionate to their ownership interests. Fractional shares will be eligible to participate in both mandatory corporate actions (e.g., stock splits, mergers) as well as voluntary corporate actions (e.g., tender offers). However, clients may not have voting rights for any of the fractional shares held in their accounts depending on the issuer or tabulator. Clients will only be permitted to vote in respect of their whole share positions. Upon termination of an advisory service, fractional share positions will remain in in your Vanguard Brokerage Account until the positions are fully liquidated.

We reserve the right, at any time in our sole discretion, and without prior notice to clients, to limit or stop trading fractional shares or to change our policies and procedures governing fractional share trading, including, without limitation, allocation and trade along procedures. Certain securities may be or may become ineligible for fractional share investing, as determined by us in our discretion. If previously eligible securities become ineligible for fractional share investing, we will process a liquidation of such fractional share positions and credit the proceeds to your account.

Periodically, we conduct due diligence to review the execution quality of any transaction services provided by VMC for Clients' Portfolios, primarily to oversee VMC's compliance with its best execution practices. VMC routes equity and option orders to various markets. VMC uses a top-down approach in selecting market participants with which VMC will establish a relationship. This approach includes a review of system availability and quality of service, as well as financial and regulatory standing. The designated market participants to which orders are routed are selected based on the consistent high quality of their executions in one or more market segments. In analyzing quality of executions, VMC considers factors such as liquidity enhancement, price improvement, execution speed, and overall effective price compared with the national best bid or offer ("NBBO"). VMC regularly conducts analysis and reviews reports in order to evaluate quality of execution.

Other investment advisors may not require you to direct brokerage transactions through a specified broker-dealer. By directing brokerage transactions to VMC, we may be unable to achieve most favorable execution of your transactions, and this practice may cost you more money.

Enrolled Participant Accounts

We will not provide recommendations on individual securities held through a brokerage window. Therefore, we do not select or recommend broker-dealers for client transactions for Participant Accounts.

Review of accounts

This section regarding the review of accounts applies to those Clients who have Enrolled Accounts in the Services. Clients of the Services will have access to their Portfolio information through the Site. As part of the Rebalance (as described above), we will evaluate and monitor the Portfolio.

We don't perform ongoing account monitoring or offer account reviews for users who enter information on the Site to plan financial goals, but who do not enroll their accounts and receive ongoing discretionary advice services under the terms of your Client Agreement. Financial planning tools that are available prior to signing a Client Agreement, are provided solely for your information and education. Ongoing use of the financial planning tools depends on you to update manually added account information or keep linked account information up to date.

Initial Enrollment

After your enrollment, each Service will place trades, typically within 1-2 business days, based on the funds available in your account in order to rebalance your account into our recommended asset allocation for you. By enrolling an account, you are giving us an express order to sell any full or partial positions in that account that do not fit in with our recommended asset allocation, and invest the proceeds according to our investment strategy. These initial sells, directed by you, are subject to commissions and fees. VMC does not charge commissions on ETF, stock, and most fund trades, but you may be subject to purchase and redemption fees), and standard settlement time frames.

We will place those initial trades— typically after 10 a.m. on the following business day — without consideration of the current market value or all tax implications (if applicable). In the event that we are unable to sell any of the positions in your account, we will attempt to contact you; if we are unable to reach you, we reserve the right to terminate your enrollment.

Adjusting the asset allocation

For Clients, we will re-assess your target asset allocation if you inform us that your Personal Characteristics have changed including your ability to bear risk changes, you change your investment settings, or if you modify your financial goal plan, but we won't change your asset allocation based on market conditions. Each business day, we will review your target allocation in relation to your investment time horizon to determine if changes to the allocation are necessary. VAI reserves the right to abstain from assessments on a given day for technical or market infrastructure reasons. The Portfolio's target allocation will also change based on changes to your financial situation and financial goals, in particular, changes to your Personal Characteristics.

Changes in your target asset allocation will cause us to recommend and effect the purchase or sale of securities in your Portfolio in order to meet the new target asset allocation, subject to the rebalancing guardrails below.

Rebalancing the Portfolio

If your Portfolio is found to deviate from the target asset allocation by more than 5% in any asset class during a daily Rebalance, under normal market circumstances, we will rebalance your Portfolio using our investment methodologies and strategies aligned with your financial goals. Securities contributing to overweighted sub-asset classes will be sold and the proceeds invested in underweighted sub-asset classes in accordance with your financial goal.

We will attempt to minimize the tax costs associated with rebalancing your Portfolio. If the Portfolio consists of both taxable and tax-advantaged account registrations, we'll first attempt to rebalance within the tax-advantaged accounts to attempt to limit tax costs. In addition, we'll follow a tax- efficient "asset location" strategy to consider the tax implications of repositioning investments within the taxable accounts and among the taxable and tax-advantaged accounts. Additionally, if your Participant Accounts have multiple tax types or funding sources (i.e. pre-tax, after-tax, or Roth), then we will also seek to allocate future contributions to optimize tax efficiency. This strategy will follow similar practices as those used during implementation of your Portfolio to hold relatively tax-efficient investments, such as broad-market stock index products, in taxable accounts while keeping relatively tax-inefficient investments, such as taxable bonds, in tax- advantaged accounts. In the event your Portfolio is found to deviate from the target asset allocation by 5% or less in all asset classes, individual investments may still be reviewed and sold, if determined to be appropriate.

In the coming weeks, the Services expect to further enhance rebalancing by incorporating the following:

If, during a rebalance, the proceeds resulting from the sale of securities are designated to purchase additional shares of a Vanguard ETF in a Vanguard Brokerage Account, the amount of the recommended purchase will be compared to a price we set as a proxy for the market price of such Vanguard ETF. If the amount of the recommended purchase is less than the proxy price, we will instead purchase additional shares of the largest existing holding of any one of the Four Totals, or a surrogate Vanguard Fund, or another diversified Vanguard Fund already held in the account for which the purchase recommendation was generated. If the account for which the purchase recommendation was generated does not contain an existing holding of one of the Four Totals, or a surrogate Vanguard Fund, or another diversified Vanguard Fund, or if the proceeds are insufficient to purchase additional shares of such existing holdings, then the proceeds will be invested in the settlement fund or bank sweep established for the account.

Sale instructions during a rebalance will be reviewed systematically in order to facilitate efficient trade execution when there are minimal order amounts. See the "Brokerage practices" section above for more information. During any rebalance, if there is an instruction to sell 95% or more of a position in a Vanguard ETF, the instruction will be converted to a sell-all order unless the remaining value of the ETF position is \$25,000 or more. During a full or periodic rebalance, any sales of a Vanguard ETF for less than \$25 will be cancelled and the position will be maintained until the next rebalance opportunity. During a rebalance due to fee collection or a one-time withdrawal, any sales of a Vanguard ETF less than \$1 will be rounded to \$1 if the shares remaining will be at least \$1, or the sale will be converted to a sell-all order.

If, during a rebalance, the proceeds resulting from the sale of securities are designated to purchase securities worth less than one dollar (\$1.00) in a Vanguard Brokerage Account, then the proceeds will instead be invested in the settlement fund or bank sweep established for the account.

Additionally, we will use cash flows as an opportunity to adjust your holdings towards your target allocation. That is, we will invest your contributions or liquidate your withdrawals in a manner that adjusts your overall allocation back towards your target allocation, in order to minimize transaction and tax costs. If your contribution or additional proceeds are designated to purchase new ETF shares, we will rebalance in a manner that purchases whole shares of the needed ETFs (subject to the implementation of fractional share trading practices described above) in your Vanguard Brokerage Account. If you have residual cash in your Vanguard Brokerage Account and it's not enough to purchase the necessary shares of ETFs, then the cash will continue to be held until the next rebalancing opportunity.

As a discretionary advisor, VAI reserves the right to refine these rebalancing and trading practices overtime.

As owners of Vanguard Funds, Clients will receive or have access to communications with respect to those securities. These communications include transaction confirmations, quarterly account statements, prospectus updates, annual and semiannual reports, and proxy statements relating to their holdings (as appropriate), as well as general Vanguard newsletters, emails, and other communications. For Participant Accounts, you will receive investment documents through your plan disclosures.

Client referrals and other sales professional compensation

We don't receive compensation or other economic benefits from persons other than clients for providing investment advice or advisory services to clients. We'll run prospecting and promotional campaigns from time to time to attract new clients to the Services ("Referral Programs"). These Referral Programs may include compensating Clients, affiliates, strategic partners, or third-party solicitors for referring the Services to prospects. Compensation will include flat fees or payments based on certain performance triggers, like enrolling in the Services. Certain promotional programs also offer Clients the ability to have future advisory fees waived if qualifying criteria are met for referral promotional programs. Clients aren't charged any fees, nor do they incur any additional costs for us running these Referral Programs. We have oversight of third parties involved in the Referral Programs, and prospects will be informed of any such Referral Programs receiving compensation prior to becoming a Client.

Note that Vanguard affiliates will also receive compensation in the form of expense ratios from Vanguard Funds and revenue sharing with third party funds as discussed in the "Fees and Compensation" section above.

Certain VAI supervised persons who refer prospects to Vanguard's proprietary advice offers, including the Service, are paid base compensation and may be eligible to receive certain bonus compensation(see the Advisor compensation subsection above for additional details).

Sales professionals who are paid hourly wages are eligible to receive annual increases to those wages based on discretionary factors, including the number of Vanguard advice service implementations, the amount of new client assets transferred to Vanguard that are attributable to the sales professional, the percentage of inbound calls that lead to a needs assessment, and the percentage of advice service consultations completed. These sales professionals are also eligible for an annual payment from an enterprise-wide compensation plan. This plan is made available to all qualifying employees of Vanguard, not just sales professionals. Payments from the plan are determined based on an employee's level in the organization as well as a multiplier based on overall company performance during the prior three years.

Salaried sales professionals participating in the corporate bonus program are eligible to receive salary increases based on discretionary factors, including the number of Vanguard advice service implementations, the amount of new client assets transferred to Vanguard that are attributable to the sales professional, the number of high-quality client interactions attempted by the employee, and the percentage of advice service consultations completed. These sales professionals are eligible for an annual payment from the enterprise-wide compensation plan detailed above. These sales professionals are also eligible for an annual bonus where payments are based on the same discretionary factors.

Salaried sales professionals participating in the sales incentive plan are eligible to receive salary increases based on discretionary factors, including the sales professional's achievement of goals related to Vanguard advice service implementations and the amount of new client assets transferred to Vanguard that are attributable to the sales professional, the sales professional's general experience level, and the sales professional's demonstration of employee competencies as established by Human Resources. These sales professionals are eligible for an annual payment from the enterprise-wide compensation plan detailed above. These sales professionals are also eligible for bonuses where payments are based on nondiscretionary and discretionary factors. The nondiscretionary factors include the number of Vanguard advice service implementations and the amount of new client assets transferred to Vanguard that are attributable to the sales professional. The discretionary factors include demonstrating employee competencies as established by Human Resources, adherence to risk measures (supervisory, security and privacy procedures and compliance with regulatory standards), professional sales skills and implementation of key business initiatives.

This variable compensation structure creates a financial incentive for certain of our sales professionals to recommend Vanguard proprietary advisory services over brokerage services offered by Vanguard and its affiliates and to encourage Clients to move their assets to VAI in order to generate greater compensation for the sales professionals. Also, certain sales professionals who promote Vanguard services to employer sponsored plan sponsors or their consultants are also eligible to receive variable compensation based on discretionary factors including the number of plan sponsors that elect to offer an eligible VAI advisory program (either proprietary or advised) to their plan participants. Additionally, these sales professionals receive additional discretionary bonus credit if an employer sponsored plan sponsor elect a VAI advisory program as a default investment option. This variable compensation structure creates a financial incentive for sales professionals engaging with employer plan sponsors to promote VAI advisory services over other investment products offered by Vanguard and its affiliates.

VAI addresses these conflicts of interest by maintaining policies and procedures requiring that our sales professionals act in your best interest, reasonably supervising their activities, providing sales professionals with training and disclosing these conflicts so that you can make informed decisions. We reserve the right, at our discretion and without prior notice, to change the methods by which we compensate our sales professionals.

Custody

If you hold a mutual fund account directly with Vanguard, you will receive quarterly or more frequent account statements from Vanguard, the transfer agent of the Vanguard Funds, in lieu of a qualified custodian. Vanguard will also transmit transaction confirmations to you in connection with purchases and sales made in your Vanguard mutual fund account.

If you enroll a Participant Account, VFTC serves as the qualified custodian for the plan's assets. You will receive quarterly, or more frequent, plan account statements from Vanguard, in its capacity as plan recordkeeper.

If you enroll a Vanguard Brokerage Account, VMC serves as qualified custodian and will send quarterly or more frequent account statements directly to you. VMC will also transmit transaction confirmations to you in connection with purchases and sales made in your Vanguard Brokerage Account (provided that VMC may furnish periodic statements of account activity in lieu of transaction confirmations in compliance with Rule 10b-10 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934).

You should carefully review and compare all account statements and reports from Vanguard and VMC with any account information made available by us and contact the appropriate entity with any questions.

Investment discretion

When you decide to enroll accounts, you are providing VAI through the Services full discretionary trading and investment authority over those accounts subject to the Client Agreement. As a result, VAI will have full discretionary authority over the investments selected for your Portfolio, and the timing and size of purchases and sales within your Portfolio. The Services are not designed to provide a comprehensive financial plan to Clients. Rather, their Sites seek to help Clients define their financial goals and designate investment accounts for which they would like VAI to exercise discretionary management to invest to help reach those goals. Personal Advisor Clients also have access to seek additional financial planning guidance from a Financial Advisor. While these Financial Advisors will be able to assist you with changing your financial profile and other inputs on Personal Advisor's Site, ultimately any trading and investment decisions within your Enrolled Accounts will be made by our algorithms.

In order to manage your accounts, we will have the authority, on your behalf, to purchase, sell, exchange, or transfer assets; rebalance and reallocate assets; modify our investment strategies; and execute other necessary and appropriate transactions, including transmitting verbal, written, or online instructions to effect transactions, at the times and according to the terms established in the Client Agreement. We may change our investment strategy at any time and without prior notice to you, including changing the investments used for purposes of rebalancing the Portfolio.

We don't exercise any investment discretion with respect to users who use the financial planning tools and decide not to enroll in the ongoing advised service.

In the event an error occurs in our handling of transactions, we will attempt to correct the error promptly and generally return the Portfolio to the same position it would have been in had the error not happened.

Voting client securities

Vanguard Brokerage Accounts

Upon request, the Services will provide additional information regarding proxy votes and corporate actions for Clients enrolled in the Services, upon request. The information could include details on the security itself, impact on the Client's Portfolio, and recommended voting by Vanguard or third parties. We won't vote or exercise similar rights for your securities. The exercise of all voting rights associated with any security or other property held by you shall be your responsibility. We won't advise or act for you in any legal proceedings, including bankruptcies or class actions, involving securities held or previously held by you or the issuers of those securities. Proxies will be delivered directly by the issuer of the security, the custodian, or its agent.

Participants in certain employer-sponsored retirement plans

The responsibility for the exercise of all voting or similar rights associated with any security or other property held in the enrolled Participant Account will be outlined by your plan. Proxies related to plan holdings will be delivered directly by the issuer of the security, the custodian, or its agent.

Financial information

We aren't aware of any financial condition that's reasonably likely to impair VAI's ability to meet contractual commitments to you.

Requirements for state-registered advisors

VAI is a federally registered investment advisor.

Investment risks

Cybersecurity risks: The increased use of technology to conduct business could subject VAI and its third-party service providers to risks associated with cybersecurity. In general, a cybersecurity incident can occur as a result of a deliberate attack designed to gain unauthorized access to digital systems. If the attack is successful, an unauthorized person or persons could misappropriate assets or sensitive information, corrupt data, or cause operational disruption. A cybersecurity incident could also occur unintentionally if, for example, an authorized person inadvertently released proprietary or confidential information. Vanguard has developed robust technological safeguards and business continuity plans to prevent, or reduce the impact of, potential cybersecurity incidents. Additionally, Vanguard has a process for assessing the information security and/or cybersecurity programs implemented by third-party service providers, which helps minimize the risk of potential incidents.

Despite these measures, a cybersecurity incident still has the potential to disrupt business operations, which could negatively impact VAI and/or Clients (including prospective Clients).

Data risk: Data risk is the chance that the Service receives inaccurate, incomplete, or outdated data. The Services rely on data provided by vendors and Clients or authorized by Clients to be provided by third party vendors. The Services do not independently verify the accuracy or completeness of provided data. If a client decides to aggregate or integrate external accounts, there is no guarantee that information provided by the third-party vendor regarding non- Vanguard accounts will be accurate or complete. Additionally, to the extent each Service's projections and calculations are based on historical market data, labor statistics, or other historic economic data, models are not updated real-time and there will be a delay in incorporating significant events into models.

Digital risk: Each Service provide its investment advisory services through digital services (e.g., the Site or the underlying algorithms). It is possible that a digital service or capability may not perform as intended or as disclosed despite diligent design and testing before those services and capabilities are put into

production. VAI will monitor and test for potential defects and seek to correct capabilities that do not perform as intended or disclosed.

Discretionary manager risk: It is possible that poor security selection or focus on securities in a particular sector, category, or group of companies will cause one or more of the fund's or ETF's underlying funds—and, thus, the fund or ETF itself—to underperform relevant benchmarks or other funds with a similar investment objective.

Tax Loss Harvesting risk: Tax-loss harvesting involves certain risks, including, among others, the risk that the new investment could have higher costs than the original investment and could introduce portfolio tracking error into your accounts. There may also be unintended tax implications. We recommend that you carefully review the optional tax-loss harvesting service terms and consult a tax advisor before taking action.

Vendor risk: The Services use a number of vendors to provide capabilities that are required by VAI to deliver the Services. An outage or interruption of, or defect in, a capability provided by these vendors could adversely impact VAI's ability to deliver the Service. Third-party vendors may limit their liability to Clients.

The following summarizes the principal risks of using equity and bond index funds, ETFs, or collective investment trust recommended to achieve the asset allocations in the Services' investment strategy. For conciseness the risk description references to "fund" describe risks associated with funds, ETFs, or collective investment trusts.

Asset concentration risk: Funds that invest a high percentage of their assets in a few companies are subject to the chance that their performance may be hurt disproportionately by the poor performance of relatively few investments. **Index sampling risk**: is the chance that the securities selected for an index fund, in the aggregate, will not provide investment performance matching that of a fund's target index.

Diversification risk: Diversification doesn't ensure a profit or protect against a loss. There's no guarantee that any particular asset allocation or mix of funds will meet your investment objectives or provide you with a given level of income.

ETF risk: Vanguard ETF Shares are not redeemable directly with the issuing fund other than in very large aggregations worth millions of dollars. ETFs are subject to market volatility. When buying or selling an ETF, you will pay or receive the current market price, which may be more or less than net asset value.

ESG risk (applicable to ESG all-index investment option): is the chance that the stocks or bonds screened by the index provider for ESG criteria generally will underperform the market as a whole or, in the aggregate, will trail returns of other funds screened for ESG criteria. There are significant differences in interpretations of what it means for a company to meet ESG criteria. The index provider's assessment of a company, based on the company's level of involvement in a particular industry or the index provider's own ESG criteria, may differ from that of other funds or of the advisor's or an investor's assessment of such company. As a result, the companies deemed eligible by the index provider may not reflect the beliefs and values of any particular investor and may not exhibit positive or favorable ESG characteristics.

The evaluation of companies for ESG screening or integration is dependent on the timely and accurate reporting of ESG data by the companies. Successful application of the screens will depend on the index provider's proper identification and analysis of ESG data. In addition, an ESG fund's target index may, at times, become focused on stocks of a particular market sector, which would subject the fund to proportionately higher exposure to the risks of that sector.

Manager risk: is the chance that poor security selection or focus on securities in a particular sector, category, or group of companies will cause a fund to underperform relevant benchmarks or other funds with a similar investment objective.

Ownership Limitations and Regulatory Relief

The ability of Vanguard and external advisors to purchase or dispose of certain fund investments, or to exercise rights on behalf of a fund, is or may be restricted or impaired because of limitations imposed by law, regulation, or by certain regulators or issuers. As a result, Vanguard and external advisors, on behalf of certain funds currently and other funds potentially in the future, are required to limit purchases, sell existing investments, or otherwise limit the exercise of shareholder rights by a fund, including voting rights. These ownership restrictions and limitations can impact a fund's performance. For index funds, this impact generally takes the form of tracking error, which can arise when a fund is not able to acquire its desired amount of a security. For actively managed funds, this impact can result, for example, in missed investment opportunities otherwise desired by a fund's investment advisor. If a fund is required to limit its investment in a particular issuer, then a fund may seek to obtain regulatory or corporate consents or ownership waivers. Other options a fund may pursue include seeking to obtain economic exposure to that issuer through alternative means, such as through a derivative or through investment in a wholly owned subsidiary, both of which may be more costly than owning securities of the issuer directly. In the event a derivative, such as a swap, is used as an alternative means of exposure, Vanguard and external advisors on behalf of a fund are not able to guarantee the availability of derivatives necessary to allow economic exposure to the security, sector, or industry. This limited availability may have additional impacts to fund performance. Additionally, use of derivatives as an alternative means of exposure subjects a fund to derivatives-related risks. Ownership restrictions and limitations could result in unanticipated tax consequences to a fund that may affect the amount, timing, and character of distributions to shareholders.

Equity-specific risks:

Stock market risk: is the chance that stock prices overall will decline. Stock markets tend to move in cycles, with periods of rising prices and periods of falling prices.

Industry concentration risk: is the chance that there will be overall problems affecting a particular industry.

Sector risk: is the chance that significant problems will affect a particular sector or that returns from that sector will trail returns from the overall stock market. Daily fluctuations in specific market sectors are often more extreme than fluctuations in the overall market. Because a fund invests all, or substantially all, of its assets in a particular sector, the fund's performance largely depends—for better or for worse—on the general condition of that sector.

Company stock funds: concentrate on a single stock and are therefore considered riskier than diversified stock funds.

Currency risk: is the chance that the value of a foreign investment, measured in U.S. dollars, will decrease because of unfavorable changes in currency exchange rates. Currency risk is especially high in emerging markets. In fact, this could have the opposite effect, and could be related to international or regional risk.

Investment style risk: is the chance that:

• Returns from large-capitalization stocks will trail returns from the overall stock market. Large- cap stocks tend to go through cycles of doing better—or worse—than other segments of the stock market or the stock market in general.

Returns from small- and mid-capitalization stocks will trail returns from the overall stock market.

Historically, small- and mid-cap stocks have been more volatile in price than the large- cap stocks that dominate the overall market, and they often perform quite differently.

- Returns from dividend-paying large-capitalization stocks will trail returns from the overall stock market. Large-cap stocks tend to go through cycles of doing better—or worse—than other segments of the stock market or the stock market in general. These periods have, in the past, lasted for as long as several years.
- Returns from non-U.S. growth stocks and, to the extent that the Fund is invested in them, small- and mid-cap stocks, will trail returns from global stock markets. Historically, non-U.S. small- and mid-cap stocks have been more volatile in price than the large-cap stocks
- that dominate the global markets, and they often perform quite differently.

International risk or country/regional risk: is the chance that world events—such as political upheaval, financial troubles, or natural disasters—will adversely affect the value of securities issued by companies in foreign countries or regions. Because a fund may invest a large portion of its assets in securities of companies located in any one country or region, including emerging markets, its performance may be hurt disproportionately by the poor performance of its investments in that area. Country/Regional risk is especially high in emerging markets. The performance of companies who are not located in these countries or regions, but whose supply chains rely heavily on them, can also be negatively impacted.

Emerging markets risk: is the chance that the stocks of companies located in emerging markets will be substantially more volatile, and substantially less liquid, than the stocks of companies located in more developed foreign markets.

Nondiversification risk: which is the chance that the Fund's performance may be hurt disproportionately by the poor performance of relatively few stocks or even a single stock. The Fund is considered nondiversified, which means that it may invest a greater percentage of its assets in the securities of particular issuers as compared with diversified mutual funds.

Bond-specific risks:

Call risk: is the chance that during periods of falling interest rates, issuers of callable bonds may call (redeem) securities with higher coupons or interest rates before their maturity dates. The fund would then lose any potential price appreciation above the bond's call price and would be forced to reinvest the unanticipated proceeds at lower interest rates, resulting in a decline in the fund's income. Such redemptions and subsequent reinvestments would also increase a fund's portfolio turnover rate.

Call risk is generally low for short-term bond funds, moderate for intermediate-term bond funds, high for long-term bond funds, and high for high-yield bond funds.

Prepayment risk: is the chance that during periods of falling interest rates, homeowners will refinance their mortgages before their maturity dates, resulting in prepayment of mortgage- backed securities held by the fund. The fund would then lose any price appreciation above the mortgage's principal and would be forced to reinvest the unanticipated proceeds at lower interest rates, resulting in a decline in the fund's income. Such prepayments and subsequent reinvestments would also increase a bond fund's portfolio turnover rate.

Extension risk: is the chance that during periods of rising interest rates, certain debt securities will be paid off substantially more slowly than originally anticipated, and the value of those securities may fall. This will lengthen the duration or average life of those securities and delay a fund's ability to reinvest proceeds at higher interest rates, making a fund more sensitive to changes in interest rates. For funds that invest in mortgage-backed securities, extension risk is the chance that during periods of rising interest rates, homeowners will repay their mortgages at slower rates.

Credit risk: is the chance that the issuer of a convertible security will fail to pay interest or dividends and principal in a timely manner or that negative perceptions of the issuer's ability to make such payments will cause the price of that security to decline.

Income risk: is the chance that the fund's income will decline because of falling interest rates. Income risk is generally high for short-term bond funds, low for long-term bond funds, and high for limited-term bond funds.

Interest rate risk: is the chance that bond and loan prices overall will decline because of rising interest rates.

Liquidity risk: is the chance that the fund may not be able to sell a security in a timely manner at a desired price. Liquidity risk is generally low for short-term bond funds, moderate for intermediate-term bond funds, and high for long-term bond funds.

Regional risk: Regional risk, which is the chance that economic, political or regulatory occurrences within a certain state may adversely affect the value of securities offered by issuers located within that state. Because a Fund (in particular tax-exempt municipal bond funds) may invest a large portion of its assets in securities located in any one state, that Fund's performance may be hurt disproportionately by the poor performance of its investments in that area.

Tax risk: is the chance that all or a portion of the tax-exempt income from municipal bonds held by a Fund will be declared taxable, possibly with retroactive effect, because of unfavorable changes in tax laws, adverse interpretations by the Internal Revenue Service or state or local tax authorities, or noncompliant conduct of a bond issuer.

Currency hedging risk: is the risk that the currency hedging transactions entered into by a fund may not perfectly offset the fund's foreign currency exposure. In fact, this could have the opposite effect, and could be related to international or regional risk.

Supplement to the Vanguard Digital Advisor and Vanguard Personal Advisor Brochure

June 20, 2024

Vanguard Advisers, Inc. 100 Vanguard Boulevard Malvern, PA 19355 877-662-7447 vanguard.com

This brochure supplement provides information about Vanguard Digital Advisor Services® and Vanguard Personal Advisor advisory services under Vanguard Advisers, Inc. ("VAI"), a registered investment advisor that supplements the Vanguard Digital Advisor and Vanguard Personal Advisor Brochure. You should have received a copy of the respective brochure. Please contact VAI at the number above if you didn't receive a brochure or if you have any questions about the contents of this supplement. Additional information about VAI is available on the SEC website at adviserinfo.sec.gov.

Digital Advisor's and Personal Advisor's discretionary investment advice is provided by a team and VAI has provided information for the Supervised Persons with the most significant responsibility for the day-to-day investment advisory services to Clients. Clients may also find background information for VAI Financial Advisors ("Financial Advisors") that provide financial planning calls for Personal Advisor.

Joel Dickson, Ph.D., (1967)

A.B. from Washington University in St. Louis (1989)

Ph.D. in economics from Stanford University (1995)

Joel Dickson is a Vanguard Principal and Global Head of Advice Methodology at Vanguard.

Prior to his current role, Joel served as Head of Investment Research and Development in Vanguard's Investment Strategy Group from 2014-2017. Joel joined Vanguard in

1996 and has held a number of senior investment-related roles.

Disciplinary Information: None Other Business Activities: None

Supervision: Dr. Dickson reports to Mr. Thompson.

Brian Concannon, CFA® (1988)

Bachelor of Arts from La Salle University (2010)

Master of Business Administration from London Business School (2017)

Mr. Concannon is a Principal and Head of Vanguard Mass Affluent Advice. Brian previously served as Head of Enterprise Advice Product Management and multiple roles in Personal Advisor Services.

Disciplinary Information: None Other Business Activities: None

Supervision: Mr. Concannon reports to Mr. Mento.

Garrett Harbron, CFP®, CFA® (1970)

B.A. from Indiana University Bloomington (1993)

MBA from University of Cincinnati (1996)

JD from University of Cincinnati (1997)

Garrett Harbron is Global Head of Wealth Planning Methodology at Vanguard. Prior to his current role, Garrett was Head of European Wealth Planning Methodology, leading a team responsible for developing next-generation scalable advice methodology for clients in Europe and outside the United States from 2022-2023. He served as the Head of U.K. Wealth Planning Research from 2018-2022.

Disciplinary Information: None Other Business Activities: None

Supervision: Mr. Harbron reports to Dr. Dickson.

Sarah Hind, CFP (1974)

Master of Business Administration from Drexel University's LeBow College of Business (2017) Bachelor of Arts from Virginia Tech (1996)

Ms. Hind is Head of Practice and Strategy Execution starting in 2021 and Head of Personal Investor Advice Methodology as of 2024. Sarah previously served as a Senior Business Product Manager for Vanguard Personal Advisor Services from March 2020 – October 2021. She joined Vanguard in 2010 as a Financial Planner and has held various roles within Personal Advisor Services.

Disciplinary Information: None Other Business Activities: None

Supervision: Ms. Hind reports to Mr. Mento.

Anthony J Piscitelli CFP® (1975)

Bachelor of Arts, Villanova University (1997)

Anthony J Piscitelli is a senior methodology manager overseeing financial planning advice methodology for Vanguard Personal Investor Advice. Anthony previously served as a Senior Manager for Business Program Management and Head of Product Strategy for Vanguard Investments Hong Kong, where he was responsible for leading research and executing on strategic initiatives for Vanguard's Asia business.

Disciplinary Information: None Other Business Activities: None

Supervision: Mr. Piscitelli reports to Ms. Hind.

Anatoly Shtekhman, CFA® (1978)

Bachelor of Science from the University of Scranton, (2000)

MSF, Finance from Boston College Carroll School of Management (2004) MBA,

Finance from The Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania

Anatoly Shtekhman is the head of Global Advised Portfolio Construction in Vanguard's Enterprise

Advice Department. Prior to Anatoly's current role, he was a Senior Portfolio

Manager managing investment portfolios from 2014 -2021. Anatoly joined Vanguard in 2007 as

a Senior Investment Analyst. Disciplinary Information: None Other Business Activities: None

Supervision: Mr. Shtekhman reports to Dr. Dickson.

Vince Sobocinski, CFP® (1985)

Master of Business Administration from Saint Joseph's University (2012)

Bachelor of Science, Business Administration from King's College (2007)

Vince Sobocinski is Head of Portfolio Construction Methodology within the Personal Investor Advice sub-division leading portfolio construction for retail advisory services. Vince previously served as an Advice Methodology Senior Manager within the same sub-division. Prior to rotating to the methodology team, he served as an Investment Research Program Manager at Vanguard.

Disciplinary Information: n/a Other Business Activities: n/a

Supervision: Mr. Sobocinski reports to Ms. Hind.

Supervision

Dr. Dickson's, Ms. Harbron's, and Mr. Shtekhman's investment advisory activities are conducted as a part of a wealth planning and portfolio construction advice team that advises the development of advice algorithms. Mr. Concanon, Ms. Hind, Mr. Sobocinski, and Mr. Piscitelli oversee the implementation of advice algorithms in Vanguard Digital Advisor and Vanguard Personal Advisor. Both teams are supervised by the Advice Program Oversight Committee.

The following management members serve on the Advice Program Oversight Committee:

Douglas Mento, (1975)

B.S. Civil engineering, Lehigh University (1997)

M.B.A., Saint Joseph's University (2011)

Principal, Vanguard: Head of Personal Advisor Services (2024–Present); Head of Bank and Institutional Group (2022-2024); Head of Specialized Retail Programs (2018–2022); Head of Retail Strategic Support (2017–2018); Head of Flagship Personal Advisor Services (2015–2017); Head of Advice Services Group (2014–2015)

Kate Byrne, (1986)

B.A.A., Business Administration and Management, Penn State University (2008), Master of Business Administration, Drexel University's LeBow College of Business (2019) M.B.A.

Principal, Vanguard: Head of Sales and Onboarding Vanguard (2019 - Present); Institutional Sales Manager (2016 – Present); Institutional Sales, Sales Operations Department Head (2014 – 2016)

Amber Brestowski, (1985)

B.B.A., Finance, Temple University (2007)

M.B.A., The Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania (2017)

Principal, Vanguard: Head of Advice and Client Experience (2020 – Present); Head of Large Market Institutional Sales (2017-2020); Head of Communication Consulting, Participant Education (2014-2017)

Charles Thompson, (1974)

B Eng, Electronic and Software Engineering, RMIT University (1995)

Principal, Vanguard: Head of Enterprise Advice (2021-Present); Chief Information Officer – International Division (2018-2021); Chief Information Officer Asia Pacific (2015-2018)

Personal Advisor: financial planning guidance

Clients also have access to advisory calls to seek additional financial planning guidance from VAI Financial Advisors. While VAI Financial Advisors will be able to assist you with changing your financial profile and other inputs on the Site, ultimately any trading and investment decisions will be made by VAI's algorithms designed and overseen by the team above.

Educational background and business experience

The Supervised Persons from VAI have several years of experience with investment products in addition to the Vanguard group of mutual funds.

Several of the Supervised Persons are Certified Financial Analyst® (CFA) charterholders. To earn the CFA charter, candidates must:

- meet requirements to enroll in the CFA Program,
- pass required exams,
- have four years of professional work experience in the investment-decision making process, and
- join the CFA Institute as a regular member.

All charter holders are expected to adhere to the CFA Code of Ethics and Standards of Professional Conduct. In addition, it is recommended that CFA Institute members complete a minimum of 20 hours of continuing education credit activities, with a minimum of 2 hours in the topics of Standards, Ethics, and Regulations (SER) each calendar year.

Certain Supervised Persons hold the Certified Financial Planner® (CFP) certification. To obtain the certification, financial planners are required to meet the following four criteria set forth by the Certified Financial Planner Board of Standards:

- The certificant must have a bachelor's degree (or higher) or its equivalent, in any discipline, from an accredited college or university, and successfully complete one of the following additional education requirements: a CFP board-registered program, a challenge status, or a transcript review.
- The certificant must pass the CFP Certification Examination that assesses his or her ability to apply financial planning knowledge, in an integrated format, to financial planning situations.
- The certificant must have three years of full-time relevant personal financial planning experience.
- The certificant must agree to adhere to the Certified Financial Planner Board of Standards' Code of Ethics and Professional Responsibility, Rules of Conduct, and Financial Planning Practice Standards.

VAI has no affiliation with the CFA, Certified Financial Planner Board of Standards, and the FRM.

Vanguard Digital Advisor & Vanguard Personal Advisor financial planners

Ryan Matthew Adler (1981)

B.A. Liberal studies, California State University, East Bay (2003)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client development professional, JPMorgan Chase (2021-2022); customer relationship manager, Fidelity (2020-2021); financial advisor, Ameriprise Financial (2019-2020); specialist, Apple (2018-2019); recruiter, Keller Williams (2018-2019)

Bethany Albertson (1994)

B.S.B.A. Finance, Northern Arizona University (2016)

Manager, Vanguard (2021-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2018-2021); client service specialist, Vanguard (2018)

Ryan Albright (1999)

B.S. Personal finance, University of Wisconsin-Madison (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); financial planning intern, Jacobson and Schmitt Advisors (2021–2022); financial planning intern, WEA Member Benefits (2021–2022); teaching assistant, University of Wisconsin-Madison School of Human Ecology (2020–2022); student desk staff, University of Wisconsin Housing Desk Service (2020–2021); student laborer, Wisconsin Public Service (2018–2020); seasonal produce clerk, Festival Foods (2018–2020)

Stanislav Alemaskin, CFP® (1983)

A.S. Marketing, Delaware County Community College (2013)

B.S. Marketing, West Chester University of Pennsylvania (2017)

M.B.A. Finance, Wilmington University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); banker III, Truist Financial (2020-2021); partner, Scavenger Cycles LLC (2018-2020)

Outside activities: Mr. Alemaskin is an owner of rental property. Vanguard Advisers, Inc., has no affiliation with the rental property, and Mr. Alemaskin's responsibilities do not conflict with his position at Vanguard.

Samantha Angella Allen (1989)

B.S. Accounting, Wingate University (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-present); store clerk, The Reddoor (2018-present); client consultant, Vanguard (2019-2020); client service specialist, Vanguard (2018-2019); front desk agent, Courtyard by Marriott Charlotte City Center (2018)

William Allen (1984)

B.A. Accounting, Arizona State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2021–2023); financial services consultant, TIAA (2021); transportation specialist, Uber (2019–2021); owner, Photoshoot 24/7 (2019)

Gladimir Ambroise, CFP® (1976)

B.A. International economics, Saint Francis College (2002)

Manager, Vanguard (2020-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2018-2020)

Camisha Anderson (1997)

B.S. Finance, The University of Tennessee, Chattanooga (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); client associate, Vanguard (2021-2023); brokerage service representative, Wells Fargo (2020); brokerage service representative, Associate Staffing (2019-2020); sales associate, Target (2018-2019)

John Tierney Anstoetter (2000)

B.B.A. Finance, The University of Iowa (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); investment operations extended intern, Principal Global Investors (2021); café team member, Lifetime Athletic (2018–2019)

Claudiu Mihai Antonie (1999)

B.S. Finance, College of Charleston (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2021-2022); financial advisor intern, Family Asset Management tutor, College of Charleston (2019); assembly line operator, ATS Automation Tooling Systems (2018)

Timothy Joseph Apple (1994)

B.A. Finance, Virginia Tech (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); client case representative, Vanguard (2020-2021); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2019-2020); agent, William C. Moore Financial Services (2018-2019); support advisor, William N. Price, CPA, CFP, MS (2018)

Matthew Laanan Aquino (1985)

B. Ed. General education, California State University, Northridge (2008)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); investment counselor, Fisher Investments (2021-2022); financial consultant academy trainee, Charles Schwab (2019-2021); business development manager, Profile by Sanford (2018-2019)

Phillip Asuelo (1999)

B.A. Financial planning, Arizona State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); college financial representative, Northwestern Mutual (2021); sales associate, Target (2020); cashier, Dairy Queen (2018–2019)

Dani Atenous Azar (1995)

B.S. Political science, Arizona State University (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); orders client representative, Vanguard (2021–2022); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2020–2021); research and policy director, Anita for Arizona (2019–2020); elections and annexation aide, City of Phoenix (2019); steering committee member, Indivisible Project (2018–2019); research and policy director, Anita for Arizona (2018)

Tracy Gelber Auerbach (1966)

French and francophone studies, University of Pennsylvania (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad (2021); vice president, Adondo Corporation vice president, Adondo Capital (2018)

Cem Suleyman Baber (2000)

B.B.A. Finance, University of Houston (2021)

B.B.A. Marketing, University of Houston (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); financial advisor assistant, Dearborn & Creggs (2021-2022); Bauer Honors mentor, University of Houston – Bauer Honors Program (2020-2021); student worker, University of Houston – Rockwell Career Center (2020-2021); financial

Sally Baek (1961)

B.A. Political science, Oberlin College and Conservatory (1983)

M.P.A., Columbia University (1985)

M.B.A., University of Pennsylvania (1989)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad (2022); retirement specialist, Merrill Lynch (2018–2019)

Katie Baillargeon (1989)

A.A.S., Whatcom Community College (2008)

A.S. Health science laboratory technology, The George Washington University (2010)

B.A.B.A. Finance, University of Washington Tacoma (2016)

M.S. Personal financial planning, Texas Tech University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2023); associate, Kohl's 2021; financial analyst, The Geneva Foundation (2018-2021)

Nicholas Paul Baker (1998)

B.S. Business administration, Winthrop University (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); retirement specialist, Vanguard (2020–2022); intern, OneMain Financial (2019–2020)

Richard Baker (1961)

University of Maryland (1979–1983, non–degree)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); mid-Atlantic sales manager, Superio Brand (2019-2020); financial advisor, 1847 Financial (2018-2020)

Aditya Banerji, CFP® (1997)

B.A. Economics., University of South Carolina (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); sales consultant, Vanguard (2023); retirement specialist, Vanguard (2020-2022); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2020); communications intern, Better Business Bureau housing assistant, University of South Carolina Housing Department (2018)

Gabriel Palmieri Barakat (1999)

B.S. Finance and Information technology management, Seton Hall University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2021-2022); delivery driver, Panera Bread (2019-2020); financial intern, Thrive Wealth Management (2019); package handler, FedEx Ground (2018); team member, SkyZone Indoor Trampoline Park (2018)

Garrett Barkley (1990)

B.S.B.A. Business economics and Marketing, University of South Carolina (2013)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); technology product owner, Infosys (2020-2022); business technology product administrator, Vanguard (2018-2020); supervisor, Vanguard (2018)

Christopher Batastini (1970)

B.S. Business management, Shippensburg University (1993)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, Prudential Financial (2018-2021)

Thomas Beatie, CFP® (1974)

B.A. Health sciences, University of Hawaii (1996)

Davis Beazer (1997)

B.S. Personal financial planning, Utah Valley University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); customer support agent, TaxHawk, Inc. (2022); customer advocacy, Alder Security (2021); remote summer intern, Randstad (2021); summer intern, Vision Financial Advisors, LLC (2020); customer service agent, Alder Security (2019–2020); cashier, Dick's Sporting Goods (2018)

Stephen Becker (1988)

B.S. Finance, Portland State University (2011)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); consultant, Syndicate Tactical Solutions (2021-2022); day trader, self-employed (2018-2022); disability insurance specialist, Sedgwick (2019-2021); financial services representative, Transamerica (2018)

Brandon Beers (1975)

University of Oregon (1996–1997, non-degree)

Utah State University (1999, non-degree)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client case consultant, Vanguard (2019-2022); inheritance consultant, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Britta Beesley (2000)

B.S. Personal financial planning, Kansas State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); strategy and portfolio management intern, INTRUST Bank (2021); intern, Raymond James Financial Services (2020–2021); teacher's assistant, Kansas State University (2019–2022); lifeguard, Lakeview Christian Camp (2018)

Jeremy Belingon (2000)

B.B.A. Finance and Accounting, Villanova University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); basketball summer camp coach, West Chicago Community High School (2021); team member associate, Follett (2019–2020); lab aide, Northwestern Medicine (2018)

Nicholas John Belville (1995)

B.S.B.A. Finance, The University of Arizona (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); investment advisor representative, NFP Retirement, Inc. (2019-2022); intern, NFP Retirement, Inc. (2018)

Carlos Fernando Benitez (1996)

B.A. Business technology with a certificate in International business, Arizona State University (2018) Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, Renaissance Financial (2019-2021); weight room supervisor, Arizona State University (2018)

Matthew James Berger (1999)

B.S. Finance, The Pennsylvania State University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2021-2022); deli clerk, Dutchway (2018-2021); direct shopper, Giant (2020-2021); financial advising intern, uFinancial Group (2020-2021); operations intern, Speedway LLC (2019)

Oliver Roddey Bernhardt (1997)

B.S. International business, The University of North Carolina at Charlotte (2020)

B.A. German, The University of North Carolina at Charlotte (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); investment specialist, Vanguard (2021-2022); client service representative, Vanguard (2020-2021); server, Noble Food and Pursuits (2018-2021)

Zachary Bezella (1998)

B.S. Finance, Arizona State University (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); territory consultant, Nationwide Financial (2020-2022); data analyst and research associate, N.J. Leven and Associates (2018-2021); college financial representative, Northwestern Mutual (2019); assistant manager/server, Golden Corral (2018)

Carson Biber (2000)

B.S. Finance, University of Wisconsin-Madison (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); operations intern, Northwestern Mutual (2020–2021); operations intern, Charles Schwab (2021); cook, Sweet Home Wisconsin (2021–2022); janitor, University of Wisconsin-Madison (2019); cook, The River Club (2019–2020); cook, The Stilt House (2018–2019)

Kimberly Bielous, CFP® (1993)

B.A. International relations, Saint Joseph's University (2016)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2018-present)

Aubrey Billittier (1998)

B.S. Economics, Edinboro University (2019)

B.S. Business administration, Edinboro University (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2020-2021); substitute teacher, Lancaster Central School District (2019-2020); wait staff support, Brennan's Bowery Bar (2018); food preparer, Grassos Pizza (2018)

Donald William Binckes (1991)

B.S. Business administration, King's College (2013)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-present); client solutions specialist, Vanguard (2019-2020); client service specialist, Vanguard (2018-2019); brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2018)

David Blackstone (1964)

B.A. Economics and Psychology, Northwestern University (1986)

M.B.A., University of Chicago (2000)

J.D., Temple University (2006)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial consultant, self-employed (2018-2020)

Andrew Donald Bolland (1992)

B.A. Economics, Washington College (2015)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, Mutual of Omaha Investor Services, Inc. (2020-2021); registered representative, Mutual of Omaha Investor Services, Inc. (2019-2020)

Outside activities: Mr. Bolland was a self-employed insurance agent and still receives residual income from his business. Mr. Bolland does not offer new policies to clients. Vanguard Advisers, Inc., has no affiliation with the insurance agency, and Mr. Bolland's residual income does not conflict with his position at Vanguard.

Dwayne Bordelon (1961)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial advisor, Edward Jones (2018-2021)

Thomas Russell Thomasovich Bonifield (2000)

B.S. Finance, Arizona State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); retention specialist, State Farm (2020–2022); accounting assistant, Arizona State University (2020); associate, Amazon Logistics (2019); intern, AWM Capital (2018–2019)

Austin Born (1996)

B.S. Finance, Saint Joseph's University (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); client representative, Vanguard (2021-2023); client case representative, Vanguard (2019-2021); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2019); client relationship associate, Randstad (2019); financial processor, Randstad (2018-2019)

Ikeem Boyd (1994)

B.S. Finance and Business management, West Chester University (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); private client banker, JPMorgan Chase (2019-2022); financial advisor trainee, Merrill Lynch (2018-2019); customer service representative, Aerotek (2018); loan advisor, Freedom Mortgage (2018)

Comischell Bradley-Rodriguez, CFP® (1965)

B.A. Music, Asbury University (1988)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, CUSO Financial Services at Ohio University Credit Union (2019-2021); licensed client service associate, United Brokerage Services (2019); financial services professional, New York Life Insurance Company (2018-2019); registered representative, NYLIFE Securities, LLC (2018-2019)

Outside activities: Ms. Bradley-Rodriguez is an owner of rental property. Vanguard Advisers, Inc., has no affiliation with the rental property, and Ms. Bradley-Rodriguez's responsibilities do not conflict with her position at Vanguard.

John Patrick Braun (1998)

B.A. Political science, Gettysburg College (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2020-2022); finance intern, BLB&B Advisors, LLC. clubhouse valet, Commonwealth National Country Club (2018-2019); prospect clinic instructor, Gettysburg College (2018-2019)

Joyce Breinlinger (1971)

B.S. Accounting, University of Delaware (1993)

M.B.A., Loyola University Maryland (2006)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client case representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); business manager, Steven Breinlinger State Farm Agency (2018-2020); finance business manager, ChristianaCare (2018)

Kimberly Anne Brenes (1972)

B.A. Political science, Arizona State University (1994)

M.I.M. International business management, Thunderbird School of Global Management (1996)

M.L.I.S. Library and information science, (2012)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); freelance business & resume writer, Talent Inc. (2020)

Michael Bristoll (1988)

B.A. Business, Arizona State University (2019)

Manager, Vanguard (2021-present); Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-2021); client solutions specialist, Vanguard (2019-2020); assigned representative, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Jonathan Keith Britt, CFP® (1992)

B.A. Psychology, Coker College (2014)

E.J.D., Purdue University Global (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); branch examiner, J.W. Cole (2022); senior financial planner, Facet Wealth (2021-2022); financial advisor, DiPaolo Financial Group (2021); investment counselor, Fisher Investments (2020-2021); relationship manager, Fidelity (2018-2020)

Alec Christopher Bruington (1995)

B.S. Business administration, University of Missouri (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); portfolio implementation associate, Vanguard (2019-2021); brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2018-2019); recruiter, Great Plains Technical Services (2018)

Martin Francis Bucko (1962)

B.S. Accounting, Villanova University (1984)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial advisor, E*TRADE (2019-2021); senior relationship manager, Charles Schwab (2018)

Javier Buitron Jr. (1993)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client service associate, JPMorgan Chase (2021-2022); relationship banker, Citizens Bank (2019-2021); personal banker, WSFS Bank (2018-2019); department manager, Walmart (2018)

Emanuele Buonamici (1973)

B.A. Journalism, Temple University (1995)

M.S. Taxation and financial planning., Widener University (2012)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial wellness consultant, PNC Bank (2018-2021); private client group relationship manager, PNC Bank (2018)

Kyle Busher (1998)

B.A. Business, organizations, and society, Franklin & Marshall College (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); operations analyst, SEI (2020–2021); intern, Morgan Stanley (2019); busser, Stoner Grille (2019); driver, Lyft (2019); delivery driver, NAPA Auto Parts (2018–2019); intern, Logistic Solutions, Inc. (2018)

Jay Thomas Carlson (2000)

B.S. Finance, Northern Arizona University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); barista, Dutch Bros Coffee (2019–2022)

Michael Joseph Casey (1993)

B.A. Business sustainability, Arizona State University (2016)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); investment professional, Vanguard (2019-2021); brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Cody Catron (1990)

B.S. Marketing, Iowa State University (2013)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); investment servicing senior specialist, JPMorgan Securities (2019-2022); mortgage servicing specialist, Wells Fargo (2018-2019)

George Brekinridge Cauffman (1991)

B.S. Accounting and business administration, Washington and Lee University (2014)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); business development consultant, Citrine Power (2020-2021); financial analyst, CBRE (2018-2020)

Flint Chandler (1968)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, AIG/VALIC (2019-2021); financial advisor, Merrill Lynch (2018-2019)

Jack Armand Chapel (1998)

B.S. Finance, The University of Arizona (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial advisor, Equitable Advisors (2020-2022); intern, Camelback Wealth Consultants shift lead, Unbaked (2018)

Robert Joseph Cherry (1994)

B.S. Finance and Economics, Grand Canyon University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); personal trainer, Fit Republic (2020); fitness advisor, In Shape (2018–2019)

Outside activities: Mr. Cherry is a host for Airbnb. Vanguard Advisers, Inc., has no affiliation with Airbnb, and Mr. Cherry's responsibilities do not conflict with his position at Vanguard.

Alexander Cheung (1956)

B.A. Economics and Public administration, University of London (1980)

M.A. Economics, University of Pennsylvania (1982)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, Global Technical Talent, Inc. (2020-2021); managing director, Eastwater Investment LLC

Adam Williams Chirhart (1990)

B.B.A. Management, The University of Texas at Tyler (2012)

M.B.A., Auburn University (2019)

Manager, Vanguard (2022-present); manager, State Farm Management Corporation (2019-2022); team manager, State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company (2018-2019)

Sean Christy (1999)

B.B.A. Finance, Stephen F. Austin State University (2021)

M.B.A., Stephen F. Austin State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2024–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2023–2024); intern, BXS Insurance (2022); student advisor, Marleta Chadwick Student Advisors (2021–2022); salesman, Fishing Tackle Unlimited (2019)

Caterina Mary Ciarlante (1964)

Saint Joseph's University (1988, non-degree)

Manager, Vanguard (2021-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2019-2021); assigned representative, Vanguard (2018-2019)

John Ciavarelli (1988)

B.S. Business administration, Drexel University (2012)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); retirement specialist, Vanguard (2020-2021); client service specialist, Vanguard (2019-2020); client service associate, WSFS Wealth Investments (2019); driver, Uber Technologies, Inc. (2018-2019); wealth management analyst, JPMorgan Private Bank (2018)

Hunter Kennedy Clark (1997)

B.S.B.A. Finance, East Carolina University (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); loan analyst, CapCenter (2021); (2020-2021); associate advisor, Equitable Advisors (2020); accounting intern, GMS network technician, The Tri-M Group, LLC (2018); lifeguard, Kennett Area YMCA (2018)

J. Austin Closs Jr. (1985)

B.S. Criminal justice, Tarleton State University (2008)

M.S. Finance, Johns Hopkins University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad (2023); special agent, Federal Bureau of Investigation (2018-2020); financial center manager, Frost Bank (2018)

Juliana Coates (1985)

B.S. French and Biology, State University of New York at Albany (2007)

M.B.A., State University of New York at Albany (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial analyst, Goldman Sachs (2019-2022); member service leader, SEFCU (2018-2019) Outside activities: Ms. Coates is an owner of rental property. Vanguard Advisers, Inc., has no affiliation with the rental property, and Ms. Coates' responsibilities do not conflict with her position at Vanguard.

Dante Pasquale Colarusso (1997)

B.S.B.A. Finance, University of Pittsburgh (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); performance analyst, Bank of New York Mellon (2020–2022); associate, Costco Wholesale (2020); resident assistant, University of Pittsburgh (2019–2020); associate, Target (2019–2020); wealth management trust tax intern, PricewaterhouseCoopers (2018–2019); server's assistant, Morton's The Steakhouse (2018); legal intern, Rob Perkins Law, LLC (2018)

John Collins (1956)

B.S. Economics, Rockford University (1980)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-present); national key accounts director, Oberweis Asset Management (2018–2019)

Kara Connolly (2000)

B.S. Finance, The University of Arizona (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); specialty flex associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); operations intern, Charles Schwab (2021); management trainee intern, Enterprise Rent-a-Car (2020–2021); server, Enclave Senior Living at Anthem (2020); server and shift lead, Sauce Pizza and Wine (2019–2020); server, Enclave Senior Living at Anthem (2018); hostess, Anthem Gold and Country Club (2018)

Easton Mark Cook (1989)

B.S. Business, University of Phoenix (2014)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2018-present)

Kyle Robert Cooney (1999)

B.A. Economics, University of South Carolina (2021)

M.A. Economics, University of South Carolina (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); financial analyst intern, G3 Wealth Advisors (2021–2022); supervisor, Cape Resorts (2019–2020)

Frank J Cordova Jr. (1995)

B.B.A. Finance and Management, New Mexico State University (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client representative, Vanguard (2020-2022); manager, MCF Construction, Inc. (2018–2019)

Jeffrey Paul Corser, II (1999)

B.B.A., Roanoke College (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); federal and state tax consultant, Sonoco (2021); student assistant, Roanoke College (2019)

Kristen Cortez (1985)

B.S. Tourism and hospitality management, Temple University (2008)

M.B.A, The Pennsylvania State University (2010)

Manager, Vanguard (2023-present); chief of staff, Vanguard (2023); supervisor, Vanguard (2021-2022); client service representative, Vanguard (2018-2021)

Conner Paul Covington (1998)

B.S. Agricultural economics, Texas A&M University (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); glazier technician, American Glass Company (2021); student worker, Texas A&M University (2020); sales intern, John Hancock Investment Management (2020); cashier, Rudy's Bar-B-Q live production intern, Tyson (2018)

Jonathan Admiral Covington (1986)

B.S. Aerospace and Mechanical engineering, Oklahoma State University (2010)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial advisor, 49 Financial (2019-2022); financial analyst, 49 Financial (2019-2021); construction contractor, The Chatham Collective (2018-2019); aerospace engineer, Aerospace Quality Research & Development (2018)

Devon Alexander Cristales (1994)

Monroe Community College (Fall 2018 and Spring 2019, non-degree)

B.S. Management, Arizona State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); business development representative intern, Axway (2022); work study, Pat Tillman Veterans Center (2020–2022); sales associate, Guess Inc. (2019–2020); patient care technician, Rochester Regional Health (2019); cook and bartender, Embark Craft Ciderworks (2018–2019)

Andrew John Curran (2000)

B.S. Finance, Virginia Tech (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); advice intern, Randstad (2021); landscaper, Eastern Terrain Landscaping (2019–2020); driver helper, UPS (2018); cashier, Downs Farm Swim Club (2018)

Alfred Current (1988)

B.S. Criminal justice, Appalachian State University (2014)

Manager, Vanguard (2021-present); senior associate, Vanguard (2020-2021); brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2018-2020) Outside activities: Mr. Current is a captain in the North Carolina Army National Guard. Vanguard Advisers, Inc., has no affiliation with the North Carolina National Guard, and Mr. Current's responsibilities do not conflict with his position at Vanguard.

Matthew Alex Czerw (2000)

B.S. Finance and Risk management and insurance, University of South Carolina (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); driver, DoorDash (2022); shopper, Instacart (2021–2022); project management intern, Chubb (2021); pizza delivery driver, Nicholas Pizza (2021); college financial representative, Northwestern Mutual (2020); worker, Ercolanus Plant Nursery (2019); pizza delivery driver, Frank's Pizza (2018–2019); pizza delivery driver, Lenny's Pizza (2018)

Michael D'Antonio, CFP® (1994)

B.S. History, University of Delaware (2016)

Manager, Vanguard (2022-present); navigator, Vanguard (2020-2022); supervisor, Vanguard (2019-2020); financial planner, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Jonathan Daines (1999)

B.S. Business administration, Winthrop University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); advice intern, Randstad (2021); associate trainer, Panera Bread Company (2018–2022)

Matthew Dalo (1995)

B.S. Finance, The Pennsylvania State University (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); retirement sales consultant, Vanguard (2020-2022); investment services representative, Vanguard (2019-2020); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Drake Dalton (1995)

B.S. Personal financial planning, Utah Valley University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); workplace planning consultant, Fidelity Investments (2021–2022); sales representative, Moxie Pest Control (2019–2021); account manager intern, TrueNorth Wealth (2019); support services representative, Nu Skin Enterprises (2018)

Michael Dalton (1997)

B.S.B.A. Finance, Elon University (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); inheritance administrator, Vanguard (2020-2021); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2019-2020); intern, Metro Landmarks LLC (2018-2019)

Nathan Daniel (1997)

B.S. Applied health science, Messiah University (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2024–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2023–2024); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2021–2023); physical therapy support specialist, Concentra (2019–2020)

Aditi A. Dayal, CFP® (1974)

B.B.A. Finance and International business administration, Temple University (2002)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); investment consultant, Vanguard (2020-2022); retirement sales consultant, Vanguard (2018-2020)

Evan de Castro (2000)

B.S. Finance, Virginia Tech (2022)

B.S. Accounting, Virginia Tech (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); Vanguard contractor, Randstad (2021); intern, Variant Private Wealth (2020–2021); intern, BoodleAi (2019–2020); associate, Office Depot (2019); mover, Tyler Whitmore Interiors (2018)

Neil DeLucca (1984)

B.S. Marketing, Temple University (2008)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); investment consultant, Vanguard (2020-2022); account transition specialist, Vanguard (2018-2020)

Josephine Regeic Del Duca, CFP® (1966)

B.A. English, Colby College (1988)

M.B.A., University of Delaware (1997)

M.S.Ed. Education, University of Pennsylvania (2007)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); client care case manager, Vanguard (2020-2021); financial processor, Randstad (2019-2020); teacher, Sacred Heart Academy (2018-2019)

Beau Denhalter (1999)

B.S. Finance, Utah State University (2021)

B.S. Management, Utah State University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); specialty flex associate, Vanguard (2021-2022); teacher's assistant, Utah State University (2019-2021); coach, Codo's Coaching (2018-2021); delivery driver, Domino's Pizza (2018-2021); Small Enterprise Education and Development ambassador, Utah State University (2019)

Carly Denial (1998)

B.S. Finance, Northern Arizona University (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2020–2023); investment services representative, Vanguard (2020); recreation department associate, Forest Highlands (2019–2020); bartender and server, The Mayor (2019–2020)

Trenton Alexander Derrick (1995)

B.S.B.A. Finance, The University of North Carolina at Charlotte (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-present); client associate, Vanguard (2019-2020); investment professional, Vanguard (2018-2019); brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2018)

Rafael Josue Diaz (1982)

B.A. Communications, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill (2005)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); retirement sales consultant, Vanguard (2019-2021); retirement sales specialist, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Andrew Dietterich (1994)

B.S. Finance, Gwynedd Mercy University (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); investment consultant, Vanguard (2020-2021); client associate, Vanguard (2019-2020); brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2018-2019); financial representative, Northwestern Mutual (2018)

Benjamin Alexander Dillon (1996)

B.A. Criminal justice, Monmouth University (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2021-2023); manager, La Dolce Vita (2019-2021); (2019-2021); server/manager, Catelli Duo (2018-2020); intern, New Jersey Superior Court–Burlington County (2018-2019); intern, Office of the Public Defender–Middlesex County (2018); server, Panicos (2018); food runner, Buffalo Wild Wings (2018)

Sydney DiNatale (2000)

B.S. Finance, The University of Alabama (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); sales intern, Adams-Martin Allstate (2021–2022); loan officer assistant, First Federal Bank (2020–2021); bank teller, Eastern Bank (2019–2021); faculty scholar, The University of Alabama (2019–2020); server, Lookout Rooftop Bar (2021); server, Side by

Side Kitchen & Cocktails (2021); associate, Lazercraze (2018)

Conchita Dixon (1975)

B.S. Accounting, The Pennsylvania State University Erie – The Behrend College (1997)

M.S. Taxation and financial planning, Widener University (2008)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial consultant, TIAA (2018-2020)

Thomas Dohogne (1998)

B.S. Finance, Grand Canyon University (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, Equitable Advisors (2020-2021)

William Daniel Dollar (1999)

B.S. Business management, University of North Carolina Asheville (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); house sitter, self-employed (2022); analyst, JacksonKate Trading, LLC. (2020–2022); financial consultant, House of Brandstracts, Inc. (2021–2022); dishwasher and prep cook, Avenue M (2019–2020); mentor, McRorie-Williams (2018–2019)

Patrick Donovan (1981)

A.S. Communications, Montgomery County Community College (2003)

B.A. English literature, West Chester University (2006)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial advisor, Ameriprise Financial (2020-2022); general manager, Regal Cinemas (2018-2021)

Michael Weston Dove (2000)

B.S. Finance, Virginia Tech (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); remote mutual fund co-op, Edward Jones (2021); musician on streaming and online services, self-employed (2020–2021); contact driver for DoorDash, self-employed (2020–2021); barista, EspressOasis (2019–2020); associate, Taste Unlimited (2019); intern, Trinity Church (2019)

Madison Leigh Drew (1997)

B.S. Finance and Entrepreneurial management, University of South Carolina (2019)

Manager, Vanguard (2022-present); financial planner, Vanguard (2022); Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-2021); investment consultant, Vanguard (2019-2020); financial services intern, Carolinas Wealth Management (2018-2019); marketing intern and office administrator, Southern Woodcraft & Design (2018-2019); financial services intern, Beneficial Investments (2018)

Jacob Dunn (2001)

B.S. Financial counseling and planning, Purdue University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); guest experience ambassador, Hornets Sports and Entertainment (2022–2023); golf course attendant, Tipton Municipal Golf Course (2022); member services manager, Purdue Recreation and Wellness (2020–2022); private wealth intern, First Merchants Bank (2021); sales intern, AgReliant Genetics (2020); street department helper, City of Tipton (2019); pollinator, Beck's Hybrids (2018)

Andrew Evan Eastland (1998)

B.A. Economics, Davidson College (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2021-2022); winter analyst, Tobin & Company Investment Banking Group (2020-2021); innovation center front desk associate, Davidson

College (2018-2021); logistics planning analyst, Blue Ribbon Transport (2020); policy assistant; Associated Builders and Contractors (2019); order selector, SpartanNash (2018)

Jenna Egan (2000)

B.S. Financial planning and wealth management, University of Delaware (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); financial planning resident, Benchmark Financial LLC (2021–2022); soccer coach, DKS Sports Development LLC (2022); bartender/server, Randolph Bar and Grill (2019–2022); server, Cracker Barrel (2018)

Thomas Edward Egan (1997)

B.S. Finance, The College of New Jersey (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client case representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); client representative, Vanguard (2020-2021); financial professional, Karr Barth Associates (2020); wealth management intern, Morgan Stanley finance intern, Stokes Creative Group (2019); physical therapy assistant, Maple Leaf Physical Therapy (2018); counselor, Nike Sports Camps (2018)

Cody Alan Eggers (1994)

B.S. Business administration, Wheeling Jesuit University (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-present); retirement specialist, Vanguard (2018-2020); brokerage investment specialist, Vanguard (2018)

Christine Anne Eichorn (1961)

B.S. Arts and letters, Portland State University (1999)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); client case representative, Vanguard (2021–2023); brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2019–2021); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2018–2019); illustrator and designer, cMack Design (2018)

Ian Matthew English (1997)

B.A. Economics and Spanish literature, Hillsdale College (2020)

Manager, Vanguard (2022-present); emerging leader development program, Vanguard (2020-2022); head of student office workers, Hillsdale College (2018-2020); data analysis intern, Institute for Humane Studies (2019); development intern, The Atlas Network (2018)

Joshua Harris Eskin (2000)

B.A. Philosophy, politics and economics, University of Pennsylvania (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); summer intern, Levy Wealth Management Group (2021); intern, Eisenberg, Rothweiler, Winkler, Eisenberg & Jeck, P.C. (2020); summer intern, Primerica, Inc. (2020); summer intern, Cormis Partnership (2019); brand ambassador, Atlas College Marketing Group, Inc. (2018–2020); busser, Cantina Feliz (2018–2019)

John Escudero (1977)

B.S. Business administration, San Diego State University (2016)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); sales consultant, Vanguard (2021-2023); client representative, Vanguard (2020-2021); retirement specialist, Vanguard (2018-2020); investment professional, Vanguard (2018)

John Eyen (1980)

B.S. Management, The Pennsylvania State University (2003)

Manager, Vanguard (2022-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2020-2022); client consultant, Vanguard (2019-2020); client relationship specialist, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Lauren Heffernan Feeney, CFP® (1991)

B.A. Art history, Skidmore College (2013)

Manager, Vanguard (2022-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2019-2022); cost basis resolutions associate, Vanguard (2018-2019); retail resolution services associate, Vanguard (2018)

Carlos Henrique Miranda Feitosa (1985)

B.A. Political science, Arizona State University (2011)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-present); sales specialist, Vanguard (2018-2020)

Nathan Fierston (1999)

B.S. Finance, Elon University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); financial analyst – business performance management, United Health Group (2021); financial analyst, global underwriting, United Health Group (2020); customer service operations assistant, Fierston Financial Group (2018–2019); outside operations, The Hartford Golf Club (2018–2019); golf instructor, The Hartford Golf Club (2018–2019)

Samuel Fink (1997)

B.S.B.A. Finance, Northern Arizona University (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client service associate, Vanguard (2020-2022); personal banker, Wells Fargo (2018-2020)

Adam Finke (1999)

B.S. Finance and Economics, Purdue University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); dock hand, Freedom Boat Club (2019–2021); personal trainer, No Limit Training Company (2018)

Johnanthony J. Fiorilli Jr. (1998)

B.S. Finance, The Pennsylvania State University (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); orders client representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2020-2021); moderator, Distance CME LLC (2018-2020); referee, National Intercollegiate Soccer Officials (2018-2020); referee, United States Soccer Federation (2018-2020)

Ian Bennett Flynn (1999)

B.S. Finance and Financial planning and wealth management, John Carroll University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); financial planning intern, Wealth Advocate Group (2021); manual laborer, Dependable Scaffolding, LLC (2020–2021); caddie, Shaker Country Club (2021); caddie, Canterbury Country Club (2020); caddie, Westwood Country Club (2019–2020); lifeguard, Westwood Country Club (2019)

Patrick Flynn (1992)

B.S. Athletic training, West Chester University (2014)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial services representative, Bank, N.A. (2019-2021); financial representative, Northwestern Mutual (2019); assistant group supervisor, Rocky Run YMCA (2018-2019)

Corey James Ford (1993)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); server, Snooze Eatery (2020-2022); (2020-2021); bartender, Sanchos Cantina (2018-2021); general manager, Companions (2018)

Jonathan Nicholas Foreacre (1980)

B.A. Liberal arts, West Chester University (2009)

Manager, Vanguard (2019-present); assigned representative, Vanguard (2018-2019)

James Bently Forker, CFP® (1994)

B.S.B.A. Finance and Accounting, Elon University (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); sales specialist, Vanguard (2020-2021); client consultant, Vanguard (2019-2020); investment professional, Vanguard (2018-2019); brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2018)

Joseph Anthony Fosco (1987)

B.S. Finance and Economics, West Chester University (2016)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); operations specialist, Vanguard (2018-2020)

Gavin Fox (1999)

B.S. Finance, Virginia Tech (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial advisor, McAdam Financial (2021-2022); finance intern, PTC camp counselor, Mattapoisett Recreation Summer Camp (2018)

Paul Fox (1963)

B.A. History, University of Illinois at Chicago (1988)

M.P.A., The University of Arizona (2001)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2018-present)

Ross David Fraser (1994)

B.A.S. Supervision and management, Daytona State College (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); orders brokerage associate, Vanguard (2020-2022); client service representative, Vanguard (2020); life, health and annuity servicing representative iii, USAA (2019-2020); property claims adjuster iii, USAA (2018-2019)

Sarah Fremin, CFP® (1996)

B.S. Management, The University of North Carolina at Charlotte (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-present); retirement specialist, Vanguard (2019-2020); client relationship specialist, Vanguard (2018-2019); financial analyst, Robert Half (2018)

Audrey Nichole Fuga (2000)

B.A. Finance, Michigan State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); server, Country Club of Detroit (2021); driver, DoorDash (2019–2020); receptionist, PLAY (2019–2020); administrative assistant, General Surveillance, Inc. (2019); server, Grosse Point Club (2018)

Samuel Fulbright (1999)

B.S. Finance, The University of North Carolina at Charlotte (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2021-2022); event specialist, On24 (2019-2021); customer service, Harris Teeter (2018-2020)

Jay Fuller (1956)

The University of Arizona (1974, non-degree)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial advisor, Bankers Life Securities, Inc. (2022); president, Sound Wealth Management, LLC (2018-2022); financial advisor, Merrill Lynch (2020-2021); wealth management consultant, Saybrus Equity Services, Inc. (2018)

Sharnise Gadsden (1977)

B.S. Business administration, The Pennsylvania State University (2000)

M.B.A., Rosemont College (2016)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2018-present)

Christopher Douglas Gaffney (1985)

B.A. Political science, The University of North Carolina at Charlotte (2011)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client representative, Vanguard (2020-2022); registered representative, New York Life Insurance Company (2018-2020); group certification manager, Enterprise Holdings (2018)

Wesley Baker Gaines, CFP® (1979)

B.A. Spanish, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill (2001)

M.A. Spanish linguistics, The Pennsylvania State University (2005)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); manager, Vanguard (2021-2023); senior trainer, Vanguard (2018-2021)

Andrew Gaither (1985)

B.A. Finance, University of South Carolina (2008)

M.B.A., Wake Forest University (2022)

Manager, Vanguard (2023-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2021-2023); financial planner, Vanguard (2019-2021); inheritance specialist, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Davide Galiano (1988)

B.S.B.A., Universitá Carlo Catteneo (2012)

M.S. International business, Hult International Business School (2013)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial solution advisor, Merrill Edge (2020); registered banker, Wells Fargo Advisors (2018-2020); business banker, Wells Fargo (2018-2020)

Andrew Michael Gallagher (1988)

A.A.S. Business, Community College of Philadelphia (2009)

B.B.A. Real estate, Temple University (2012)

Manager, Vanguard (2021-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2018-2021); assigned representative, Vanguard (2018); officer candidate, Pennsylvania National Guard (2018)

John Patrick Gallagher Jr., CFP® (1991)

B.A. Global history, Washington & Lee University (2013)

Manager, Vanguard (2021-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2018-2021)

Christopher Gallop (1985)

B.A. Economics, University of Alberta (2008)

M.A. Community and regional planning, The University of British Columbia (2011)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client consultant, Vanguard (2021-2022); tax professional, H&R Block (2020-2021); server, Founding Farmers (2018-2021)

Alvaro Galvez (1995)

B.B.A. Finance, University of Georgia (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client consultant, Vanguard (2020-2022); client case representative, Vanguard (2019-2020); client services representative, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Erwin Brent Gant (1964)

B.S. Business administration, Widener University (1992)

M.B.A., Eastern University (1996)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); senior vice president, Legacy Advisors (2018-2022)

Disciplinary information: In 2015, the Pennsylvania Department of Banking issued a Consent Agreement and Order which found Erwin Gant and Gant Private Financial Management ("GPFM"), a sole proprietorship for which Mr. Gant acted as president and owner, to have violated the Pennsylvania Securities Act by failing to register as an investment adviser in Pennsylvania during the period from January 1, 2013, until April 24, 2013. GPFM engaged in the business of advising others for compensation, however, was not registered and was not exempt from registration with the State as an investment adviser. Mr. Gant and GPFM were ordered to pay an administrative assessment in the amount of \$5,296.64. See FINRA's BrokerCheck for more information.

George Frank Garcia (1999)

B.S. Finance, Utah State University (2022)

B.S. Economics, Utah State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); teaching assistant, Utah State University (2022); North American retail sales intern, General Mills (2021); green office manager intern, Utah State University (2020–2021); contractor, Your Employment Solutions (2020); sales intern, Peterson Worldwide (2019)

John Gardner (1976)

B.S. Accounting, West Chester University (2009)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client relationship representative, Vanguard (2018-2022)

Joseph Gardner (1995)

B.S. Accounting, Arizona State University (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); tax associate, Price Kong CPAs & Consultants (2021); tax associate, Edwards, Largay, Mihaylo, and Co. (2020–2021); corporate tax intern, Rogers Corporation (2019); sales tax project team lead, DollarDays International (2018–2019)

Will Harold Garnaas (2000)

B.S. Finance and Economics, Grand Canyon University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); associate banker, JPMorgan Chase (2021–2022); remote marketing representative, Sidecar LLC (2021); server, Flower Child (2019–2020); golf cart attendant, Tierra Oaks Country Club (2019); pool server, The Country Club of Sioux Falls (2018)

Michael Gathers-LeMar (1996)

B.B.A., Neumann University (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2022–2023); relationship banker, JPMorgan Chase (2021–2022); associate banker, JPMorgan Chase (2019–2021)

Elias Gazda (2000)

B.A. Business administration, Franklin & Marshall College (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); market analyst intern, JM Search (2021); head lifeguard, Framingham Country Club (2019–2020); swim coach/instructor, Framingham Country Club (2019–2020)

Michael David Gee (1988)

B.A. Business, Arizona State University (2016)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); sales consultant, Vanguard (2019-2021); investment professional, Vanguard (2018-2019)

William Arthur Gellman (1961)

B.S. Biology, The Pennsylvania State University (1983)

M.A. Zoology, University of Montana (1991)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, 1847Financial (2020-2021); financial advisor, Sequinox

Peter James Gerdt Jr. (1999)

B.S. Finance, West Chester University (2021)

M.S. Financial analysis, Temple University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); sourcing rotational/flex intern, Bristol-Meyer Squibb (2020–2021); management intern, Transition Patient Services, LLC (2019)

Porfilia Gloria (1979)

B.S. Finance, Arizona State University (2007)

M.B.A., Grand Canyon University (2021)

Manager, Vanguard (2021-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2018-2021)

Gavin Gochnour (1999)

B.S. Finance, Virginia Tech (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); intern, Egan, Berger & Weiner (2021); driver, Uber Eats (2020); salesman, K-Coast (2019)

Alec Goldman (1999)

B.S. Personal finance, University of Wisconsin–Madison (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); 2021; financial representative, Northwestern Mutual (2020); tennis starter, Elite Amenity (2018-2020); gym attendant, Elite Amenity (2018-2020); operations and accounting intern, Premier HealthCare (2019)

Josh Goldy (1994)

B.S. International relations, West Chester University (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); sales specialist, Vanguard (2021-2022); retirement plan specialist, Vanguard (2019-2021); retirement plan specialist, Randstad (2018-2019); sales support, CardioNet (2018)

Adrienne Gonzalez (1996)

B.S.B.A. Finance and Risk management and insurance, University of South Carolina (2018) Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial professional, Equitable Advisors (2018-2021)

Daniel Gorman (1996)

B.S. Business management, Florida Gulf Coast University (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2023); portfolio implementation associate, Vanguard (2019-2022); produce associate, Giant Food Stores (2018-2019)

Matthew Robert Goshey (1986)

B.A. Sociology, West Chester University (2009)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-present); change of ownership specialist, Vanguard (2018-2020); personal banker, WSFS Bank (2018)

Outside activities: Mr. Goshey is a mobile sales associate at Best Buy. Vanguard Advisers, Inc., has no affiliation with Best Buy, and Mr. Goshey's responsibilities do not conflict with his position at Vanguard.

Eric Gould (1999)

B.A. Financial planning, Arizona State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); environment, social, and governance investment practicum, Arizona State University (2021–2022); servers' assistant, Four Peaks Brewing Company (2021–2022); wealth management intern, Arrowroot Family Office (2020); driver, DoorDash (2020); director's assistant, Coto De Caza Gold and Racquet Club (2018)

Jamai Grant (1997)

B.A. African and African American studies, Lehman College (2020)

B.B.A., Lehman College (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client foundation financial advisor, UBS 2021; marketing intern, Cococozy (2020); sales specialist, Swarovski sales specialist, Victoria's Secret (2018)

Nicholas Greco (2000)

B.S. Finance, Rowan University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); salesman, Greco Pressure Washing & Property Services (2018–2022); laborer, Greco Pressure Washing and Property Services (2018–2022); wealth management intern, Morgan Stanley (2021); file clerk intern, The Wolk Law Firm (2018–2021)

Vincent Gregorovich (1969)

B.A. History, Purdue University (1993) Financial planner, Vanguard (2018-present)

Michael Albert Guaman (1991)

B.A. Political science, Texas Tech University (2015)

M.S. Personal financial planning, Texas Tech University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); intern, Financial Synergies Wealth Advisors (2022); mortgage loan originator, Quicken Loans (2021–2022); retirement consultant, GWFS Equities, Inc. (2021); licensed banker, JPMorgan Chase (2018–2020); universal banker, Capital One Bank (2018)

Jose Enrique Guerra-Mena (1991)

B.S. Psychology, Arizona State University (2013)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); portfolio implementation associate, Vanguard (2019-2021); retirement plan specialist, Vanguard (2018-2019)

William Foster Guinan Jr. (1994)

B.A. Political science, Dickinson College (2016)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); client consultant, Vanguard (2020-2021); retirement specialist, Vanguard (2019-2020); investment professional, Vanguard (2018-2019); client investment representative, Vanguard (2018); client service associate, Randstad (2018)

Avnish Gupta (1999)

BCom, Finance, McGill University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); quick response force and infantry support, Singapore Armed Forces (2018–2019)

Kenneth Edward Hack (1980)

B.S.B.A. Entrepreneurship, Central Michigan University (2006)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); registered representative, GoldBook Financial (2020-2022); soccer coach, Phoenix Rising Football Club Youth Soccer (2018-2021); senior associate, Emerson Equity (2020); private wealth advisor, e3 Wealth (2018-2020); head coach boys soccer, Notre Dame Preparatory High School (2018) Outside activities: Mr. Hack is a soccer coach with Real Salt Lake—Arizona Soccer Club. Vanguard Advisers, Inc., has no affiliation with Real Salt Lake—Arizona Soccer Club, and Mr. Hack's responsibilities do not conflict with his position at Vanguard.

Kyle Adam Hagemeier (1990)

B.S. Finance, Southern New Hampshire University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); retail sales consultant, Vanguard (2020-2022); advisor trainee, First Command Financial Services (2020); naval aircrewman, United States Navy (2018-2020)

Tyler Hakel (1997)

B.S. Finance, The Pennsylvania State University (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); financial service representative, Erie Federal Credit Union (2021–2022); teller, Erie Federal Credit Union (2021); teller, Northwest Bank (2020–2021); usher, Cinemark (2018–2020)

Lauren Judith Hall, CFP® (1962)

B.S. Marketing, University of Phoenix (2000)

M.B.A., University of Phoenix (2003)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2018-present)

Corrina Halter (1968)

B.A. Political science, Washington State University (2002)

E.M.S.L. Sustainability leadership, Arizona State University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, Equitable Advisors, LLC (2019-2020); control manager, JPMorgan Chase (2018-2019)

Susan Halter (1961)

B.S. Television production, Emerson College (1984)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); owner, Connections Consulting (2020-2021); ssociate program director – executive education, Simmons University (2018-2020)

Sunil Handa, CFP® (1960)

B.Sc. Chemistry, Kirori Mal College (1980)

M.Sc. Chemistry, University of Delhi (1982)

M.B.A. Marketing, University of the West of Scotland (2002)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); registered representative, Equitable Advisors (2021-2022); supply chain manager, Sigma Corporation (2018-2022); master tax advisor, H&R Block (2018-2022); district leader, PFS Investments (2018-2021)

Barton Jay Hanline (1965)

B.B.A. Finance, The University of Toledo (1987)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); change-of-ownership specialist, Vanguard (2020-2021); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2019-2020); senior annuity specialist, MetLife (2018-2019)

Nicholas Taylor Harris (1993)

B.S.B.A. Marketing, Appalachian State University (2015)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); branch banker, Truist (2018-2021); sales associate; Nike Factory Story (2018)

Shanaya Richina Harris (1984)

B.B.A. Business administration, Queens University of Charlotte (2006)

M.S. Accounting, Strayer University (2010)

Manager, Vanguard (2018-present)

Erin Kit Wei Harrison (1990)

B.Bus.Com. Accounting, Finance and Macroeconomics, Monash University (2013)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad (2022); paraplanner, BS Financial Advisory (2019)

Matthew Harter (1998)

B.S. Finance, The Pennsylvania State University (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); financial advisor, Global Advisor Group (2020-2022); wealth management intern, Radnor Financial Advisors summer intern, Backyard Beans Coffee Company (2018)

Paige Elizabeth Hartian (1997)

B.A. Economics, Virginia Tech University (2019)

Manager, Vanguard (2023-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2021-2023); client representative associate, Vanguard (2019-2021); brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2019); sales lead, Ann Inc. (2018-2019); sales associate, Ann Inc. (2018-2019); dining hall worker, Virginia Tech University (2018)

Kevin Hatten (2000)

B.S. Finance, The Pennsylvania State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); intern, Siemens Healthineers (2021); server, Gigi's Southern Table (2020–2021); shopper, Instacart (2020–2021); server, The Deauville Inn (2019–2020); busser, Liberty Union (2018)

Hilary Hayes (1971)

B.S. Biology, Dickinson College (1990)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad (2022); financial consultant, self-employed (2018-2022); Co-Owner/Managing Partner, Highland Markets, LLC (2018-2022); board member, Friends of Butterfield Library (2018-2019)

Outside activities: Ms. Hayes is co-owner and managing partner of Highland Markets, LLC. Vanguard Advisers, Inc., has no affiliation with Highland Markets, LLC, and Ms. Hayes' responsibilities do not conflict with her position at Vanguard.

Jeffrey S. Hayes (1964)

B.A. Business administration and Finance, California State University, Fullerton (2005)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad 2022; high net worth senior financial advisor, Personal Capital (2018-2020)

Matthew Scott Hecker (1982)

B.S. Business administration, Grand Canyon University (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2020-2022); retirement plan specialist, Vanguard (2018-2020)

Amber Nicole Hepler (1995)

B.S. Business administration, Edinboro University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2021-2022); transportation/direct support professional, Vallonia Industries (2018-2021); cashier, Giant Eagle (2019-2021); student worker, Edinboro University Financial Aid Office (2020); virtual extern, Financial Planning Association (2020); youth support worker, Bethesda Lutheran Services (2018-2019); community support specialist, KaleidAScope, Inc. (2018-2019); direct support professional, The Arc of Crawford County (2018); student worker, Edinboro University Psychology Department (2018)

Alex Hilbert (1986)

B.A. Bible, Bob Jones University (2009)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); account manager, JNR Networks LLC (2021-2022); owner, Hilbert Financial Group LLC (2018-2021)

Rue Hite (1980)

B.A. Media arts, University of South Carolina (2004)

Manager, Vanguard (2021-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2020-2021); quality assurance administrator, Vanguard (2018-2020)

Drew Isaac Hoffman (2000)

B.S. Sport industry, The Ohio State University (2022)

B.S. Consumer and financial family services, The Ohio State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); financial planning assistant, Ameriprise Financial (2021–2022); fan experience and marketing intern, The Ohio State University Department of Athletics (2020–2022) assistant, Deluxe Packaging Inc. (2020–2021); summer intern, JEVS Human Services (2020); camp counselor, JCC Camps at Medford (2018–2019)

Sarah Beth Holahan (1977)

B.S. Psychology and Criminal justice, DeSales University (2005)

M.B.A. Management, DeSales University (2011)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); premier banker, Wells Fargo (2019-2022); personal banker, Wells Farg (2018-2019)

Catherine Hollaran Holmes, CFP® (1959)

B.A. Business administration, Queens University (1982)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2018-present)

Andrew Hornung (1997)

B.A. Accounting and Financial planning, University of Jamestown (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); financial representative, Northwestern Mutual (2021–2022); supply chain intern, Collins Aerospace (2019–2020); intern, Ameriprise Financial (2018); delivery driver, Domino's (2018)

Serena Horsch, CFP® (1978)

B.S. Biology, Arizona State University (2004)

Manager, Vanguard (2020-present); financial planner, Vanguard (2018-2020)

Yanira Horst (1975)

B.S. Business, Pontificia Javeriana University (1998)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad (2022); volunteer, Fireside Elementary School (2018-2022)

Mohammed Hossain (1984)

B.S. Economics, University of Dhaka (2002)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, Morgan Stanley (2018-2021)

Javonte Hubbard (1996)

B.S. Management and business economics, University of California, Merced (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); retirement specialist, Vanguard (2019-2022); account executive, Yelp (2018-2019)

Andrew Ryan Hutchinson (1999)

B.S.B.A. Business economics, The University of Arizona (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2021-2022); sales assistant intern, Heffernan Insurance Brokers (2020); business development intern, Bfac.com canvasser, Arizona Grassroots Advocates (2018)

Jacob Lawrence Hybert (2000)

B.S. Finance, Arizona State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); cashier and cook, FatBurger (2021); sales associate, Dollar General (2020); summer worker, Jones & Cleary (2018)

Caitlin Innes (2000)

B.S. Personal financial planning, Texas Tech University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2023); advice intern, Randstad 2021; senior community assistant, American Campus Communities – Raiders Pass (2019-2021); peer counselor, Texas Tech University – Red to Black Peer Financial Coaching (2019-2021); hostess, Abuelo's (2018); server, Montana Mike's Steakhouse (2018); hostess, Montana Mike's Steakhouse (2018)

Daniel Kyle Jackson (1983)

B.S. Criminal justice, Pfeiffer University (2008)

M.B.A., Pfeiffer University (2016)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial advisor, Merrill Lynch (2021-2022); financial advisor, Uwharrie Investment Advisors (2018-2021)

Kraig A. Jackson (1986)

B.B.A. Trust and wealth management, Campbell University (2011)

M.B.A., Webster University (2012)

M.I.M.F.A., Creighton University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); investment advisor, PNC Investments, LLC (2018-2021); financial advisor, Bank of America Merrill Lynch (2018)

Matthew Hunter Jankes (1991)

B.S. Political science, The University of Arizona (2013)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client representative, Vanguard (2020-2022); financial advisor, Merrill Lynch (2019-2020); senior sales manager, Yelp, Inc. (2018-2019)

Stephen Jesse (1996)

B.S. Business economics, The State University of New York at Oneonta (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); sales consultant, Vanguard (2021-2022); financial advisor, Cetera Investment Services LLC (2020-2021); financial services intern, Foresters Financial financial services associate, CAP COM Federal Credit Union (2019); carpenter, Ben's Home Services (2018); spring laborer, Jeffers Farms, Inc. (2018)

Maxwell Joakim (1999)

B.S. Finance, Bentley University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); operations associate, Staples (2018–2022); cashier, Stop & Shop (2020)

Veronica Joe (1976)

B.S.B.A. Finance, The University of North Carolina at Charlotte (2011)

M.B.A., Winthrop University (2014)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad (2022); (2018-2021)

Cory David Johnson (1982)

B.S. Public relations, Illinois State University (2005)

Manager, Vanguard (2022-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2019-2022); financial planner, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Hunter Jones (1995)

B.S. Sport management, North Carolina State University (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, Edward Jones (2019-2021); outreach specialist, Atrium Health (2018-2019); patient care coordinator, Atrium Health (2018)

Perry Thomas Jones (1985)

University of Phoenix (2013–2014, non–degree)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial representative, The Assurance Group, LLC (2021); (2018-2021)

Christopher James Jorgensen, CFP® (1972)

B.S. Hotel and restaurant management, Northern Arizona University (1994)

Manager, Vanguard (2022-present); Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-2022); retirement income specialist, USAA (2020); wealth advisor, USAA (2018-2020); financial advisor, USAA (2018)

Jonathan Edward Kahrs, CFP® (1960)

B.A. Geography, Humboldt State University (1983)

M.A. Geography, Indiana University Bloomington (1994)

M.B.A., Seattle University (2004)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, Interactive Wealth Advisors (2018-2021)

William Patrick Kane (1996)

B.S.B.A. Management information systems, The University of Arizona (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); high net worth representative, Charles Schwab (2021-2022); financial professional, Equitable Advisors (2019-2021); bag boy, Tucson Country Club (2019); data analyst, CCS Information Systems (2019); dish washer, Alpha Phi – The University of Arizona (2018-2019)

Lindsay Kapin (1987)

B.B.A. Finance, Texas A&M University (2009)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); (2020-2021); senior fixed income specialist, Charles Schwab

Blake Kastein (1997)

B.S. Financial planning, University of Wisconsin-Madison (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial advisor, Morgan Stanley (2021-2022); retirement specialist, Vanguard (2019-2021); intramural referee, University of Wisconsin–Madison (2018-2019); financial representative, Northwestern Mutual (2018); waiter, The Lodge on 64 (2018)

Kristen Kealey (1996)

B.A. Business administration, Arizona State University (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial service representative, TD Bank (2019-2022); customer service representative, TD Bank (2018-2019); teller, TD Bank (2018)

Robert J Kearns Jr. (1981)

B.S. Finance, Pennsylvania State University (2003)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); portfolio implementation associate, Vanguard (2019-2021); advice operations associate, Randstad (2018-2019); practice management consultant, self-employed (2018)

Joseph Edward Keefer (1995)

B.B.A. Finance, The University of Iowa (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-present); change of ownership specialist, Vanguard (2019-2020); inheritance consultant, Vanguard (2018-2019); inheritance specialist, Vanguard (2018)

Derek Keirns, CFP® (1996)

B.S. Business administration, Colorado State University (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client consultant, Vanguard (2021-2022); investments and orders representative, Vanguard (2019-2021); brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2018-2019); claims intern and processor, USAA (2018); intramural sports official and manager, Colorado State University Recreation Center (2018)

Jennifer Kelly (1971)

B.S. Finance, The Pennsylvania State University (1993)

M.B.A., University of Michigan (1999)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad (2021); independent contractor, self-employed

Talley Patrick Kelsey, CFP® (1995)

B.S. Finance, Elon University (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); portfolio implementation associate, Vanguard (2020-2021); orders client representative, Vanguard (2019-2020); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Ethan Kendzulak (1997)

B.A. Economics, Gettysburg College (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); orders client representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); client representative, Vanguard (2020-2021); financial representative intern, Fidelity summer analyst extern, ARK Invest (2019); landscaper, Chris Orser Landscaping (2018); landscaper, Stangle Enterprises (2018)

Randi Kerslake, CFP® (1982)

B.S. Marketing, The University of Arizona (2004)

M.S. Leadership, Grand Canyon University (2011)

Manager, Vanguard (2018-present)

Maarten Kerstens, CFP® (1989)

B.S. Business administration, Florida International University (2012)

M.G.M. Global management, Thunderbird School of Global Management (2019)

Manager, Vanguard (2021-present); financial planner, Vanguard (2018-2021); assigned representative, Vanguard (2018)

Carolyn Keyes (2000)

B.S. Financial counseling and planning, Purdue University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); administrative assistant, Distinctive Rental Properties (2021–2022); Vanguard remote contractor, Randstad (2021); administrative assistant, Distinctive Rental Properties (2020–2021); division of summer session student ambassador, Purdue University (2019–2020)

Jeffrey Kyle Kindley, CFP® (1992)

B.S. Biology, James Madison University (2014)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2023); client representative associate, Vanguard (2020-2022); quality control analyst, City of Boca Raton

Jamie King, CFP® (1974)

B.S. Business management, University of Phoenix (2005)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2018-present)

Iryna Kirieieva (1973)

B.S. Urban engineering and economy, Kyiv National University of Construction and Architecture (1998)

M.A. Urban engineering and economy, Kyiv National University of Construction and Architecture (1998)

M.A. Finance, Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv (2001)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); Vanguard return to work intern, Randstad (2023); volunteer, 1K Project for Ukraine (2022); landlord, self (2019–2022); owner, Ukraine Organics, LLC (2019); owner, Saprotek, LLC (2019); owner, Volynsaprofos, LLC (2019)

Outside activities: Ms. Kirieieva is a co-owner of Sun Energy Ukraine, LLC. Vanguard Advisers, Inc., has no affiliation with Sun Energy Ukraine, LLC, and Ms. Kirieieva's responsibilities do not conflict with her position at Vanguard.

Mary Wairimu Kishoiyian (1960)

B.A. Business administration, Daystar University at Nairobi (1994)

M.B.A., The University of New South Wales Syndey (1998)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-present); client case representative, Vanguard (2019-2020); assigned representative, Vanguard (2018-2019); client service specialist, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Chris Klippel (1983)

B.A. History, University of Missouri (2012)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); workplace planning consultant, Fidelity Investments (2022); investments solutions representative, Fidelity Investments 2021; financial advisor, Merrill Lynch (2019-2021); commodities trader, Chicago Board of Trade (2018-2019)

Daniel Jon Knutson (1965)

B.S. Liberal arts, Arizona State University (1989)

M.B.A., University of Phoenix (1993)

Ph.D. Management and administration, Walden University (1997)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client consultant, Vanguard (2021-2022)

Quin Kochman, CFP® (1995)

B.A. Business administration, California State University, San Bernadino (2017)

Manager, Vanguard (2022-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2020-2022); client consultant, Vanguard (2019-2020); assigned representative, Vanguard (2019); client service specialist, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Toyin Kollie (1977)

B.S. Business administration, Delaware State University (1999)

M.B.A., Delaware State University (2001)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-present); transfer specialist, Vanguard (2018-2020)

Robert Guy Korman (1996)

B.B.A. Finance, Bloomsburg University of Pennsylvania (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial representative, Northwestern Mutual (2020-2021); financial advisor career development, Edward Jones sales associate, Campus Beer Distributor (2018-2019)

Douglas Kramer (1997)

B.S. Finance, West Chester University (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); laborer, Blueberry Bill Farms (2020-2021); (2019-2021); site manager, S & S Pool Installers (2018-2019)

Jake Stephen Kramer (1988)

B.A. Political science, Temple University (2012)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); sales consultant, Vanguard (2021-2022); barista, Starbucks (2020-2021); business development representative, Anexinet (2019-2020); marketing manager, Sidecar (2018-2019)

Jeremy Kuptsow (1999)

B.S. Finance and Marketing, University of Delaware (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); client services and financial advising intern, Diamond State Financial Group (2020-2021); sales intern, Entercom camp counselor, Camp Saginaw (2018)

Vikas Kwatra (1996)

B.S. Finance, Rutgers University (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); sales specialist, Vanguard (2020-2021); client solutions specialist, Vanguard (2019-2020); wealth management intern, UBS (2018-2019); managed care contract management team representative, Novartis Pharmaceuticals (2018)

Barbara Bennett Kyrillos (1961)

B.S. International economics, Georgetown University (1983)

M.B.A., Columbia University (1988)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); Vanguard return-to-work intern, Randstad (2023); board member, The Rancho Sante Fe Foundation (2021–2023); parent association president and board member, The Bishop's School (2018–2019)

Hannah Lakian (2000)

B.A. Finance, Michigan State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); business finance intern, Dow (2021); office manager, J&S Landscaping (2020)

Chris Lascarides (1960)

B.A. Accounting, Queens College, City University of New York (1983)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, M&T Securities/LPL Financial (2020-2021); financial advisor, PFG/Vicus Capital (2018-2020)

Nicolas Lattanzio (1995)

B.B.A. Finance, Texas A&M University-Commerce (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, Edward Jones (2018-2021)

Shane Michael LaVerde (1997)

B.S. Finance, University of South Carolina (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2024–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2023–2024); client case representative, Vanguard (2021–2023); retirement specialist, Empower Retirement (2021); customer service representative, MassMutual (2020); busser, Diprato's Delicatessen (2019)

Phong Le (1984)

B.S. Finance, The University of Texas at Dallas (2005)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); registered representative, Callaway Financial Services (2018-2022) Outside activities: Mr. Le is an owner of Ultimate Insurance. Vanguard Advisers, Inc., has no affiliation with Ultimate Insurance, and Mr. Le's responsibilities do not conflict with his position at Vanguard.

Joseph Lettko (1992)

A.A. Liberal arts, Community College of Philadelphia (2012)

A.S. Aviation maintenance, Community College of the Air Force (2016)

B.B.A Financial planning, Temple University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); advice intern, Randstad (2021); aircraft mechanic, D.C. Air National Guard (2018–present)

Daniel Ryan Leuenberger (1999)

B.S. Finance, Indiana University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); wealth management intern, Generations Wealth, LLC (2020); sales and relationship management intern, Fidelity Investments server assistant, Bravo/Brio Restaurant Group (2018-2019)

Sarah Lewensohn (1962)

B.A. Economics, University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee (1985)

M.B.A. Entrepreneurial studies, University of Pennsylvania (1990)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad (2021)

Tyler Maitland Lewis (1995)

B.S. Finance and Business management, Shippensburg University of Pennsylvania (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); account executive, Fundera (2019-2021); financial advisor, Prudential (2018-2019); financial advisor assistant, Prudential (2018)

William Cooper Lewis III (1996)

B.A. Economics, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, Edward Jones (2019-2021); financial advisor career development program, Edward Jones (2019)

Sebastian Antonio Leyton (2000)

B.S. Financial planning, California State University Northridge (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); financial coach, California State University Northridge (2022); intern, State Farm (2021); delivery driver, AutoZone (2021); intern, New York Life (2020); grocery clerk, Albertsons (2020); bank teller, Evertrust Bank (2019)

Jessica Lipinski (2000)

B.S. Financial management, Clemson University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); advice intern, Randstad (2021); accounting intern, The Clemson University Honors College (2020–2022); finance intern, CooperSurgical Inc. (2019–2020); basketball officiator, Clemson Campus Recreation (2019)

Davis Long (2000)

B.S. Financial planning and wealth management, University of Delaware (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); driver, DoorDash (2021)

Thomas Long (2000)

B.S. Finance, Virginia Tech (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); wealth management intern, Wealthspire Advisors (2021); wealth management intern, Altavista Wealth Management (2020); wealth management intern, Altavista Wealth Management (2019)

Jesus Lopez (1998)

B.S. Finance and Economics, Grand Canyon University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); specialty flex associate, Vanguard (2021-2022); oan underwriter, Wells Fargo (2020); The Wild Thyme Company

Matthew Loughren (1981)

B.S. Finance, Iowa State University (2003)

B.S. Management, Iowa State University (2003)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); owner, Loughren Wealth Management (2019-2022); financial consultant, Charles Schwab (2018)

Katie Loyet (1998)

B.A. International business and Finance, Bradley University (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); global technology and operations analyst, Bank of America (2020-2021); financial advisor assistant, Wells Fargo Advisors (2018-2020)

Austin James Luckie (1995)

B.B.A. Finance, University of Georgia (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); client case representative, Vanguard (2020-2021); retail inheritance specialist, Vanguard (2019-2020); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2019); registered representative, IFS Securities (2018-2019); financial consultant, Florida Financial Advisors (2018-2019)

Gregory Allen Luoni (1957)

B.S. Business administration, West Virginia University (1979)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2018-present)

Michael Murphy Lutz (1990)

A.S. General studies, Calhoun Community College (2015)

B.S.B.A. Finance, The University of Alabama at Huntsville (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial consultant, Ameritrade (2018-2020); mortgage loan originator, LoanDepot (2018)

Madison Rose Lynch (1999)

B.S. Finance and Financial planning and wealth management, University of Delaware (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); tutor and teaching assistant, University of Delaware (2021–2022); cocktail waitress, Lazy Bass Bayside Bar and Grille (2020–present); customer experience intern, Essent Guaranty Inc. (2020); financial planning intern, uFinancial Group (2019–2022); waitress, Harbour Burger Bar (2019); waitress, Borghi's by the Bay (2018–2021)

Jonathon Lynn, CFP® (1964)

B.S. Finance, Arizona State University (1990)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2018-present)

Brendan Lyons, CFP® (1993)

B.B.A. Finance, Temple University (2015)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2018-present)

Cameron Mack (1996)

B.S. Business administration, The University of North Carolina at Wilmington (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial consultant, Ameritrade (2019-2020); project manager, A Cut Above Construction (2018-2019); associate, Capital Financial Group (2018)

Zachary Maheu (1999)

B.S. Business, The Ohio State University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); server, Red Robin (2021); driver, DoorDash (2021); delivery driver, Dominos (2020); student chef, Ohio State Catering (2019–2020); quality intern, Edgewell Personal Care (2019); seasonal employee, Dover Pools (2019); civil engineering intern, The State Of Delaware Department Of Transportation (2018)

Michael Mallette (1993)

B.S.B.A. Finance and banking, Appalachian State University (2017)

B.S.B.A. Management, Appalachian State University (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); client consultant, Vanguard (2019-2021); client experience specialist, Vanguard (2019); investment professional, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Robert Matthew Malzberg (1999)

B.S. Finance, University of Delaware (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial advisor development program analyst, Bank of America Merrill Lynch (2021-2022); financial advisor summer analyst, Bank of America Merrill Lynch (2020); premium sales and services intern, New York Yankees bookkeeper, Kings Super Markets (2018-2019)

Eric Mancuso, CFP® (1984)

B.S. Marketing, The Pennsylvania State University (2006)

M.B.A. Finance, Marywood University (2014)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client care representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); portfolio implementation associate, Vanguard (2019-2021); brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Chelsea Mapes, CFP® (1987)

B.S. Interdisciplinary studies, The University of Texas at Paso (2010)

M.B.A. Finance, The University of Texas at Paso (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); client consultant, Vanguard (2019-2021); client service specialist, Vanguard (2018-2019); teacher, Paso Independent School District (2018)

Catherine McClaine Martin (1995)

B.B.A. Marketing, University of North Georgia (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, Edward Jones (2018-2021)

William Martin (1994)

B.S. Mathematics, Southwestern Oklahoma State University (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); workplace planning consultant, Fidelity Investments (2021-2022); private banker, JPMorgan Chase (2021); financial advisor, Equitable Advisors (2019-2021)

Ahmed Antonio Martinez (1975)

B.A. Communications in mass media, Pace University (1997)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2018-present)

Xavier Martinez (1992)

B.S. Sports management, East Stroudsburg University (2014)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); client service representative, Vanguard (2019-2021); participant services representative, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Marlene Taylor Matula, CFP® (1995)

B.A. International issues, Juniata College (2017)

M.B.A., West Chester University (2022)

Manager, Vanguard (2023-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2020-2023); financial planner, Vanguard (2019-2020); investment professional, Vanguard (2018-2019); brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2018)

Rebecca Mautz, CFP® (1996)

B.S. Financial planning, William Paterson University (2018)

Manager, Vanguard (2022-present); financial planner, Vanguard (2019-2022); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2018-2019); assistant coordinator, Rock Island Lake Club (2018)

Nelia McBride (1970)

B.A. Economics, Rutgers University (1994)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad (2021)

Casey Jean McCallister (1999)

B.S. Finance, Lehigh University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); customer sales associate, The Preppy Palm (2018-2020); hostess, The Keswick Team (2018)

Keegan McCarville (1998)

A.A. General studies and Arts, South Mountain Community College (2018)

B.S. Management, Northeastern University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); portfolio manager, Stearns Bank N.A. (2022); player, Milwaukee Brewers Baseball Club (2019–2021); cashier, Superpumper (2020); facilities warehouse crew member, Grand Canyon University (2018)

John McConnell, CFP® (1976)

B.A. Interdisciplinary studies, Belmont Abbey College (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); founder, McConnell Financial (2020-2022); director of advisor development, Quantum (2018-2020)

Gary McCoy (1962)

B.S. Education, Northeastern State University (1988)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial consultant, LPL Financial Services (2021-2022); financial advisor, CUNA Mutual Group (2019-2021); financial advisor, CUSO Financial Services (2018-2019)

John Roman McCutchen (1986)

B.A. Psychology, West Chester University (2012)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2018-present)

James McDonald (1997)

B.S. Corporate finance, Bloomsburg University (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); portfolio implementation associate, Vanguard (2021-2023); personal relationship banker, Truist Bank (2020-2021); client supervisor, Wayne Moving and Storage (2018-2020)

Caleigh Elizabeth McDonough (2000)

B.S. Finance, Virginia Tech (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); financial planning scribe, CrossPoint Wealth Partners (2021–2022); contract driver, GrubHub (2021–2022); contract driver, Door Dash (2021–2022); capital markets intern, Freddie Mac (2021); single-family intern, Freddie Mac (2020–2021); waitress, Macado's (2019); financial planning assistant, Voya Financial (2019); referee, United States Soccer Federation (2018–2019)

Jeffrey Scott McKenna (1970)

B.A. Business Management, Queens University of Charlotte (2004)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); driver, Lyft 2021; driver, Roadie (2021); meat cutter apprentice, Publix (2019-2021); financial advisor, Merrill Lynch (2018)

Thomas McKinney (1968)

B.A. Audio engineering, California State University, Dominguez Hills (1991)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, Prudential Advisors (2021); financial consultant, TIAA (2018-2020)

Tracy Lynn McMacken, CFP® (1977)

B.A. Communication, Arizona State University (2015)

B.A. Sociology, Arizona State University (2015)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); portfolio implementation associate, Vanguard (2019-2021); operations specialist, Vanguard (2018-2019); operations associate, Vanguard (2018)

Madison McNamara (2000)

B.S. Financial planning and wealth management, University of Delaware (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); summer intern, Maillie LLP (2021); micro intern, Creative Financial Group (2021); purchasing department intern, Universal Machine Company (2019–2020)

Timothy Jon Melanson Jr., CFP® (1990)

B.S. Finance, real estate, and law, California State Polytechnic University, Pomona (2014)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); client representative, Vanguard (2020-2021); retirement specialist, Vanguard (2018-2020)

Alan Menase, CFP® (1981)

B.A. Psychology, University of Delaware (2003)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial advisor, Mallard Financial Partners (2018-2022)

Michael Joseph Meneghetti (1999)

Houston Community College (Fall 2016, Spring 2017, Summer 2019, and Summer 2020, non-degree)

B.S. Agricultural economics, Texas A&M University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); student assistant, Texas A&M University-College Station (2022)

Filippo Menegon (1999)

B.S. Business studies, Stockton University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); financial analyst, Bally's Corporation (2021–2022)

Outside activities: Mr. Menegon is a service leader at Chipotle. Vanguard Advisers, Inc., has no affiliation with Chipotle, and Mr. Menegon's responsibilities do not conflict with his position at Vanguard.

Nicholas Mercer, CFP® (1979)

B.A. History, University of Florida (2001)

M.S. Financial management, University of Maryland Global Campus (2012)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial planner, Suncoast Credit Union (2022); driver helper, UPS (2022); financial planner, Fisher Investments (2021-2022); financial planner, USAA (2018-2021)

Jason Miehle, CFP® (1986)

B.S. Financial management, Clemson University (2008)

Manager, Vanguard (2018-present); financial planner, Vanguard (2018)

Calvin Montgomery Mihal (1999)

B.B.A. Finance, University of Kentucky (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); community assistant/leasing agent, The Wyatt Apartments (2019–2022); finance and accounting summer intern, Winston Products, LLC (2021); leasing agent, The Hub on Campus Lexington (2018–2019); summer seasonal service worker, Bay Village Service Department (2018)

Christopher Dale Miller (1992)

A.A. General studies, Kellogg Community College (2014)

B.B.A. Finance, Southern Adventist University (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); change of ownership specialist, Vanguard (2020-2021); brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2019-2020); director of development, Wisconsin Academy (2018-2019); ESL teacher, SayABC (2018); substitute teacher, Boone/Winnebago Regional Office of Education (2018)

Josh Clifford Miller (1982)

B.S.B.A. Finance, The University of North Carolina at Charlotte (2005)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); trust representative, Members Trust Company (2018-2022); agent, SECU Life Insurance Company (2018-2022); investment advisor representative, Credit Union Investment Services (2018-2022); registered representative, SECU Brokerage Services (2018-2022); registered representative, SECU Brokerage Services (2018-2022)

Janar Milligan (1999)

B.S. Financial planning, University of Illinois Urbana-Champaign (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); delivery driver, GrubHub (2020–2022); caller, University of Illinois (2019–2022); sales associate, DTLR (2018–2020); dining hall cashier, University of Illinois (2018–2019)

Khalif Mink (1994)

Community College of Philadelphia (2021–2022, non-degree)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); private client banker, JPMorgan Securities LLC (2021-2022); relationship banker, JPMorgan Chase (2020-2021); enumerator, U.S. Census Bureau (2020); associate banker, JPMorgan Chase (2019-2020); sales representative, State Farm (2019); branch sales representative, Police and Fire Federal Credit Union (2018-2019)

Alberto Miranda (1994)

B.A. Economics, The University of Texas at Austin (2016)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial solutions consultant, PNC Bank (2020-2021); personal banker, Wells Fargo (2019-2020); relationship banker, JPMorgan Chase (2018-2019); financial services representative, Foresters Financial (2018)

Darrell Montgomery (1977)

B.S. Business management, Western Colorado University (2003)

Manager, Vanguard (2022-present); sales consultant, Vanguard (2020-2022); sales associate, Vanguard (2019-2020); client service specialist, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Alexis Montoya (1999)

B.S. Economics, University of Illinois Urbana-Champaign (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); intern, Valeo Financial Advisors (2021); sales associate, Calvin Klein (2018–2021); sales associate, Converse (2018–2019)

Spencer Moody (1966)

B.A. International relations, Brigham Young University (1992)

M.B.A. International business, Thunderbird School of Global Management (1994)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial representative, Northwestern Mutual (2020-2021); field representative, Quintero & Partners (2019-2020); field representative, Bankers Life (2018-2019); consultant/account lead, MediaCom Latin America (2018-2019)

Brett Oliver Moore (2000)

B.A. Economics and Hispanic and Latin American languages, literatures, and linguistics, University of Florida (2022) Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); retail lending product management intern, PNC Financial Services Group (2021); workshop manufacturer, Caldwell's Windoware (2021)

Shari Morelli (1968)

B.A. English, State University of New York at Albany (1990)

M.Ed. Elementary education, New York University (1998)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad (2022); owner and founder, Mainline Tutoring Collaborative (2020-2021); interim director, Main Line Reform Temple Early Childhood Education (2019-2020); owner and founder, Backtalk Designs (2018-2019)

John Carey Morency (1996)

B.S. Business administration, University of New Hampshire (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial planner, MML Investor Services (2019-2022); financial services professional, MassMutual Life Insurance Company (2019-2022); financial services professional, Mutual of Omaha Insurance Company (2019); inside sales representative, Harbour Capital Corporation (2018-2019); merchandising intern, Craft Brewers Guild of Massachusetts (2018); clerk, Depot Liquors (2018)

William Kerry Morgan, CFP® (1995)

B.A. Language and International trade, Clemson University (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, Resolute Capital LLC (2020-2021); financial advisor, Edward Jones (2019-2020); materials handler, Supersod (2018)

Jina Leonardi Muir (1968)

B.A. Psychology, Temple University (1991)

M.S. Psychology, The University of Baltimore (1995)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad (2022); executive assistant, Taurus Investment Group, LLC (2022); executive assistant, The Philadelphia International Opera (2022)

Danny Geofrey Murego (1997)

B.S.B.A. Finance and Management information systems, The University of Arizona (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client case representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); client representative, Vanguard (2021); student fundraiser, Ruffalo Noel Levitz (2020); Take Charge Cats ambassador, Take Charge America Institution (2018-2020); investment analyst intern, MRA Associates account manager, Summit Marketing (2018) Outside activities: Mr. Murego is a Direct Support Provider with Arizona Care Providers. Vanguard Advisers, Inc., has no affiliation with the Arizona Care Providers, and Mr. Murego's responsibilities do not conflict with his position at Vanguard.

Holly Murphy (1974)

B.S. Finance and International business, The Pennsylvania State University (1996)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad (2022); agent, Keller Williams Real Estate (2019-2022); owner, Neptune Plumbing & Heating, LLC (2018-2019)

Michael Musial, CFP® (1981)

B.A. Communications, The Pennsylvania State University (2003)

M.B.A. Management, Salle University (2010)

Manager, Vanguard (2019-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Peter Daniel Mytych, CFP® (1989)

B.S.B.A. Marketing, University of Pittsburgh (2012)

Manager, Vanguard (2020-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2018-2020)

Rachel Nabers (2000)

B.B.A. Finance and Marketing, Baylor University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); intern, FMP Wealth Advisors (2021)

Neha Nagpal (1988)

BSc. Physics, Chemistry and Mathematics, D.A.V Post Graduate College Dehradun (2008)

M.B.A. Logistics and supply chain management, University of Petroleum and Energy Studies (2010)

Ph.D. Supply chain management, University of Petroleum and Energy Studies (2013)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); asset transfer specialist, Vanguard (2021–2023); account maintenance specialist, Randstad (2020–2021); senior enrollment analyst, Cognizant (2020)

Brian Nash, CFP® (1997)

B.S. Finance and Business information systems, University of Pittsburgh (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2021-2023); brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2020-2021); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2019-2020); wealth and investment management intern, Wells Fargo Advisors (2018)

Joseph David Neal (1985)

B.S. Education, University of Kansas (2010)

M.Ed. Education, Wichita State University (2016)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-present); financial advisor, Wells Fargo Advisors (2018-2020)

Michael Leonard Needles (1999)

B.S. Finance, The Pennsylvania State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); acquisitions intern, City Line Capital (2021); clerk, Fred's Liquor (2020); sailing instructor, Yacht Club of Stone Harbor (2018–2019); chef, Yacht Club of Stone Harbor (2018–2019)

Jakob Joseph Nines (1989)

B.A. Film and media arts, Temple University (2012)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); trading and operations, Lincoln Financial Advisors (2018-2021)

Albert M. Nisanov, CFP® (1971)

B.S. Finance, Arizona State University (2003)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); fixed income specialist, Vanguard (2018-2022)

Timothy James Nolt, CFP® (1986)

B.P.S. Culinary arts management, The Culinary Institute of America (2010)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-present); client representative, Vanguard (2019-2020); client service specialist, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Jeffrey Dylan North (1992)

B.A. Economics, Washington and Jefferson College (2014)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); executive correspondent, Vanguard (2019-2021); asset transfer specialist, Vanguard (2018-2019); processing associate, Vanguard (2018)

Gregory Novick, CFP® (1994)

B.S. Family business entrepreneurship and Food marketing, Saint Joseph's University (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); portfolio implementation associate, Vanguard (2019-2021); retirement plan associate, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Dayton Patrick Nussle (1996)

B.S. Finance, Arizona State University (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); server, Marriott (2018–2019)

Nancy Alejandra Oliver (1981)

B.S. Marketing, Universidad Catolica de Honduras (2003)

M.B.A., Universidad Catolica de Honduras (2007)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); Vanguard Return to Work Intern, Randstad (2022)

Alaira Olmos (2000)

B.B. A. Finance, University of North Florida (2022)

B.B.A. Financial planning, University of North Florida (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); administrative assistant, Equitable Advisors (2021–2022); financial representative intern, Northwestern Mutual (2021); photographer's assistant, Clix Portrait Studios (2020–2021)

Hayden Alexander Ong (1995)

B.S. Computer science, Arizona State University (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); senior software engineer, General Dynamics Mission Systems (2020–2022); software engineer, General Dynamics Mission Systems (2019–2020); software engineering intern, General Dynamics Mission Systems (2018–2019)

Samuellar Opoku (1998)

B.S. Financial planning and Accounting, Edinboro University (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2020-2021)

Yajaira Ortiz-Wilson (1973)

B.A. Political science, West Chester University (1996)

J.D., Temple University (1999)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad 2022; director of Program for Academic and Leadership Skills, Youth Leadership Foundation (2019-2020); document review attorney, Consilio (2018); document review attorney, Lexolution (2018); summer development associate, Youth Leadership Foundation (2018); document review attorney, TransPerfect Legal Solutions (2018)

Benjamin Chase Osborne (1999)

B.B.A. Business administration, Queens University of Charlotte (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2021-2022); information technology staffing intern, Signature Consultants (2021); server, The Village Tavern (2020-2021); supplemental instructor, Queens University of Charlotte

Charlie Antone O'Brien (1994)

B.S. Nonprofit leadership and management, Arizona State University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial advisor, Equitable Advisors, LLC (2021-2022); technology support, Microsoft (2019-2020); bay host, Top Golf (2018-2020)

James Benjamin Palmer, CFP® (1989)

A.S. General studies, South Plains College (2015)

B.S. Personal financial planning, Texas Tech University (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); wealth advisor, TMD Wealth Management LLC (2021-2022); associate financial advisor, Runey and Associates Wealth Management (2019-2021); intern, USAA (2018)

Devesh Patel (1984)

B.S. Finance, Arizona State University (2010)

Manager, Vanguard (2021-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2018-2021)

Jacob Pawliczak (1999)

B.S. Finance and Accounting, King's College (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); wealth management intern, Morgan Stanley (2021–2022); driver, Uber Eats (2021–2022); sales intern, Digital Balance (2020–2021); shift leader, Quick Chek (2020); waiter, West Hills Country Club (2019–2020); food runner, Glenmere Mansion (2018–2019)

Jason Payne, CFP® (1995)

B.S. Finance, Winston-Salem State University (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, Morgan Stanley (2018-2021)

Joshua David Pearson (1992)

B.S. Marketing and Finance, Bloomsburg University (2015)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); sales associate, J.Crew (2022); senior registered client service associate, WSFS Wealth Investments (2019-2021); registered client associate, Merrill Lynch (2018-2019)

Zachary Pepper (1999)

B.S. Finance, The Pennsylvania State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); finance intern, Reckitt (2021); financial accountant intern, CARE Property Services (2019–2021); census enumerator, United States Department of Commerce (2020); soccer referee, Pennsylvania Interscholastic Athletic Association (2018–2020); crew member, Penn State Berkey Creamery (2018–2019)

Lance Perry (1987)

B.S. Business administration, Daemen College (2010)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); sales support specialist, First Command Financial Services, Inc. (2019-2022); team leader, Fidelity Investments (2018)

Chad Pinney (2000)

B.S. Finance, Oregon State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); substitute teacher, Salem Keizer School District (2021-2022); direct support professional, Kids Individual Development Service (2021-2022); financial representative, Northwestern Mutual (2021); direct support professional, Rize Service, Inc. (2021); service manager, Chipotle (2018-2020)

William Henry Pluchel III, CFP® (1977)

B.A. English, Arizona State University (2002)

M.B.A. Business administration, University of Phoenix (2013)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2018-present)

Brandon Pope, CFP® (1987)

A.B.A. Business, Scottsdale Community College (2008)

B.B.A. Accounting, University of the Southwest (2010)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); retirement income specialist, USAA (2020-2021); wealth advisor, USAA (2018-2020)

Shane Powers (1999)

B.S.B.A. Finance, University of Pittsburgh (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); executive financial management intern, Goldman Sachs Ayco Personal Financial Management (2019-2021); portfolio management intern, Alderfer-Bergen Retirement Planning (2019); sales pricing intern, Zimmer-Biomet (2019); finance intern–pricing analyst, Zimmer-Biomet (2018)

Anthony Price Jr. (1983)

B.S. Finance, John Carroll University (2006)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client consultant, Vanguard (2021-2022); participant services associate, Charles Schwab (2019-2021); senior internal auditor, PNC (2018-2019); staff accountant, Dingus & Daga Inc. Certified Public Accountants (2018)

Justin Proudfoot (1991)

B.S. Finance, Arizona State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); portfolio analyst, Capstone Financial (2021–2022); owner and operator, New Leaf Trade (2018–2022); senior client specialist, Education at Work (2020–2021)

Brian Qualey (1998)

B.S. Financial planning, University of Georgia (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); waiter, Modena Ristorante Vinoteca (2021); financial service provider, University of Georgia ASPIRE Clinic (2021); VITA tax preparer, Georgia United Credit Union (2021)

Jensen Coe Quinn (1998)

B.S. Finance, University of Alabama (2021)

M.S. Finance, Vanderbilt University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); investment analyst intern, Winterpast Capital Partners (2021); special project intern, Proffitt & Goodson Inc. (2021); intern, The Community Foundation of West Chester/liberty (2021); recruiter, Phi Kappa Psi Fraternity (2019); loan specialist intern, Lendkey Technologies Inc. (2018)

Nicholas Ramirez (1990)

A.A. Criminal justice, Santa Fe College (2011)

B.A. Criminal justice, Saint Leo University (2013)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2022–2023); change of ownership representative, Vanguard (2021–2022); client service specialist, Vanguard (2020–2021); advanced technology support representative, Vanguard (2018–2020)

Stephen Rattigan (1976)

B.S. Economics, The Pennsylvania State University (2003)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client case representative, Vanguard (2022); executive and retirement services plan specialist, Vanguard (2021-2022); specialized retirement services representative, Vanguard (2020-2021); retirement plan specialist, Vanguard (2019-2020); institutional retirement specialist, Randstad (2018-2019); relationship manager, Bank of America (2018)

Kirk Reagan (1973)

B.S. Astronautical engineering, United States Air Force Academy (1996)

M.A.E. Aeronautical engineering, Auburn University (2001)

M.S. Logistics, United States Air Force Institute of Technology (2009)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2024–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2023–2024); director of safety, United States Air Force (2020–2021); vice wing commander 412th test, United States Air Force (2019–2020) *Outside activities*: Mr. Reagan is owner and manager of Hummingbird Holdings Management, LLC. Vanguard Advisers, Inc., has no affiliation with Hummingbird Holdings Management, LLC, and Mr. Reagan's responsibilities do not conflict with his position at Vanguard.

Chantel Brianne Reeves (1996)

B.S. Personal financial planning, Utah Valley University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2023); advisor support associate, Ameriprise Financial 2021; client service professional, H&R Block (2021); money management coach, Utah Valley University (2020-2021); assistant leasing manager, SGFusion (2018-2020)

Brent Regaldi (1976)

B.S. Marketing, The Pennsylvania State University (1999)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); advisory consultant, Delaware Funds by Macquarie (2018-2020)

Michael Reidy (1975)

B.S. Banking and finance, Fayetteville State University (2015)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); investment professional, Vanguard brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2018)

Edward J. Richards (1976)

B.S. Business, The Pennsylvania State University Berks (2006)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); registered representative, Primerica (2018-2022); shopping assistant, Amazon (2019)

Tyler Ryne Richars, CFP® (1993)

B.S. Business marketing, Arizona State University (2015)

Manager, Vanguard (2021-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2019-2021); sales consultant, Vanguard (2018-2019); brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2018)

Caleb Lee Riccio (1999)

B.S. Accounting, University of Boulder Colorado Leeds School of Business (2022)

B.S. Finance, University of Boulder Colorado Leeds School of Business (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); intern, Fiducient Advisors (2021); business owner, Caleb Riccio Photography LLC (2018–2020); photographer, Magic Memories (2018)

Denise Rico (1983)

B.S. Business, University of Phoenix (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); specialty flex associate, Vanguard (2019-2021); portfolio implementation associate, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Jarrett Robinson (1998)

B.B.A. Finance, The University of Arizona (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2020-2022); brand ambassador, Rockstar, Inc. (2020); summer intern, UBS sales associate, Valley Car Group (2018)

Brian Robinson (1990)

B.A. Economics, University of California, San Diego (2014)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); global stock plans specialist, Morgan Stanley (2021); relationship manager, Bank of America personal lines specialist, State Farm (2018)

Placido John Rodriguez (1951)

B.B.A. Statistics, The University of Texas at Austin (1973)

M.B.A. Operations research, The University of Texas at Austin (1975)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); retirement planner, Fidelity Investments (2021-2022); financial advisor, Comerica Securities (2018-2020)

Emerson Rogers III (2000)

B.A. Finance, Michigan State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); wealth management intern, Plante Moran (2021); caddie, Plum Hollow Country Club (2018–2021); corporate finance intern, Magna International (2018)

Deanna Romulus (1985)

A.S. Fashion marketing, The Art Institute of Philadelphia (2006)

B.S. Fashion design, The Art Institute of Philadelphia (2008)

M.B.A., Arcadia University (2013)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad (2021); (2019-2021); owner, Anamechi Designs Incorporated (2018-2021); adjunct professor, Delaware County Community College (2018-2021)

Eduardo Rosales Serrano (1998)

B.B.A. Finance, University of Houston (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client consultant, Vanguard (2021-2022); personal financial planning intern, The Menard Financial Group (2020); marketing director intern, Apex Energy Solutions

Grant Alexander Rosen (2000)

B.B.A. Finance, Baylor University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); intern, Independent Financial – Private Capital Management (2020); intern, Elevate Commercial Real Estate (2019); service consultant, Waterway Carwash (2018–2019)

Alexander Lord Rosenthal (1989)

B.S. Mechanical engineering, The University of North Carolina at Charlotte (2011)

B.S. Physics, The University of North Carolina at Charlotte (2011)

M.S. Applied physics, The University of North Carolina at Charlotte (2014)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad 2022; retail associate, Morris Costumes (2021-2022); lead data scientist, Delta Bravo (2019-2020)

Brandon Ross, CFP® (1990)

B.S. Business management, Shippensburg University of Pennsylvania (2013)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); relationship banker, Wells Fargo (2018-2021)

Natalie Rossi (1994)

B.B.A. Finance and Entrepreneurship and innovation, Gonzaga University (2017)

Manager, Vanguard (2021-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2020-2021); support lead, Vanguard (2018-2020)

Erik William Rouault (1995)

B.S. Finance, Liberty University (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); retirement specialist, Vanguard (2020-2021); client service associate, Vanguard (2019-2020); insurance agent, Bankers Life (2019); member services associate, Liberty University Recreation Centers (2018)

Andrew Roush (1992)

B.S. Psychology, Western Carolina University (2014)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, Equitable Financial (2019-2021); bar manager, Tru Wine & Deli (2018-2019); assistant general manager, Linda's Bar & Grill (2018)

Johnny Lee Ruffin III (2000)

B.B.A. Finance and Accounting, Baylor University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); finance intern, Saks (2021); finance intern, International Paper Company (2020); inventory specialist, SIMOS Insourcing Solutions (2018)

Saul Ruiz (1996)

B.B.A. Finance, University of North Texas (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); associate financial consultant, Charles Schwab (2020-2022); financial consultant academy, Charles Schwab (2019-2020); mobile expert, Best Buy (2018-2020)

John Thomas Ryan (2000)

B.S. Finance, Western Kentucky University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); associate, Level Four Financial (2021–2022); associate, U.S. Bank (2021); associate, Chase Bank (2019–2020); supervisor, Finish Line (2018–2021); associate, Foot Locker (2018)

Nannette Leigh Sabo (1968)

B.S. Business administration, The University of North Carolina at Charlotte (1992)

M.B.A., Nova Southeastern University (2003)

M.S.A. Accounting, Kaplan University (2011)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); chief compliance officer, Texas Financial Advisory (2020-2021); director of managed accounts, Texas Financial Advisory (2018-2021)

Armando Salas (1998)

B.B.A. Finance, The University of Texas at Paso (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); retail trader, Ameritrade (2020-2021); financial planning assistant, Lincoln Financial Advisors (2019-2020)

Lydia Salmon (1998)

B.A. Management and society and Economics, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill (2020) Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); change of ownership support lead, Vanguard (2022); client representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); market partner, Monat Global (2018-2021); coach, Soccer Shots RDU personal office assistant, Mary L. Cardello CPA, CFP (2018-2019)

Riley Salmon, CFP® (1993)

B.S. Business management, Brigham Young University – Idaho (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); sales consultant, Vanguard (2021-2022); orders client representative, Vanguard (2020-2021); client representative, Vanguard (2020); financial advisor, Wells Fargo Advisors (2018-2020)

Emily Samuels, CFP® (1997)

B.S. Financial planning, University of Wisconsin–Madison (2019)

Manager, Vanguard (2023–present); financial planner, Vanguard (2020–2023); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2019–2020); administrative assistant, Thrivent Financial (2018–2019); wealth management intern, The Mather Group (2018)

Isiah Lashawn Sanders, CFP® (1989)

B.A. Business administration, University of LaVerne (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); investment consultant, Vanguard (2019-2022); investment representative, USAA (2019); financial adviser, First Command Financial Planning (2018-2019)

Matthew Ramon Sanders (1973)

B.S. Recreation management, Northern Arizona University (1998)

M.B.A., University of Phoenix (2009)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2021-2023); operations specialist, Vanguard (2018-2021); operations associate, Vanguard (2018)

Anabelle Sanko (1999)

B.S. Finance, Kansas State University (2022)

B.S. Personal financial planning, Kansas State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); server, Lost Way Brewery (2021); Vanguard remote contractor, Randstad (2021); peer financial counselor, Powercat Financial (2019–2022); student worker, Kansas State University Cashier's Office (2018–2020); student employee, Derby Dining Center (2018–2019)

Michael Sansone, CFP® (1982)

B.A. Economics, Fordham University (2004)

Manager, Vanguard (2023-present); Manager, Vanguard (2021-2022); supervisor, Vanguard (2019-2021); assigned representative, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Dominic Arthur Saragaglia (1994)

B.S. Business management, Concordia University Wisconsin (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); chief operating officer, Stay Seated Inc. (2018-2022); financial advisor, North Star Resource Group (2020-2021); technical recruiter, TEKsystems (2018-2020); bartender, Medinah Country Club (2018)

Arthur Saxon Jr., CFP® (1964)

B.A. Communications, University of Pennsylvania (1986)

B.S. Meteorology, Millersville University (1988)

M.Ed. Mathematics education, Rutgers University (1999)

M.S. Accounting, Kean University (2005)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-present); retirement specialist, Vanguard (2018-2020)

Jonathan Scanlin (1993)

B.A. Philosophy, Arizona State University (2015)

B.S. Psychology, Arizona State University (2015)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); crew member, Chipotle (2022); mclient services representative, Vanguard (2022); client services representative, Vanguard 2021; client representative, Vanguard (2020-2021); retirement plan service representative, Vanguard (2018-2020)

Brian Scheiblein (1997)

B.S. Finance, Temple University (2019)Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); senior district manager, ADP (2019-2022); junior account manager, Pathfinders (2019); intern, Foresters Financial Services (2018); food runner, Chickie's and Pete's (2018)

Russell Schilt, CFP® (1986)

B.S. Finance and Marketing, Arizona State University (2010)

M.B.A., Arizona State University (2022)

Manager, Vanguard (2021-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2018-2021); assigned representative, Vanguard (2018)

Yulia Victoria Schneider (1984)

B.S. Global business, Arizona State University (2010)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); investment consultant, Vanguard (2021-2022); change-of-ownership specialist, Vanguard (2020-2021); brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2019-2020); wealth management assistant, Schneider Wealth Management (2019); staff accountant, Schneider & Associate, CPAs (2018-2019)

Ronald William Schonscheck (1965)

Southwest Texas Junior College (1986–1987, non-degree)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); life events associate, Vanguard (2020-2021); retirement plan specialist, Vanguard (2018-2020)

David James Schubert (1985)

B.A. Economics, Eastern Washington University (2010)

B.B.A. Finance, Eastern Washington University (2010)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial representative, Fidelity Investments (2021-2022); financial advisor, New York Life (2019-2021); sales associate, Labbeemint, Inc. (2018-2019); teacher, Beijing Haidian Foreign Language Experimental School (2018)

Robert Andrew Schwartz (1961)

B.A. Social sciences, Juniata College (1983)

J.D., University of Pennsylvania (1986)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); relationship manager, Vanguard (2021-2022); client consultant, Vanguard (2019-2021); assigned representative, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Caryn Schwartzberg (1973)

B.S. Communications, New York University (1995)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad (2021); esthetician, Cirillo Cosmetic Dermatology Spa (2018-2020)

Kathryne Elizabeth Scott (2000)

B.S. Personal financial planning, Texas Tech University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2024–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2023–2024); intern, HFS Wealth Management (2022); dasher, DoorDash (2020–2022); baker, The Cheesecake Factory (2021); student ambassador, Texas Tech University (2019–2020); employee, Main Street Sno-Balls (2019)

Shannon Tremaine Scott Jr. (1993)

B.S. Business administration, Hampton University (2016)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client representative, Vanguard (2020-2022); retirement plan specialist, Vanguard (2018-2020); retirement plan specialist, Randstad (2018)

Cameron Scully (1990)

B.A. Business administration, New England College (2016)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); retirement sales consultant, Vanguard (2020-2022); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2019-2020); advisor support operations contractor, Randstad (2018-2020); server, Russell House Tavern (2018)

Cameron Lee Seibert (2000)

B.S. Finance, Miami University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); operations intern, Sequoia Financial Group (2021); laborer, TFerry Custom Home (2020); driver, DoorDash (2020); service worker, Brecksville Service Department (2019); nanny, self-employed (2018); pee wee basketball coach, Brecksville Community Center (2018)

Ryan John Selleny (1996)

B.S. Personal financial planning, Edinboro University of Pennsylvania (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); portfolio implementation specialist, Vanguard (2022–2023); orders specialist, Vanguard (2020–2022); investment services representative, Vanguard (2020); client representative associate, Vanguard (2019–2020); volunteer tax preparer, Erie Free Taxes (2020); externship member, Financial Planning Association (2020); financial aid office clerical support, Edinboro University of Pennsylvania (2019–2020)

Matthew John Seman (2000)

B.S. Finance, The Pennsylvania State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); tax preparer, United Way of Erie County (2021–2022); groundskeeper, Lakeside Golf Course (2021); cashier, Rizer Fireworks (2018–2021)

Derik Semetti (1998)

B.S. Finance and Economics, West Chester University (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, MassMutual (2020-2021); financial representative intern, Northwestern Mutual server assistant, Goal Line Pub (2018-2019)

Andrew Martin Shand (1987)

A. S. Business entrepreneurship, Genesee Community College (2014)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); life insurance specialist, USAA Life Insurance Company (2021-2022); retirement income specialist, USAA Life Insurance Company (2020-2021); wealth manager, USAA Investment Company (2018-2020)

Nisha Sharma (1979)

B. Com. Business administration, University of Delhi (2000)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); banker, PNC Bank (2021); (2019-2021); teller, DNB First Bank (2018-2019); instructional aide, Downingtown Area School District (2018)

Aruna Shastry (1981)

B.B.A., Sikkim Manipal University (2012)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad (2022)

Raj Shekar (1963)

B.A. Public administration, Osmania University (1989)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial advisor, BancWest Investment Services (2020-2021); financial advisor officer, Citizens Financial Services financial advisor, Ameritrade (2018-2019)

Ryan Sherba (1999)

B.S. Finance and Management, Providence College (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2024–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2023–2024); client case representative, Vanguard (2021–2022); sales associate, Lowe's (2020); sales associate, Leslie's Pool Supplies (2020); wash technician, Stewart Painting (2019)

Maxim Shishkin (1989)

B.A. Criminal justice, Temple University (2014)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); portfolio implementation associate, Vanguard (2019-2021); annuities and insurance processing associate, Vanguard (2019); insulator, Teasdion Construction and Maintenance, Inc. (2018-2019); financial professional, 1847 Financial, Inc. (2018)

Andres Silva (1996)

B.S. Management and Business economics, University of California, Merced (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advanced onboarding client case associate, Vanguard (2021-2022); onboarding specialist, Vanguard (2020-2021); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2019-2020); sales representative, Southern Glazer's Wine and Spirits (2018-2019)

Davon Smith (2000)

B.S. Financial planning, Virginia Tech (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); advice intern, Wealthspire Advisors (2021); seasonal associate, CVS (2020–2021); externship, TD Ameritrade (2020); seasonal associate, Kohl's (2018)

Rick Smith (1959)

B.S. Finance, California State University, Chico (1982)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, Prudential Financial (2019-2021); financial services professional, Farmers Financial Solutions (2018-2019)

Daniel Sonntag, CFP® (1991)

B.B.A. Finance, New Mexico State University (2014)

Manager, Vanguard (2018-present)

Sebastian Galindo Sosa (1996)

B.S. Finance, Arizona State University (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); sales consultant, Vanguard (2020-2021); client service specialist, Vanguard (2019-2020); resolution services associate, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Eric John Spangenberger (1973)

B.A. English literature, Arizona State University (2001)

Manager, Vanguard (2022-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2018-2022)

Scott Andrew Splaver (1998)

B.S. Accounting with a certificate in Sports management, The University of Arizona (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial professional, Equitable Advisors (2020-2021); loan processor, JFQ Lending receiving specialist, AvAir (2018)

Lakshmi Srinivas (1971)

B.Com. Commerce, University of Delhi, India (1991)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad (2022); teacher assistant, Dunlap Community School District (2021-2022); extern, Financial Planning Association (2021); teacher assistant, Indian Prairie School District (2018-2021)

Austin Collins Starrett (1993)

B.A. Business finance, Piedmont College (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, Northwestern Mutual (2019-2020); financial advisor, Edward Jones (2018)

John Steele (1999)

B.A. Finance, Washington State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); line cook, Cougar Country Drive-In (2022); supervisor, Overlake Golf and Country Club (2018–2021); research intern, Washington Policy Center (2021)

Maxwell James Steffey (1997)

B.S. Political science and Religious studies, DePauw University (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2022–2023); portfolio implementation specialist, Vanguard (2021–2022); digital strategy intern, The Billfish Foundation (2020–2021); digital strategy intern, Wasserman Media Group (2019); development program participant, Los Angeles Sport and Entertainment Commission (2019); intern, Jeffrey A. Boggess, Attorney at Law (2019); lifeguard, DePauw University (2018–2020)

Kendall Steria, CFP® (1963)

B.S. Business administration and Finance, Utah Valley University (1999)

M.B.A., Arizona State University (2002)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2018-present)

Matthew Steslow (1987)

B.B.A. Business management, Pennsylvania College of Technology (2009)

M.B.A., California Lutheran University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); senior equipment operator, U.S. Well Services (2020–2022); service supervisor, U.S. Well Services (2018–2020); equipment operator, U.S. Well Services (2018)

Brett Stewart (2000)

B.S.B.A. Finance, Shippensburg University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); college financial representative intern, Northwestern Mutual (2021–2022); intern, Bradley Advisory (2019–2020); front end associate, Weiss Markets (2018–2022)

Ianina Stolarz (1974)

B.S. Economics, Universidad de San Andres (1998)

M.B.A. Finance, New York University (2007)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad (2021)

Aaron Stowe (1988)

A.B.A. Business, Paradise Valley Community College (2016)

A.A., Paradise Valley Community College (2016)

B.S. Finance, Arizona State University (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2018-2021); operations manager, Audio Sensations (2018)

Nathan Niles Stumberg (1997)

B.S. Finance, The University of Arizona (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2020-2022); telephone outreach representative, Ruffalo Noel Loevitz (2019-2020); carrier sales intern, Echo Global Logistics (2019); analyst intern, Levrose Commercial Real Estate (2018)

Katelyn Suda (1999)

B.S. Finance, University of Wyoming (2020)

B.S. Economics, University of Wyoming (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2021-2022); client service associate, Principal Financial Group (2021); wealth management intern, Morgan Stanley (2020); server, Noon Rock Pizza assistant manager; Stagecoach Inn and Suites (2018-2019)

Margaret E. Sukonik, CFP® (1964)

B.S. Health and human services administration, University of Scranton (1987)

M.A. Education, Rosemont College (2006)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); substitute teacher, Radnor School District (2021-2022); substitute teacher, AIM Academy (2020-2021); investment consultant, Fidelity Investments (2019-2020); client relationship manager, Portfolio Strategies team (2018-2019)

Brett Swisher (1999)

B.S. Marketing, Clemson University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial planning associate, TD Bank (2021-2022); banking specialist, TD Bank (2020-2021); wealth management intern, Stratos Wealth Partners (2020)

Sajid Ali Syed (1955)

B.S. Botany, Ranchi University (1976)

M.B.A., New York University (1988)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial advisor, Morgan Stanley (2019-2021); sales associate, Weichert Realtors (2018-2019)

Ty Nolan Tabile (1992)

B.S. Finance, Brigham Young University – Hawaii (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial representative, Northwestern Mutual (2020-2022); loss prevention associate, Ross (2020); solar sales manager, Vivint Solar (2020); handyman, Farnsworth Homes, Incorporated business owner, Cups and Cakes (2018-2019); traveling member experience officer, Mountain America Credit Union (2018-2019)

Daniel Tauriello, CFP® (1997)

B.B.A. Finance and Financial planning, Temple University (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); relationship manager, Forge Wealth Management (2019-2021); client services associate, Leon Levy & Associates (2018-2019); delivery driver, Insomnia Cookies (2018); cashier and bakery associate (2018)

Christopher Tave (1972)

B.B.A. Finance, University of North Texas (2005)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); senior financial advisor, Gann (2020-2022); financial advisor, Chelsea Financial Services (2019-2020); financial consultant, TD Ameritrade (2018-2019)

Christopher Dorian Taylor (1991)

B.S. Finance, California State University, Northridge (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2021-2022); accounts payable assistant, Gold's Gym SoCal (2019-2020); accounts payable processor, Robert Half Staffing Company (2019); performance and quality assurance specialist, Life Alert Emergency Response Inc. (2018-2019)

Paloma Hula Thom (1996)

B.S. Agricultural and applied economics, Texas Tech University (2020)

M.S., Personal financial planning, Texas Tech University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2023); intern, Robertson Stephens 2021; graduate teaching assistant, Texas Tech University (2020-2021); student assistant, Texas Tech University (2019-2020); clinical liaison, The Ranch at DoveTree (2018-2020)

Kevin Jarrell Thomas (1991)

B.S.M. Management and Business legal studies, Tulane University (2014)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); board secretary, The New Black Collective (2019-2021); (2018-2021)

Ryan Sherba (1999)

B.S. Finance and Management, Providence College (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2024–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2023–2024); client case representative, Vanguard (2021–2022); sales associate, Lowe's (2020); sales associate, Leslie's Pool Supplies (2020); wash technician, Stewart Painting (2019)

Joseph Michael Timmons (1998)

B.B.A. Finance, East Carolina University (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); client onboarding specialist, Vanguard (2020-2021); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2020); bank teller, First Bank (2019-2020); financial analyst intern, Thermo Fisher Scientific (2018-2019); lifeguard, Aquatic Management Group (2018)

Patrick Toner (1997)

B.S. Business management, Rowan University (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); manager trainee intern, Enterprise Car Rental (2019-2020); production associate, Philly Pretzel Factory (2018-2019)

Nicholas Tracy (1997)

B.S. Business administration, The State University of New York at Buffalo (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); sales consultant, Vanguard (2021-2022); registered administrative assistant, Goodwin Insurance Agency (2018-2021); intern, Princeton Equity Partners (2018); bag room attendant, Country Club of Buffalo (2018)

Damon Trammell (1964)

B.B.A., University of North Texas (1986)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial advisor, Little & Associates Wealth Management (2021-2022); agency business consultant, Farmers Insurance Group (2018-2021); agency business owner, Farmers Insurance Group (2018)

Elaine Turner (1997)

B.B.A., Queens University of Charlotte (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); brokerage associate, Vanguard (2021-2022); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2020-2021); marketing intern, Capture Public Relations and Marketing (2019); marketing intern, GNEISS Coin (2018); vacation bible school nursery director, Hope Presbyterian Church (2018)

Soren Van Houten (1998)

B.S.B.A. Finance, Creighton University (2021)

B.S.B.A. Marketing, Creighton University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); specialty flex associate, Vanguard (2021-2022); portfolio manager, Creighton University Student Endowment (2020-2021); men's basketball manager, Creighton Athletics (2018-2021); finance intern, Farm Credit West (2020); corporate intern, VIP Mortgage, Inc. student development officer, Creighton University (2019); product assembly, Resource MFG (2018)

Robert Van Lanen, CFP® (1992)

B.S. Biology, The University of North Carolina at Wilmington (2015)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); client representative, Vanguard (2020-2021); orders client representative, Vanguard (2019-2020); investment professional, Vanguard (2019); brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Matthew Vargochik (1980)

B.S. Health and exercise science, Wake Forest University (2002)

M.B.A., East Carolina University (2013)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad 2022; mortgage loan officer, Angel Oak Home Loans (2022); mortgage underwriter, Better.com (2021-2022); mortgage loan expert, Better.com (2019-2021); senior loan consultant, Ally Bank (2018-2019)

Mark Vassallo, CFP® (1977)

B.S. Finance, Saint Joseph's University (1999)

M.B.A. Finance, Saint Joseph's University (2016)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); fixed income specialist, Vanguard (2018-2021)

Sydney Elizabeth Veilleux (2000)

B.S. Financial planning and Consumer economics, University of Georgia (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); student tutor, University of Georgia Athletic Association (2022); ski instructor, Killington Ski Resort (2018–2022); banquet server, Killington Ski Resort (2019)

Justin Charles Viviano (1990)

Wolford College (2008, non-degree)

B.S. Legal studies, University of Central Florida (2012)

M.B.A., Florida State University (2013)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); independent contractor, Vivi International LLC (2021-2022); vice president, financial consultant, SunTrust Investment Services (2019-2021); senior client service associate, UBS Financial Services (2018-2019); registered client associate, Merrill Lynch (2018); client service analyst, JPMorgan Securities (2018)

Jennifer Michelle Vo, CFP® (1982)

B.S. Economics, Arizona State University (2007)

B.S. Business management, Arizona State University (2007)

M.B.A., Grand Canyon University (2013)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advisor support representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); specialty flex associate, Vanguard (2018-2021); processing associate, Vanguard (2018)

Colin Thomas Wahl (1986)

B.S. Global financial management, Arizona State University (2009)

M.B.A. Investments, University of Michigan-Dearborn (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-present); business project specialist, Vanguard (2018-2020)

Lisa Walsh (1964)

B.S. Business, Purdue University (1986)

M.B.A., Southern Methodist University (1993)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad (2023)

Raquel Maria Ward (1979)

A.A. Business, Strayer University (2010)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); senior client service associate, JPMorgan Private Bank (2022); financial representative, Fidelity Investments (2018-2021)

Nieda Washington (1974)

Manor College (1993, non-degree)

Community College of Philadelphia (2000–2002, non-degree)

Rosemont College (2002–2003, non-degree)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); tax associate, H&R Block (2020)

Jasson Waters (1977)

University of Michigan (2003–2005, non-degree)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); customer advocate, TIAA (2018-2020)

Tyler Waters (1991)

B.B.A. Finance, Francis Marion University (2014)

B.B.A. Management, Francis Marion University (2014)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-present); financial advisor, Edward Jones Investments (2018-2020); contractor coordinator, WestRock Company (2018)

Spencer Jacob Watkins (1992)

B.S. Finance, Arizona State University (2016)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); client consultant, Vanguard (2019-2021); client service specialist, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Cole Watson (1997)

B.A. Economics, Gettysburg College (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial solutions advisor, Merrill Edge (2021); (2020-2021); financial services representative, Merrill Edge (2019-2020); finance intern, Chubb Insurance (2018)

Carolyn Weaver, CFP® (1966)

B.A. Mathematics, Agnes Scott College (1989)

M.B.A., Emory University (1994)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client consultant, Vanguard (2021-2022); financial planner, Aventus Advisors, Inc. (2018-2021)

Joseph Hugene Webb (1998)

B.S. Finance, Lincoln University (2015)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor, Edward Jones (2019-2021); delivery specialist, Amazon (2018)

Jason Douglas Westmoreland (1999)

B.S. Financial management, Clemson University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2022–2023); financial advisor summer analyst intern, Bank of America (2021); order fulfillment associate, Home Depot (2020); outdoor adventure guide, US National Whitewater Center (2019); lifeguard, Swim Club Pool Management (2018); student assistant, Clemson University (2018–2022)

Christopher Wheeler, CFP® (1976)

B.S. Business management, University of Phoenix (2003)

M.B.A. Business administration, University of Phoenix (2006)

Manager, Vanguard (2021-present); supervisor, Vanguard (2018-2021)

Thomas White (1999)

B.S. Finance, Fordham University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2021-2022); title insurance post closer, Members Settlement Services, LLC (2019-2021); wealth management intern, Allied Millennial Partners, LLC (2019)

Graham Scott Whittle (1998)

B.S.B.A. Financial planning, Liberty University (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); change-of-ownership specialist, Vanguard (2021-2022); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2020-2021); dedicated business owner, Target (2019-2020)

Tanner Wiese (1997)

B.S. Business administration, University of Oregon (2020)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client representative, Vanguard (2021-2022); personal banker, Key Bank (2021); agency sales intern, Country Financial (2020-2021); intern, A Family For Every Child (2019-2020)

Lauren Wilkins, CFP® (1997)

B.A. Psychology, Columbia University (2019)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); investment services representative, Vanguard (2020-2022); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2019-2020); doctor's technician, Pearle Vision (2018-2019); volleyball coach, Ursuline Academy (2018-2019); athletic events staff, Columbia University (2018-2019)

Dana Willard, CFP® (1985)

B.A. Psychology, Arizona State University (2008)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2019-present); portfolio implementation associate, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Bashad Williams (1991)

B.S. Life science, The Pennsylvania State University (2014)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); sales consultant, Vanguard (2020-2022); client case representative, Vanguard (2018-2020)

Felicia Williams (1972)

B.S. Accounting, University of Missouri (1994)

M.B.A., Texas Christian University (2002)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); Vanguard Return to Work intern, Randstad (2022); owner, Kreative Cuts & Styles (2018-2022); general director, BNSF Railway Company (2018-2019)

Jessica Williams (1985)

B.A. History, The University of North Carolina at Charlotte (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2024–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2023–2024); written correspondence client representative, Vanguard (2021–2023); support lead, Vanguard (2021); client relationship associate, Vanguard (2020–2021); founder, Fresh Start Cleaning Company (2019–2020)

Jonathan Williams, CFP® (1994)

B.S. Finance and economics, Grand Canyon University (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-present); investment associate, Vanguard (2019-2020); brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2018-2019)

TaTyana Williams (1998)

B.S. Financial planning, William Paterson University (2021)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); financial advisor development program, Vanguard (2021-2022); writing consultant, William Paterson University (2018-2021); online shopping clerk, Shoprite of Wayne (2018-2021); financial representative intern, Northwestern Mutual (2019-2020)

Ian Wilson (1999)

B.S. Finance, Arizona State University (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); finance intern, Edupoint Educational Systems (2021); utility, Sauce Pizza and Wine (2019–2021); server, Sauce Pizza and Wine (2018–2019)

Frank Andrew Woloschak, CFP® (1987)

B.A. Psychology, Arizona State University (2012)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); client representative, Vanguard (2020-2021); client resolution specialist, Vanguard (2018-2020)

Frank Jonathan Pike Woolley (1971)

B.A. History, University of South Carolina (1993)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); client representative, Vanguard (2020-2022); financial advisor, Ameriprise Financial (2018-2020)

Bing Zhang Wright, CFP® (1967)

B.S. Foreign studies, Sophia University, Japan (1992)

M.T. Taxation, Villanova University (2009)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); tax professional, Vanguard (2018-2022)

Rong Xue (1970)

B.A. Japanese, Zhejiang University (1992)

M.B.A., Arizona State University (2005)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial services representative, Merrill Lynch (2020-2021); import specialist, Corporate Job Bank (2020); language interpreter, Language Line Solution (2019-2020); adjunct faculty, Park University (2019); chief operations officer, Best Life Pharmanaturals LLC (2018)

Matthew Yagel (1986)

B.S. Business administration, The Pennsylvania State University (2013)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023-present); client representative, Vanguard (2021-2023); loan production assistant, Vantage Pointe Mortgage (2019-2021); personal banker, Key Bank (2018)

Richard Yakubu (1995)

A.A. Business administration, Cape Fear Community College (2016)

B.S.B.A. Finance, The University of North Carolina at Wilmington (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); onboarding specialist, Vanguard (2019-2021); client relationship specialist, Vanguard (2018-2019); finance intern, Swain Center at Cameron School of Business (2018)

Peyton York (2000)

B.S. Finance, University of Cincinnati (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); operations specialist intern, Orion Portfolio Solutions (2021); driver, DoorDash (2020–2021); call center agent, Home City Ice (2019); sandwich maker, Bruegger's Bagels (2018–2019)

Matthew Aaron Young (1990)

B.A. History, University of South Carolina (2013)

J.D., University of South Carolina (2017)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); orders client representative, Vanguard (2019-2021); brokerage investment professional, Vanguard (2018-2019); shift leader, Sunflour Baking Company (2018)

Brandon Young (1985)

B.B.A. Legal studies, Temple University (2011)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-present); client case representative, Vanguard (2019-2020); investment professional, Vanguard (2018-2019)

Kelly Corey Zack, CFP® (1983)

B.S.B.A. Economics, Appalachian State University (2006)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2020-present); inheritance consultant, Vanguard (2018-2020)

Joe Zangri (2000)

B.S. Agricultural and consumer economics, University of Illinois Urbana-Champaign (2022)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2023–present); advance to financial planning associate, Vanguard (2022–2023); campus recreation student associate, University of Illinois Urbana–Champaign (2021–2022); financial wellness peer educator, University of Illinois Urbana–Champaign (2020–2022); crew member, Potbelly Sandwich Shop (2020–2022); café supervisor, Lifetime Fitness (2018–2019)

Arkadiy Zavulunov (1966)

B.S. Economics, Tajik State University (1990)

M.B.A. Accounting, University of Phoenix (2005)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); vice president – compliance regulatory reporting services, State Street Bank (2018-2021)

Felipe Zegarra (1996)

B.S. Finance, California State University, Chico (2018)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2021-present); financial advisor associate, Morgan Stanley (2018-2021); sales consultant, Joinsolar (2018); financial representative intern, Northwestern Mutual (2018)

Tracy Zhang (1981)

B.S. Chinese language and literature, Beijing International Studies University (2003)

M.B.A., The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill (2016)

Financial planner, Vanguard (2022-present); office manager, Springs Capital North America LLC (2021-2022); property manager, ACRE Real Estate LLC (2019-2021); product manager, Xiiong Hai Zi Online Education LLC (2018-2019)

Outside activities: Ms. Zhang is an owner of rental property. Vanguard Advisers, Inc., has no affiliation with the rental property, and Ms. Zhang's responsibilities do not conflict with her position at Vanguard.

Gadi Zimmerman (1997)

B.B.A. Financial planning, Temple University (2019)

Manager, Vanguard (2022-present); financial planner, Vanguard (2021-2022); financial advisor development program (2020-2021); advice intern, Randstad bookkeeper, Lester Martin Jewelers (2018-2019); financial planning intern, myClO Wealth Partners (2018)

Advice services are provided by Vanguard Advisers, Inc., a registered investment advisor. If you have any questions about our services, please call 844-899-0113 and leave your name and a phone number where you can be reached. A member of our management team will contact you within two business days.